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PART I

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Except for historical information contained herein, certain matters included in this annual report on Form 10-K are, or
may be deemed to be forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933. The words "will," "may," "designed to," "believe," "should," "anticipate,"
"plan," "expect," "intend," "estimate" and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the
date of this annual report. These forward-looking statements are contained principally under Item 1, "Business," and under
Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations." Because these forward-
looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties, actual results could differ materially from the expectations expressed
in the forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the expectations
reflected in the forward-looking statements include those described in Item 1A, "Risk Factors" and Item 7, "Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations." In addition, new risks emerge from time to time
and it is not possible for management to predict all such risk factors or to assess the impact of such risk factors on our business.
Given these risks and uncertainties, the reader should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. We
undertake no obligation to update or revise these forward-looking statements to reflect subsequent events or circumstances.

non

Unless otherwise specifically stated, references in this report to "Flex," "the Company," "we, our" and similar

terms mean Flex Ltd. and its subsidiaries.

nn
>
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS
OVERVIEW

Flex is the diversified manufacturing partner of choice that helps market-leading brands design, build and deliver
innovative products that improve the world. Through the collective strength of a global workforce across approximately 30
countries with responsible, sustainable operations, Flex delivers advanced manufacturing solutions and operates one of the most
trusted global supply chains, supporting the entire product lifecycle with fulfillment, after-market, and circular economy
solutions for diverse industries including cloud, communications, enterprise, automotive, industrial, consumer devices, lifestyle,
healthcare, and energy.

Beginning in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2022, as a result of the sale of certain Series A preferred units in Nextracker
LLC ("Nextracker LLC" or "Nextracker") to a third party and our continuing evaluation to separate our Nextracker business and
consistent with how our chief operating decision maker ("CODM") allocates resources, assesses performance and makes
strategic and operational decisions, Flex now reports Nextracker as a separate operating and reportable segment. Nextracker
was previously included in the Industrial reporting unit within the Flex Reliability Solutions segment. Flex's three operating and
reportable segments are:

. Flex Agility Solutions ("FAS"), which is comprised of the following end markets:
° Communications, Enterprise and Cloud ("CEC"), including data infrastructure, edge infrastructure
and communications infrastructure;

° Lifestyle, including appliances, consumer packaging, floorcare, micro mobility and audio; and
° Consumer Devices, including mobile and high velocity consumer devices.
. Flex Reliability Solutions ("FRS"), which is comprised of the following end markets:
° Automotive, including next generation mobility, autonomous, connectivity, electrification, and smart
technologies;
° Health Solutions, including medical devices, medical equipment, and drug delivery; and
° Industrial, including capital equipment, industrial devices, and renewables and grid edge.
. Nextracker, the leading provider of intelligent, integrated solar tracker and software solutions used in utility-

scale and ground-mounted distributed generation solar projects around the world. Nextracker's products
enable solar panels to follow the sun’s movement across the sky and optimize plant performance.

The FAS segment is optimized for speed to market based on a highly flexible supply and manufacturing system. The FRS
segment is optimized for longer product lifecycles requiring complex ramps with specialized production models and critical
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environments. Nextracker provides solar tracker technologies that optimize and increase energy production while reducing costs
for significant plant return on investment.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2022, Flex sold $500 million of convertible preferred equity in Nextracker to TPG Rise
Flash, L.P., which is managed or advised by TPG Climate, the dedicated climate investing fund of TPG’s global impact
investing platform ("TPG Rise"). Through this strategic partnership and investment from TPG Rise, Nextracker will continue to
expand its market leading position in solar tracking and software solutions. TPG’s experience and extensive network in
renewable energy provide Nextracker a strong partner to support long-term growth.

Our customers include many of the world's leading technology, healthcare, automotive, and industrial companies. We are
focused on establishing long-term relationships with our customers and have been successful in expanding relationships to
incorporate additional product lines and services.

In fiscal year 2022, our ten largest customers accounted for approximately 34% of net sales. No customer accounted for
greater than 10% of the Company's net sales in fiscal year 2022.

Flex believes that growth in the contract manufacturing services industry will be driven by increased complexities in
products, markets, and environmental, social, and governance ("ESG") requirements. The “Digitization of Everything” is the
mega-trend that is driving products—and even whole industries—to be smarter, more data-driven, and more connected. To
make these next generation products, companies must integrate increasingly advanced technologies and build them at scale.
Additionally, with regards to our solar business, we believe that both the attractive cost of solar generation and increasing
demand for renewable energy will drive continued growth in the utility-scale solar market.

In addition to the pandemic, rising global uncertainty over the past few years including trade and tariff issues, increasing
geopolitical conflict, and severe labor shortages are creating further complexity. Companies are rethinking their entire
production strategies, and we are seeing a global rebalancing in sourcing and producing to maximize resiliency. Sustainability is
no longer an afterthought. Businesses are being held to a much higher standard for how and where their products are sourced
and produced, and, increasingly, how they are disposed.

These complexities are making it harder for companies to manage their own supply chain and manufacturing operations.
They are looking for trusted partners to help them navigate this complex environment. Only a few outsourcing players have the
right capabilities and scale to meet these challenges effectively and profitably. Flex is one of these partners.

STRATEGY

Flex helps its customers responsibly design and build products that create value and improve people’s lives. We do this by
providing our customers with product development lifecycle services, from innovation, design, and engineering, to
manufacturing, supply chain solutions, logistics, and circularity offerings. Flex’s strategy is to continue investing in areas where
we can differentiate and add value, whether through engineering and design services, product technologies or developing
differentiated processes and business methods. We are strengthening our abilities in software, robotics, artificial intelligence,
factory automation, and other disruptive technologies. We select ethical partners and integrate the supply chain so that our
customers can operate efficiently and responsibly. We are committed to investing in our employees and communities, which
includes addressing critical environmental issues.

People. To maintain competitiveness and world-class capabilities, we focus on hiring and retaining the world's best
talent. We have focused on attracting the best engineering, functional and operational leaders and have accelerated efforts to
develop the future leaders of the Company.

Customer Focus. We believe that building strong partnerships with our customers and delivering on our commitments
strengthens trust and customer retention. For Flex, customers come first, and we have a relentless focus on delivering
distinctive products and services in a cost-effective manner with fast time to market. We are highly collaborative and leverage
our global system and processes to operate with speed and responsiveness to provide customers a reliant and resilient supply
chain and manufacturing technology solutions and services.

Markets. We focus on companies that are leaders in their industry and value our superior capabilities in design,
manufacturing, and supply chain services. Flex focuses on high-growth industries and markets where we have distinctive
competence and a compelling value proposition. Examples include investments in specific technologies and industries such as
healthcare, automotive, industrial, and energy. Our market-focused approach to managing our business increases customers'
competitiveness by leveraging our deep vertical and cross-industry expertise, as well as global scale, regional presence, and
agility to respond to changes in market dynamics.

Operations. We continue to invest in maintaining a leadership position in our world-class manufacturing and services
capabilities including automation, simulation tools, digitizing our factories, and implementing leading edge Industry 4.0
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methodologies. We leverage our broad set of capabilities globally to provide a competitive advantage by minimizing logistics
costs, manufacturing costs, and cycle times while increasing flexibility and responsiveness.

SERVICE OFFERINGS

Flex provides design, manufacturing and supply chain services through a network of over 100 locations in approximately
30 countries across four continents. We have established global scale through an extensive network of innovation labs,
manufacturing operations, and services sites in the world's major consumer and enterprise products markets (Asia, the
Americas, and Europe) in order to serve the supply chain needs of both multinational and regional companies. Our services
provide customers with a competitive advantage by delivering leading-edge manufacturing technology, supply chain expertise,
improved product quality, increased flexibility, faster time to market, and overall value. Our customers leverage our services to
meet their requirements throughout their products' entire lifecycles.

We believe we have the broadest worldwide product development lifecycle capabilities in the industry, from concept
design to manufacturing to aftermarket and end of life services. We believe our key competitive advantages are our people,
processes, and capabilities for making products, systems, and solutions for customers:

*  Time to market advantage: Our sophisticated supply chain management tools and expertise allow us to provide
customers with access to real-time information that increases visibility and reduces risk throughout the entire product
lifecycle. Our experience with new product introductions and manufacturing ramps provides customers with a time to
market advantage.

*  Broad range of services: Our full range of services include innovation and design, engineering, manufacturing, supply
chain management, forward and reverse logistics, and circular economy solutions. Our deep cross-industry knowledge
and multi-domain expertise accelerate the production of increasingly complex products for increasingly interconnected
industries.

*  Global scale: Flex’s physical infrastructure includes over 100 facilities in approximately 30 countries, staffed by
approximately 170,000 employees, providing customers with truly global scale and strategic geographic distribution
capabilities.

We offer global economies of scale in advanced materials and technology sourcing, manufacturing and after-market
services, as well as market-focused expertise and capabilities in design and engineering. As a result of extensive experience in
specific markets, we have developed a deep understanding of complex market dynamics, giving us the ability to anticipate
trends that impact customers' businesses. Our expertise can help improve customers' market positioning by effectively adjusting
product plans and roadmaps to efficiently and cost-effectively deliver high quality products that meet their geographic and time
to market requirements.

Our services include all processes necessary to design, build, ship, and service a wide range of products for customers.
These services include:

Design and Engineering Services. The Company offers a comprehensive range of value-added design, engineering and
systems integration services, tailored to specific industries and markets, the needs of customers, and cover a broad range of
technical competencies:

e System architecture;

*  User interface and industrial design;
*  Cross-industry technologies;

*  Hardware design;

*  Software design; and

*  Design for excellence.

Flex is exposed to different and, in some cases greater, potential liabilities from the various design services we provide
than those we typically face in our core assembly and manufacturing services. See "Risk Factors—The success of certain of our
activities depends on our ability to protect our intellectual property rights; claims of infringement or misuse of intellectual
property and/or breach of license agreement provisions against our customers or us could harm our business."

Systems Assembly and Manufacturing. Our systems assembly and manufacturing operations generate the majority of our
revenues and include printed circuit board assembly and assembly of systems and subsystems that incorporate printed circuit
boards and complex electromechanical components. We assemble electronic products with custom electronic enclosures on
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either a build-to-order or configure-to-order basis. As customers seek to provide greater functionality in physically smaller
products, they increasingly require more sophisticated manufacturing technologies and processes. Our investment in advanced
manufacturing equipment and our expertise in innovative miniaturization, packaging and interconnective technologies, enable
us to offer a variety of leading-edge manufacturing solutions. We support a wide range of product demand profiles, from low-
volume, high-complexity programs, to high-volume production. Our systems assembly and manufacturing capabilities include
enclosures, testing services, and materials procurement and inventory management.

Power Solutions. We offer a full-service power supply business that provides a range of solutions from custom to highly
scalable system solutions. We have expertise in high efficiency and high-density switching power supplies ranging from 1 to
3,000 watts. Our product portfolio includes chargers for smartphones and tablets, adapters for notebooks and gaming systems,
and power supplies for the server, storage, and networking markets. In fiscal year 2022, Flex acquired Anord Mardix to expand
our power solutions for the rapidly growing data center market. Anord Mardix offers an extensive product portfolio of critical
power solutions including switchgear, busway, power distribution and modular power systems, along with monitoring solutions
and services. This portfolio combined with our embedded power, server and storage products, racks and enclosures and full
systems assembly capability will accelerate our growth in the data center market.

Solar Tracker and Software Solutions. Our Nextracker business is the leading provider of intelligent, integrated solar
tracker and software solutions used in utility-scale and ground-mounted distributed generation solar projects around the world.
Our products enable solar panels in utility-scale power plants to follow the sun’s movement across the sky and optimize plant
performance. By optimizing and increasing energy production and reducing costs, our tracker products and software solutions
offer significant return on investment (“ROI”). Single axis solar trackers generate up to 25% more energy than projects that use
fixed-tilt systems that do not track the sun. We have developed an intelligent independent row tracking system with proprietary
technology that we believe produces more energy, lowers operating costs, and is easier to deploy compared to other tracker
products. Our tightly-integrated software solutions use advanced algorithms and artificial intelligence technologies to optimize
the performance and capabilities of our tracker products.

Logistics.  The Flex Global Services business provides after-market and forward supply chain logistics services. Our
suite of services is tailored to customers operating in the computing, consumer digital, infrastructure, industrial, mobile,
automotive and medical industries.

Circular Economy Solutions. We offer a suite of integrated reverse logistics, repair and refurbishment solutions that use
globally consistent processes, which help increase our customers' brand loyalty by improving turnaround times and raising end-
customer satisfaction levels while significantly reducing the carbon footprint for our customers. Our reverse logistics and repair
solutions include returns management, exchange programs, complex repair, asset recovery, recycling and e-waste management.
We provide repair expertise to multiple product lines such as consumer and midrange products, printers, smart phones,
consumer medical devices, notebook personal computers, set-top boxes, game consoles and highly complex infrastructure
products.

COMPETITION

Flex’s contract manufacturing services market is extremely competitive. We compete against numerous domestic and
foreign manufacturing service providers, as well as current and prospective customers, who evaluate our capabilities in light of
their own capabilities and cost structures.

In recent years, we have seen an increased level of diversification by many companies in the technology, automotive and
healthcare industries along with the convergence of many industries being transformed by technology advances. Increasingly
complex products require highly customized solutions, in turn resulting in significant changes to the overall manufacturing and
supply chain landscape.

We believe the principal competitive factors in the contract manufacturing services market are quality and range of
services; design and technological capabilities; cost; location of sites; and responsiveness and flexibility. We believe we are
extremely competitive with regard to all of these factors.

We also compete in the solar industry with our specialized tracker solutions and we believe the principle factors that drive
competition in this market include established track record of product performance; system energy yield; software capabilities;
product features; total cost of ownership and return on investment; reliability; customer support; product warranty terms;
services; supply chain and logistics capabilities; and vendor financial strength and stability. We believe we are extremely
competitive with regard to all of these factors.
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COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS

We continuously enhance our business through the development and expansion of our product and service offerings. We
strive to maintain the efficiency and flexibility of the organization, with repeatable execution that adapts to macro-economic
changes to provide clear value to customers, while increasing their competitiveness. We have a focused strategy on delivering
value to customers through manufacturing technology, a trusted supply chain, innovation and design services, and domain
expertise.

Significant Scope and Global Scale. 'We believe our global scale and regional capability are a significant competitive
advantage, as customers increasingly require a broad range of manufacturing and supply chain services and solutions globally.
Increasingly, customers are exploring transitioning to regional-based supply chains to take advantage of time to market and
specific customization required to win in those markets. Our global expertise, footprint and diverse supply chain network
provides customers with the ability to quickly adjust to changing regional, trade and manufacturing dynamics.

Trusted Resilient Supply Chain. We offer one of the most trusted and resilient global supply chain services through a
combination of digital supply chain capabilities, deep expertise, real time visibility and analytics, and collaborative supplier
relationships to help customers navigate complex, global supply chains.

Long-Standing, Diverse Customer Relationships. We believe our long-term relationships with key customers are the
result of our track record of meeting commitments and delivering value that increases customers' competitiveness. We serve a
wide range of customers across six business units within the FAS and FRS segments in addition to our Nextracker business. No
customer accounts for more than 10% of our annual revenue and the ten largest accounted for 34% of the Company’s net sales
in fiscal year 2022. We believe we are well-positioned to grow faster than the industry average.

Extensive Design and Engineering Capabilities. We have an industry-leading global design service offering, with
extensive product design engineering resources that provides design services, product development, and solutions to satisfy a
wide array of customer requirements across all of the key industries and markets in which we do business.

Balanced geographic footprint.  We have deployed manufacturing operations in regions around the world to provide
customers with a wide array of solutions where our customers and/or their customers are located. We have a very balanced
global manufacturing footprint with 34% of net sales in North America, 24% in China, 22% in Europe, the Middle East and
Africa ("EMEA"), and 20% in other areas for fiscal year ended March 31, 2022 (with net sales attributable to the country in
which the product is manufactured, or service is provided).

Cross-industry synergies.  One of our competitive strengths is our ability to leverage technology from one industry and
apply it to a different application within another industry. Examples include high-end computing, human machine interface, and
internet of things ("loT"). This cross-industry synergy gives our customers access to technology they would not otherwise have.

Customer and Product Innovation Hubs. 'We have established state-of-the art innovation hubs in the Americas, Asia and
Europe, with differentiated offerings and specialized services for specific industries and markets. These innovation hubs offer
customers geographically focused centers of design services, taking their products from concept to volume production and go-
to-market in a rapid, cost effective and low risk manner.

Industrial Parks; Cost-Efficient Manufacturing Services. We have developed self-contained industrial parks that co-
locate manufacturing and logistics operations with our suppliers in various cost-efficient locations. These sites enhance supply
chain management efficiency, while providing multi-technology solution value for customers.

Innovative and Reliable Tracker Solutions. Our solar trackers provide high levels of performance and operability and
improve over time through software enhancements when coupled with our software solutions. The benefits of our solutions
include increased energy yield performance, superior constructability, reliability, ease of maintenance, and advanced software
and sensor capabilities.

HUMAN CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Culture underlies our stakeholder experience. Our values are intended to reflect and guide our behaviors and shape our
culture. We endeavor for our value-driven culture to align us as we pursue our purpose, uphold our mission, live our values,
advance toward our vision, and activate our strategy.

In support of cultivating an inclusive, high-performing culture, we adopted four specific behaviors that support our values
and continued progress on our Flex Forward strategy. These behaviors, called our Ways of Working, bring our values to life
through actions and are intended to provide a framework for how we make decisions. The purpose of these behaviors is to
enable us to put our culture into practice and provide an accountability system through training and development as well as
performance management systems to ensure our desired behaviors become a part of our everyday working norms.
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How we live our values define our culture:
*  We support each other as we strive to find a better way.
*  We move fast with discipline and purpose.
*  We do the right thing always.
We bring our values to life through four behaviors:
1. Respect and Value Others.
2. Collaborate and Share Openly.
3. Learn and Adapt.
4. Honor Commitments.

We believe that the performance of our Company is impacted by our human capital management, and as a result we
consistently work to attract, select, develop, engage and retain strong, diverse talent. Our policies, philosophy and strategies
support the inclusion of all people in our working environment. Further, we’re committed to respecting the human rights of our
employees and improving their quality of life.

In 2020, the Company introduced new vision, mission, purpose, and value statements in support of cultivating an
inclusive, high-performing culture where employees are empowered and given opportunities to reach their full potential. We are
committed to providing a positive and safe workplace for Flex employees, respecting their dignity, creating an inclusive
environment, and ensuring access to opportunity. We recognize that we have an opportunity to promote and support a culture of
inclusion and diversity, wellness, and health and safety among our employees.

Employees. As of March 31, 2022, our global workforce totaled approximately 172,648 employees including our
contractor workforce. In certain international locations, our employees are represented by labor unions and by work councils.

Region: Number of Employees
Asia 76,002
Americas 62,450
Europe 34,196

Total 172,648

Well-being, Health, and Safety. Flex is committed to providing a safe and injury-free workplace. We provide programs
and tools to improve physical, mental, financial, and social well-being, with increased focus during the COVID-19 pandemic.
Our programs give access to a variety of innovative, flexible, and convenient health and wellness programs for our global
employees, including on-site health centers in some of our major factories, which were increasingly critical this year for our
essential workers who have worked on site since the start of the COVID-19 pandemic.

We promote a “zero-injury” culture through health and safety management systems, some of which are certified ISO
45001:2018, that implement a data-driven and risk-based approach in monitoring and reporting performance regularly. Some of
the specific goals for which we measure our performance include increasing employee development, social and environmental
management system audits, human rights policy training completion, Responsible Business Alliance ("RBA") compliance for
rest day requirements and decreasing safety incident rates.

In response to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, we continued our contingency and resiliency plans that are encompassed
in our business continuity programs. We continued enhanced health and safety measures across all facilities, as our foremost
focus remains the health and safety of our employees. We modified practices at our manufacturing locations and offices to
require personal protective equipment, sanitization measures, temperature checks, and social distancing. These measures
enabled us to continue to conduct operations throughout the pandemic and have been recognized by several governments as a
role model for employee safety.

Diversity, Equity and Inclusion. Diversity, equity and inclusion are key priorities and strengths at Flex and are embedded
in the fabric of our culture. Our commitment to diversity is exemplified by the composition of our Board of which three of
twelve directors are female and five of twelve directors are ethnically diverse.
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In 2021, we continued our progress on improving diversity, equity and inclusion through employee programs. Our
employee resources groups ("ERGs") work to create a community that fosters freedom of self, build cultural awareness, and
develop a new generation of diverse leaders at Flex by establishing a sustainable structure with executive support that
challenges bias and promotes unity. With over 10,000 members, the Company maintains ERG chapters worldwide across eight
identities: Asian and Pacific Islander, Black, LatinX, LGBTQ+, People with Disabilities, Women, Women in Tech, and
Veterans. These groups help to create a sense of belonging and support retention and attraction. Each ERG has an executive
sponsor and is supported by senior leaders across the Company. The Company also held cultural awareness activities
throughout the year to highlight specific groups including People with Disabilities, Black History Month, Asian Pacific
Heritage Month, PRIDE Month, LatinX Heritage Month, and Women’s History Month.

In partnership with McKinsey, we offered leadership development opportunities through their Management Accelerator
and Executive Leadership Program to 45 Asian, 16 Black and 36 LatinX employees. We also enhanced SheLeads, our global
leadership development program for women employees, offered leadership coaching to 20 of our top gender and ethnically
diverse leaders, and continued to implement inclusive leadership training for people managers to, among other things, provide
tools to help managers lead more inclusively and improve diversity in recruiting. Furthermore, we leveraged external
community partnerships with organizations such as Catalyst, the Business Roundtable, the National Society of Black Engineers
(“NSBE”) and The Valuable 500, to amplify our impact in recruiting and retaining diverse talent.

As of March 31, 2022, women represent 43% of our global employees, and underrepresented minorities (those who
identify as Black/African American, Hispanic/Latinx, Native American, Pacific Islander and/or two or more races) represent
47% of our U.S. employees. Approximately 19% of our executive team and approximately 22% of our leadership team
(director level and above) are female. Approximately 23% of our executive team and approximately 32% of our U.S. leadership
team (director level and above) are comprised of underrepresented minorities.

We established corporate goals to increase the number of employees and leaders from underrepresented groups and will
continue to evolve these goals over time to improve representation. In developing these goals, we focused on hiring, retaining
and promoting diversity across the organization. Additionally, we remain committed to parity in pay and opportunity.

Talent Attraction, Development, and Retention. Talent attraction, development, and retention are critical to our success
and core to our mission as a company. To support the advancement of our employees, we provide training and development
programs and opportunities encouraging advancement from within as well as continue to fill our team with strong and
experienced external talent. We leverage both formal and informal programs, including in-person (as health and safety allows),
virtual, social and self-directed learning, mentoring, coaching, and external development to identify, foster, and retain top talent.
Employees have access to courses through our learning and development platform, Flex Learn. In 2021, 36,894 of our
employees completed 1 million hours of training programs. Flex has undertaken initiatives to keep employees who are working
from home engaged during COVID-19, including virtual learning programs and check-in sessions.

We are also focused on completing talent and performance reviews. Our in-depth talent reviews serve to identify high
potential talent to advance in roles with greater responsibility, assess learning and development needs, and establish and refresh
succession plans for critical leadership roles across the enterprise. Our performance review process promotes transparent
communication of team member performance, which we believe is a key factor in our success. The performance and the talent
reviews enable ongoing assessments, reviews, and mentoring to identify career development and learning opportunities for our
employees.

As a part of our efforts to improve employee experiences at Flex, we conduct the annual enterprise-wide employee
engagement Flex Voice survey. Our leadership uses the results of the survey to continue developing our strengths and measure
opportunities for improvement. This year 85% of employees completed the Flex Voice survey and the results reflected
increased enthusiasm and engagement.

Compensation and Benefits. Our total rewards are designed to attract, motivate and retain employees. Our compensation
philosophy is driven by the desire to attract and retain top talent, while ensuring that compensation aligns with our corporate
financial objectives and the long-term interests of our shareholders. Our pay structures offer competitive salaries, bonuses, and
equity awards in the countries where we operate.

In each of the countries where we have operations, our comprehensive benefit plans offer a locally competitive mix of
some or all of the following: medical, dental and vision insurance, short and long-term disability, flexible spending accounts,
various types of voluntary coverage, and other benefit programs. We routinely benchmark our salaries and benefits against
market peers to ensure our total rewards package remains competitive.

Board Oversight of Human Capital Management. The Compensation and People Committee of our Board of Directors is
responsible for assisting the Board in oversight of our human capital management, including among other aspects, receiving
periodic updates (not less than twice annually) regarding, and overseeing any significant change to, our human capital
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management strategy including corporate culture, inclusion, pay and opportunity equity, diversity, social initiatives and results,
and talent training, development and retention programs.

Additional Human Capital Management Information. Additional information regarding human capital management will
be included in our proxy statement filed in connection with our 2022 Annual General Meeting and our upcoming sustainability
report. The information in the sustainability report is not a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is not incorporated by
reference.

SUSTAINABILITY

At Flex, our sustainability journey began in 2002 with the creation of the Flex Foundation. For nearly 20 years,
sustainability has been integrated into the fabric of our company, a key area of differentiation for Flex. In 2021, we refreshed
our sustainability strategy with a new framework and joined the Science Based Targets initiative, a global movement comprised
of leading companies working to reach the Paris Agreement’s goal of limiting global temperature rise to 1.5°C above
preindustrial levels. Our sustainability framework is centered on the world, our people and our approach to business practices.
Through our 2030 goals, we are committed to reducing our environmental impact in partnership with customers and suppliers,
advancing a safe, inclusive and respectful work environment for our employees, investing in our communities, and driving
ESG-focused practices with transparency.

Our strategy and global efforts, through our sustainability programs and multi-year objectives, are aligned with the
principles set forth in the 2030 Sustainable Development Goals ("SDGs"). For the last three years, we were named an Advanced
member of the United Nations Global Compact ("UNGC"), the world's largest corporate sustainability initiative, showcasing
our commitment to integrate sustainability throughout our company and across our entire supply chain. Our 2030 sustainability
strategy includes our most ambitious goals to date and spans several environmental, social, and governance pillars. Several
goals of note include cutting operational emissions in half, collaborating with customers and suppliers to reduce value chain
emissions, increasing gender representation at the director-level and above, providing access to mental health and well-being
services to all employees, and maintaining top quartile performance for governance and transparency. The Flex Social and
Environmental framework is based upon the principles, policies, and standards prescribed by the RBA, a worldwide association
of electronics companies committed to promoting an industry code of conduct to improve working and environmental, health
and safety conditions, as well as other relevant international standards (e.g., ISO 14001, United Nations Guiding Principles on
Business and Human Rights).

During calendar year 2021, we received several awards and accolades for our sustainability program and efforts including
the RBA’s Compass Award and Supply & Demand Chain Executive’s Green Supply Chain Award. In addition, we received
Ericsson’s 2021 supplier award for our leadership in climate action.

Through the Flex Foundation, we work with nonprofits, community leaders and governments to promote inclusive and
sustainable economic growth, employment, and decent work for all. We help protect the environment, support resource
conservation and provide disaster relief. We accomplish this through grants, corporate and employee donations, and
volunteerism. In calendar year 2021, the Flex Foundation partnered with several organizations, including the American Red
Cross, World Wildlife Foundation, and Silicon Valley Education Foundation, among others, and provided nearly $1.5 million
in grant support to 48 local projects in 15 countries, four regional projects to support well-known organizations, including
Give2Asia and Global Giving, and several NGOs that support minorities and the environment, globally.

Flex is committed to transparency in sustainability reporting. The Company has adhered to the Global Reporting Initiative
since 2013 and has published an annual sustainability report each year since 2016. In 2021, we improved our rating from
Morgan Stanley Capital International ("MSCI"), earning an AA, and maintained strong marks from CDP (formally known as
Carbon Disclosure Project) for water security and climate change, receiving an A and A- respectively. The Company also
aligned its last sustainability report to the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board framework.

More detailed information can be found in the Flex annual sustainability report located at https://flex.com/company/our-
sustainability. The information in the sustainability report and on our sustainability webpage is not a part of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K and is not incorporated by reference.
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ENVIRONMENTAL RISKS AND CLIMATE CHANGE

Our operations, including past and present business operations as well as past and present ownership of real property, are
subject to extensive and changing federal, state, local and international environmental, health and safety laws and regulations,
concerning, among other things, the health and safety of our employees, the generation, use, storage, transportation, discharge
and disposal of certain materials (including chemicals and hazardous materials) used in or derived from our operations,
emissions or discharge of substances including pollutants into the air and water, and the investigation and remediation of
contaminated sites. We have implemented processes and procedures aimed to ensure that our operations comply with all
applicable environmental regulations.

We also comply with an increasing number of regulations concerning product safety and stewardship, packaging and
labeling as well as product environmental compliance regulations focused on the restriction of certain hazardous substances,
including:

*  Restrictions on Hazardous Substances (“RoHS”) 2011/65/EU
*  Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (“WEEE”) 2012/19/EU directives

e The regulation EC 1907/2006 EU Directive REACH (“Registration, Evaluation, Authorization, and Restriction of
Chemicals™)

¢ China RoHS entitled, Management Methods for Controlling Pollution for Electronic Information Products (“EIPs”)

Moreover, climate change and other ESG-related laws, regulations, treaties, and similar initiatives and programs are being
adopted and implemented throughout the world, many of which we will be required to comply with. As described above, we are
committed to maintaining compliance with ESG-related laws applicable to our operations, products, and services.

We do not believe that costs of compliance with these environmental laws and regulations will have a material adverse
effect on our capital expenditures, operating results, or competitive position. In addition, we are responsible for cleanup of
contamination at some of our current and former manufacturing facilities and at some third-party sites. We engage
environmental consulting firms to assist us in the evaluation of environmental liabilities associated with our ongoing operations,
historical disposal activities, and closed sites in order to establish appropriate accruals in our financial statements. We determine
the amount of our accruals for environmental matters by analyzing and estimating the probability of occurrence and the
reasonable possibility of incurring costs in light of information currently available.

Compliance with environmental laws and regulations, including those concerning climate change and other ESG-related
matters, requires continuing management efforts by the Company. The imposition of more stringent standards or requirements
under these laws or regulations, the results of future testing and analysis undertaken by us at our operating facilities, or a
determination that we are potentially responsible for the release of hazardous substances at other sites could result in
expenditures in excess of amounts currently estimated to be required for such matters. Additionally, we could be required to
alter our operations in order to comply with any new standards or requirements under environmental laws or regulations. There
can be no assurance that additional environmental matters will not arise in the future or that costs will not be incurred with
respect to sites as to which no issue is currently known.

Our business requires close collaboration with our customers and suppliers to mitigate risks of non-compliance with these
laws and regulations. We have developed rigorous compliance programs designed to meet the needs and specifications of our
customers as well as applicable regulations. These programs vary from collecting compliance or material data from our Flex
controlled or managed suppliers to full laboratory testing. We include compliance requirements in our standard supplier
contracts. Non-compliance could result in significant costs and/or penalties.

RoHS and other similar legislation ban or restrict the use of lead, mercury and certain other specified substances in
electronics products and WEEE requires European Union ("EU") importers and/or producers to assume responsibility for the
collection, recycling and management of waste electronic products and components. In the case of WEEE, although the
compliance responsibility rests primarily with the EU importers and/or producers rather than with electronic manufacturing
services ("EMS") companies, original equipment manufacturers ("OEM") may turn to EMS companies for assistance in
meeting their WEEE obligations. Flex continues to monitor developments related to product environmental compliance and is
working with our customers and other technical organizations to anticipate and minimize impacts to our operations.

Refer to the discussion in "Risk Factors" for further details of the legal and regulatory initiatives related to environmental
matters including climate change that could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

We own or license various United States and foreign patents relating to a variety of technologies. For certain of our
proprietary processes, inventions, and works of authorship, we rely on trade secret or copyright protection. We also maintain
trademark rights (including registrations) for our corporate name and several other trademarks and service marks that we use in
our business in the United States and other countries throughout the world. We have implemented appropriate policies and
procedures (including both technological means and training programs for our employees) to identify and protect our
intellectual property, as well as that of our customers and suppliers. As of March 31, 2022, and 2021, the carrying value of our
intellectual property was not material.

Although we believe that our intellectual property assets and licenses are sufficient for the operation of our business as we
currently conduct it, from time to time third parties assert patent infringement claims against us or our customers. In addition,
we provide design and engineering services to our customers and also design and make our own products. As a consequence of
these activities, our customers are sometimes requiring us to take responsibility for intellectual property to a greater extent than
in our manufacturing and assembly businesses. If and when third parties make assertions regarding the ownership or right to use
intellectual property, we could be required to either enter into licensing arrangements or to resolve the issue through litigation.
Such license rights might not be available to us on commercially acceptable terms, if at all, and any such litigation might not be
resolved in our favor. Additionally, litigation could be lengthy and costly and could materially harm our financial condition
regardless of the outcome. We also could be required to incur substantial costs to redesign a product or re-perform design
services. See "Risk Factors - The success of certain of our activities depends on our ability to protect our intellectual property
rights, claims of infringement or misuse of intellectual property and/or breach of license agreement provisions against our
customers or us could harm our business."

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Our Internet address is https://www.flex.com. We make available through our Internet website the Company's annual
reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as reasonably practicable after we
electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).

We were incorporated in the Republic of Singapore in May 1990. Our principal corporate office is located at 2 Changi
South Lane, Singapore 486123. Our U.S. corporate headquarters is located at 6201 America Center Drive, San Jose, CA 95002.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Summary of Risk Factors

These statements reflect management’s current beliefs, assumptions and expectations and are subject to a number of
factors that may cause actual results to differ materially. Such factors include but are not limited to:

*  Weak global economic conditions, geopolitical uncertainty (including the ongoing conflict between Russia and
Ukraine) and instability in financial markets may adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial
condition, and access to capital markets.

*  We depend on industries that continually produce technologically advanced products with short product lifecycles and
our business would be adversely affected if our customers' products are not successful or if our customers lose market
share.

*  QOur customers may cancel their orders, change production quantities or locations, or delay production, and our current
and potential customers may decide to manufacture some or all of their products internally, which could harm our
business.

e Our industry is extremely competitive; if we are not able to continue to provide competitive products and services, we
may lose business.

* A significant percentage of our sales comes from a small number of customers and a decline in sales to any of these
customers could adversely affect our business.

*  We have been and continue to be adversely affected by supply chain issues, including shortages of required electronic
components, fluctuations in the pricing or availability of raw materials, and logistical constraints.

*  We conduct operations in a number of countries and are subject to the risks inherent in international operations.
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*  The COVID-19 pandemic has materially and adversely affected our business and results of operations. The duration
and extent to which it will continue to adversely impact our business and results of operations remains uncertain and
could be material.

*  Our components business is dependent on our ability to quickly launch world-class component products, and our
investment in the development of our component capabilities, together with the start-up and integration costs necessary
to achieve quick launches of world-class component products, may adversely affect our margins and profitability.

*  QOur exposure to financially troubled customers or suppliers may adversely affect our financial results.

e Our margins and profitability may be adversely affected due to substantial investments, start-up and production ramp
costs in our design services.

*  The success of certain of our activities depends on our ability to protect our intellectual property rights; claims of
infringement or misuse of intellectual property and/or breach of license agreement provisions against our customers or
us could harm our business.

*  We are subject to risks relating to litigation and regulatory investigations and proceedings, which may have a material
adverse effect on our business.

*  We are subject to risks associated with changes in laws, regulations or policies that may adversely impact our business,
including environmental protection laws and regulations, including those related to climate change.

+ If we do not effectively manage changes in our operations, our business may be harmed; we have taken substantial
restructuring charges in the past and we may need to take material restructuring charges in the future.

* A breach of our IT or physical security systems, or violation of data privacy laws, may cause us to incur significant
legal and financial exposure and disrupt our operations.

e Our strategic relationships with major customers create risks.

*  We may not meet regulatory quality standards applicable to our manufacturing and quality processes for medical
devices, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

*  We are subject to physical and operational risks from natural disasters, severe weather events, and climate change.

»  If our products or components contain defects, demand for our services may decline and we may be exposed to
product liability and product warranty liability.

Business and Operational Risks

Our customers may cancel their orders, change production quantities or locations, or delay production, any of which could
harm our business; the short-term nature of our customers’ commitments and rapid changes in demand may cause supply
chain and other issues which could adversely affect our operating results.

Cancellations, reductions, or delays by a significant customer or by a group of customers have harmed, and may in the
future harm, our results of operations by reducing the volumes of products we manufacture and deliver for those customers, by
causing a delay in the repayment of our expenditures for inventory in preparation for customer orders and/or an impairment loss
for inventory, and by lowering our asset utilization and overhead absorption resulting in lower gross margins and earnings.

As a provider of design and manufacturing services and components for electronics, we must provide increasingly rapid
product turnaround times for our customers. We generally do not obtain firm, long-term purchase commitments from our
customers, and we often experience reduced lead times in customer orders which may be less than the lead time we require to
procure necessary components and materials.

The short-term nature of our customers' commitments and the rapid changes in demand for their products reduces our
ability to accurately estimate the future requirements of our customers. This makes it difficult to schedule production and
maximize utilization of our manufacturing capacity. In that regard, we must make significant decisions, including determining
the levels of business that we will seek and accept, setting production schedules, making component procurement
commitments, and allocating personnel and other resources based on our estimates of our customers' requirements.

On occasion, customers require rapid increases in production or require that manufacturing of their products be
transitioned from one facility to another to reduce costs or achieve other objectives. These demands may stress our resources,
cause supply chain management issues, and reduce our margins. We may not have sufficient capacity at any given time to meet
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our customers' demands, and transfers from one facility to another can result in inefficiencies and costs due to excess capacity
in one facility and corresponding capacity constraints at another. Many of our costs and operating expenses are relatively fixed,
and thus customer order fluctuations, deferrals, and transfers of demand from one facility to another, as described above, have
had a material adverse effect on our operating results in the past and we may experience such effects in the future.

A significant percentage of our sales come from a small number of customers and a decline in sales to any of these
customers could adversely affect our business.

Sales to our ten largest customers represent a significant percentage of our net sales. Our ten largest customers accounted
for approximately 34%, 36% and 39% of net sales in fiscal years 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. No customer accounted for
more than 10% of net sales in fiscal year 2022, 2021 and 2020. Our principal customers have varied from year to year. These
customers may experience dramatic declines in their market shares or competitive position, due to economic or other forces,
that may cause them to reduce their purchases from us or, in some cases, result in the termination of their relationship with us.
Significant reductions in sales to any of these customers, or the loss of major customers, would materially harm our business. If
we are not able to replace expired, canceled or reduced contracts with new business in a timely manner, our revenues and
profitability could be harmed. Additionally, mergers, acquisitions, consolidations or other significant transactions involving our
key customers generally entail risks to our business. If a significant transaction involving any of our key customers results in
the loss of or reduction in purchases by any of our largest customers, it could have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Supply chain disruptions, manufacturing interruptions or delays, or the failure to accurately forecast customer demand,
could affect our ability to meet customer demand, lead to higher costs, or result in excess or obsolete inventory. We have
been and continue to be adversely affected by supply chain issues, including shortages of required electronic components.

From time to time, we have experienced shortages of some of the components, including electronic components, that we
use. These shortages can result from strong demand for those components or from problems experienced by suppliers, such as
shortages of raw materials. We have also experienced, and continue to experience, such shortages due to the effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic. Most recently, we have experienced shortages of semiconductor components which has impacted our
end markets. These unanticipated component shortages have and will continue to result in curtailed production or delays in
production, which prevent us from making scheduled shipments to customers. Our failure or inability to accurately forecast
demand and volatility in the availability of materials, equipment, components, and services, including rising prices due to
inflation or scarcity of availability may adversely impact our business and results of operations.

Our inability to make scheduled shipments has caused and will continue to cause us to experience a reduction in sales,
increase in inventory levels and costs, and could adversely affect relationships with existing and prospective customers.
Component shortages may also increase our cost of goods sold because we may be required to pay higher prices for
components in short supply and redesign or reconfigure products to accommodate substitute components. As a result,
component shortages have adversely affected, and will continue to adversely affect, our operating results. Our customers also
may experience component shortages which may adversely affect customer demand for our products and services. Our end
markets have been and continue to be impacted by logistical constraints, with COVID-19 related restrictions contributing to a
declining workforce, including at ports and warchouses, as well as driver shortages and increased freight and logistics costs
around the world.

Our supply chain has been and will continue to be impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, and may be impacted by other
events outside our control, including macro-economic events, trade restrictions, political crises, social unrest, terrorism, and
conflicts (including the Russian invasion of Ukraine), other public health emergencies, trade restrictions, or natural or
environmental occurrences in locations where we or our customers and suppliers have manufacturing, research, engineering and
other operations.

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has materially and adversely affected our business and results of operations. The
duration and extent to which it will continue to adversely impact our business and results of operations remains uncertain
and could be material.

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in a widespread public health crisis and numerous disease control
measures being taken to limit its spread, including travel bans and restrictions, quarantines, shelter-in-place orders, and
shutdowns. These measures have materially impacted and are continuing to impact our workforce and operations, the
operations of our customers, and those of our respective vendors and suppliers. We have significant operations worldwide,
including in China, Mexico, the United States, Brazil, India, Malaysia and Europe, and each of these geographies has been
affected by the outbreak and has taken measures to try to contain it. This has resulted in disruptions at many of our
manufacturing operations and facilities, and further disruptions could occur in the future. Most recently, with the lockdowns in
China, we have been experiencing temporary plant closures and/or restrictions at certain of our manufacturing facilities in
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China. Any such disruptions could materially adversely affect our business. There have been renewed disease control measures
(most recently, in China) being taken to limit the spread including movement bans and shelter-in-place orders. We continue to
closely monitor the situation in all the locations where we operate. The impact of the pandemic on our business has included
and could in the future include:

»  disruptions to or restrictions on our ability to ensure the continuous provision of our manufacturing services and
solutions;

+ temporary closures or reductions in operational capacity of our manufacturing facilities;

» temporary closures of our direct and indirect suppliers, resulting in adverse effects to our supply chain, and other
supply chain disruptions, which adversely affect our ability to procure sufficient inventory to support customer orders;

* temporary shortages of skilled employees available to staff manufacturing facilities due to shelter-in-place orders and
travel restrictions within as well as into and out of countries;

»  restrictions or disruptions of transportation, such as reduced availability of air transport, port closures, and increased
border controls or closures;

* increases in operational expenses and other costs related to requirements implemented to mitigate the impact of the
pandemic;

* delays or limitations on the ability of our customers to perform or make timely payments;

*  reductions in short- and long-term demand for our manufacturing services and solutions, or other disruptions in
technology buying patterns;

»  workforce disruptions due to illness, quarantines, governmental actions, other restrictions, and/or the social distancing
measures we have taken to mitigate the impact of COVID-19 at our locations around the world in an effort to protect
the health and well-being of our employees, customers, suppliers and of the communities in which we operate
(including working from home, restricting the number of employees attending events or meetings in person, limiting
the number of people in our buildings and factories at any one time, further restricting access to our facilities and
suspending employee travel); and

e our management team continuing to commit significant time, attention and resources to monitoring the COVID-19
pandemic and seeking to mitigate its effects on our business and workforce.

The global spread of COVID-19 also has created significant macroeconomic uncertainty, volatility and disruption, which
may continue to adversely affect our and our customers’ and suppliers’ liquidity, cost of capital and ability to access the capital
markets. As a result, the continued spread of COVID-19 could cause further disruptions in our supply chain and customer
demand, and could adversely affect the ability of our customers to perform, including making timely payments to us, which
could further adversely impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations. The COVID-19 pandemic has, in the
short-term, adversely impacted, and may, in the long-term, adversely impact the global economy, potentially leading to an
economic downturn. In addition, various local, state and national governments and agencies issued various safety regulations
and guidelines intended to prevent the transmission of COVID-19 in the workplace. These regulations are complex, costly to
implement, subject to frequent change, and to audit and investigation by governmental authorities, including in the U.S. the
Occupational Health and Safety Administration (“OSHA”), state counterparts, and local health departments. Any failure by us
to materially comply with COVID-19-related safety rules and regulations in any of its facilities could result in sanctions, fines,
as well as negative publicity for us. Recently, two executive orders were issued mandating that U.S. employees of our
manufacturing facilities be vaccinated against COVID-19 (or tested weekly). Although the implementation of these executive
orders was stayed by the Supreme Court on January 13, 2022, and OSHA withdrew the rules on January 25, 2022, it is currently
not possible to predict the development and impact of future COVID-19-related safety rules and regulations with certainty.
Even after the COVID-19 pandemic has subsided, we may continue to experience adverse impacts to our business as a result of
the pandemic’s global economic impact, including any recession, economic downturn, government spending cuts, tightening of
credit markets or increased unemployment that has occurred or may occur in the future, which could cause our customers and
potential customers to postpone or reduce spending on our manufacturing services and solutions.

The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic will continue to impact our business and financial results going forward
will be dependent on future developments such as the length and severity of the crisis, the potential resurgence of COVID-19 in
the future including the emergence of more contagious or vaccine-resistant variants of the virus, the availability and distribution
of effective treatments and vaccines, and public health measures and actions taken throughout the world to contain COVID-19,
and the overall impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the global economy and capital markets, among many other factors, all of
which remain highly uncertain and unpredictable. We cannot at this time quantify or forecast the business impact of
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COVID-19, and there can be no assurance that the COVID-19 pandemic will not have a material and adverse effect on our
business, financial results and financial condition. In addition, the COVID-19 pandemic increases the likelihood and potential
severity of other risks described in this “Risk Factors” section.

Our components business is dependent on our ability to quickly launch world-class component products, and our investment
in the development of our component capabilities, together with start-up and integration costs, may adversely affect our
margins and profitability.

Our components business, which includes power supply manufacturing, is part of our strategy to improve our competitive
position and to grow our future margins, profitability and shareholder returns by expanding our capabilities. The success of our
components business is dependent on our ability to design and introduce world-class components that have performance
characteristics which are suitable for a broad market and that offer significant price and/or performance advantages over
competitive products.

To create these world class components offerings, we must continue to make substantial investments in the development
of our components capabilities, in resources such as research and development, technology licensing, test and tooling
equipment, facility expansions, and personnel requirements. We may not be able to achieve or maintain market acceptance for
any of our components offerings in any of our current or target markets. The success of our components business will also
depend upon the level of market acceptance of our customers' end products, which incorporate our components, and over which
we have no control.

Our margins and profitability may be adversely affected due to substantial investments, start-up and production ramp costs
in our design services.

As part of our strategy to enhance our end-to-end service offerings, we continue to expand our design and engineering
capabilities. Providing these services can expose us to different or greater potential risks than those we face when providing our
manufacturing services.

Although we enter into contracts with our design services customers, we may design and develop products for these
customers prior to receiving a purchase order or other firm commitment from them. We are required to make substantial
investments in the resources necessary to design and develop these products, and no revenue may be generated from these
efforts if our customers do not approve the designs in a timely manner or at all. In addition, we may make investments in
designing products and not be able to design viable manufacturable products, in which cases we may not be able to recover our
investments. Even if we are successful in designing manufacturable products and our customers accept our designs, if our
customers do not then purchase anticipated levels of products, we may not realize any profits. Our design activities often
require that we purchase inventory for initial production runs before we have a purchase commitment from a customer. Even
after we have a contract with a customer with respect to a product, these contracts may allow the customer to delay or cancel
deliveries and may not obligate the customer to any particular volume of purchases. These contracts can generally be terminated
on short notice. In addition, some of the products we design and develop must satisfy safety and regulatory standards and some
must receive government certifications. If we fail to obtain these approvals or certifications on a timely basis, we would be
unable to sell these products, which would harm our sales, profitability and reputation.

Our design services offerings require significant investments in research and development, technology licensing, test and
tooling equipment, patent applications, facility building and expansion, and recruitment. We may not be able to achieve a high
enough level of sales for this business to be profitable. The costs of investing in the resources necessary to expand our design
and engineering capabilities, and in particular to support our design services offerings, have historically adversely affected our
profitability, and may continue to do so as we continue to make investments to grow these capabilities.

In addition, we often agree to certain product price limitations and cost reduction targets in connection with these services.
Inflationary and other increases in the costs of the raw materials and labor required to produce the products have occurred and
may recur from time to time. Also, the production ramps for these programs are typically significant and negatively impact our
margin in early stages as the manufacturing volumes are lower and result in inefficiencies and unabsorbed manufacturing
overhead costs. We may not be able to reduce costs, incorporate changes in costs into the selling prices of our products, or
increase operating efficiencies as we ramp production of our products, which would adversely affect our margins and our
results of operations.

If we do not effectively manage changes in our operations, our business may be harmed; we have taken substantial
restructuring charges in the past and we may need to take material restructuring charges in the future.

The expansion of our business, as well as business contractions and other changes in our customers' requirements,
including as a result of COVID-19, have in the past, and may in the future, require that we adjust our business and cost
structures by incurring restructuring charges. Restructuring activities involve reductions in our workforce at some locations and
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closure of certain facilities. All of these changes have in the past placed, and may in the future place, considerable strain on our
financial and management control systems and resources, including decision support, accounting management, information
systems and facilities. If we do not properly manage our financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures
to manage our employees, our business could be harmed.

In recent years, including fiscal years 2022, 2021, and 2020, we initiated targeted restructuring activities focused on
optimizing our portfolio, in particular customers and products in our consumer devices business, optimizing our cost structure
in lower growth areas and, more importantly, streamlining certain corporate and segment functions. Restructuring charges are
recorded based upon employee termination dates, site closure and consolidation plans generally in conjunction with an overall
corporate initiative to drive cost reduction and realign the Company's global footprint.

We may be required to take additional charges in the future to align our operations and cost structures with global
economic conditions, market demands, cost competitiveness, and our geographic footprint as it relates to our customers'
production requirements and in response to the economic challenges in light of recent events with COVID-19. We may
consolidate certain manufacturing facilities or transfer certain of our operations to lower cost geographies. If we are required to
take additional restructuring charges in the future, our operating results, financial condition, and cash flows could be adversely
impacted. Additionally, there are other potential risks associated with our restructurings that could adversely affect us, such as
delays encountered with the finalization and implementation of the restructuring activities, work stoppages, and the failure to
achieve targeted cost savings.

A breach of our IT or physical security systems, or violation of data privacy laws, may cause us to incur significant legal and
financial exposure.

We are increasingly reliant on our information systems to process, transmit and store electronic information (including
sensitive data such as confidential business information and personally identifiable information relating to employees,
customers, and other business partners), and to manage or support a variety of critical business processes and activities. In
particular, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused us to modify our business practices, including requiring or permitting many of
our office-based employees to work from home. As a result, we are increasingly dependent upon our information systems to
operate our business and our ability to effectively manage our business depends on the security, reliability and adequacy of our
information systems.

We regularly face attempts by sophisticated actors to gain unauthorized access through the Internet or to introduce
malicious software to our information systems, including those using techniques that change frequently or may be disguised or
difficult to remain dormant until a triggering event or that may continue undetected for an extended period of time. We are also
a target of malicious attackers who attempt to gain access to our network or data centers or those of our customers or end users,
steal proprietary information related to our business, products, employees, and customers; or interrupt our systems and services
or those of our customers or others. We believe such attempts are increasing in number and in technical sophistication. There
has been a rise in ransomware and other “cyber attacks”, along with power outages or hardware failures, which, if we are
subject to, could have material adverse effects. Due to the political uncertainty and military actions involving Russia, Ukraine
and surrounding regions, we and the third parties upon which we rely may be vulnerable to a currently heightened risk of
information technology breaches, computer malware or other cyber attacks, including attacks that could materially disrupt our
systems and operations, supply chain and ability to produce, sell and distribute our products.

In some instances, we, our customers, and the users of our products and services might be unaware of an incident or its
magnitude and effects. We have implemented security systems with the intent of maintaining and protecting the physical
security of our facilities and inventory and protecting our customers’ and our suppliers’ confidential information. In addition,
while we seek to detect and investigate all unauthorized attempts and attacks against our network, products, and services, and to
prevent their recurrence where practicable through changes to our internal processes and tools, we are subject to, and at times
have suffered from, breach or attempted breach of these security systems which have in the past and may in the future result in
unauthorized access to our facilities and/or unauthorized acquisition, use or theft of the inventory or information we are trying
to protect. If unauthorized parties gain physical access to our inventory or if they gain electronic access to our information
systems or if such information or inventory is used in an unauthorized manner, misdirected, or lost or stolen during
transmission or transport, any theft or misuse of such information or inventory could result in, among other things, unfavorable
publicity, governmental inquiry and oversight, difficulty in marketing our services, allegations by our customers that we have
not performed our contractual obligations, litigation by affected parties including our customers and possible financial
obligations for damages related to the theft or misuse of such information or inventory, any of which could have a material
adverse effect on our profitability and cash flow. These risks are likely to be elevated in times of geopolitical instability and
escalated tensions between countries.

In addition, data privacy laws and regulations, including the European Union General Data Protection Regulation
(“GDPR?”), the UK GDPR, ePrivacy Directive, Singapore’s Personal Data Protection Act, and other privacy and data security
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laws throughout the Asia Pacific region and across the globe pose increasingly complex compliance challenges, which may
increase compliance costs, and any failure to comply with data privacy laws and regulations could result in significant penalties.
Additionally, many U.S. states including California, Virginia, Colorado and Utah recently enacted legislation, and associated
regulations and it is anticipated that many more states will enact similar legislation and/or release additional regulations. The
California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”), became effective January 1, 2020 and was further amended by the California
Privacy Rights Act, or CPRA, on November 3, 2020. The CCPA and CPRA, among other requirements, require covered
companies to provide new rights and disclosures to California consumers, and allow such consumers abilities to opt-out of
certain sales of personal information and other activities and will create a new regulatory enforcement body. These potential
new regulations and avenues for enforcement could result in among other things, government inquiries, which could result in
significant penalties, Additionally, new privacy laws and regulations are under development at the U.S. Federal and state level
and many international jurisdictions.

The effects of the GDPR, the CPRA and other state laws and other data privacy laws and regulations, including the many
international privacy laws, may be significant, and may require us to modify our data processing practices and policies and to
incur substantial costs and expenses in an effort to comply. Any actual or perceived failures to comply with these laws or
regulations, or related contractual or other obligations, or any perceived privacy rights violation, could lead to investigations,
claims, and proceedings by governmental entities and private parties, damages for contract breach, and other significant costs,
penalties, and other liabilities, as well as harm to our reputation and market position. The GDPR, U.S. state laws and other laws
and self-regulatory codes may affect our ability to reach current and prospective customers, to understand how our solutions
and services are being used, to respond to customer requests allowed under the laws, and to implement our business strategy
effectively. These laws and regulations could similarly affect our customers.

Our strategic relationships with major customers create risks.

In the past, we have completed numerous strategic transactions with customers. Under these arrangements, we generally
acquire inventory, equipment and other assets from the customers, and lease or acquire their manufacturing facilities, while
simultaneously entering into multi-year manufacturing and supply agreements for the production of their products. We may
pursue these customer divestiture transactions in the future. These arrangements entered into with divesting customers typically
involve many risks, including the following:

* we may need to pay a purchase price to the divesting customers that exceeds the value we ultimately may realize from
the future business of the customer;

» the integration of the acquired assets and facilities into our business may be time-consuming and costly, including the
incurrence of restructuring charges;

*  we, rather than the divesting customer, bear the risk of excess capacity at the facility;
* we may not achieve anticipated cost reductions and efficiencies at the facility;

* we may be unable to meet the expectations of the customer as to volume, product quality, timeliness and cost
reductions;

*  our supply agreements with the customers generally do not require any minimum volumes of purchase by the
customers, and the actual volume of purchases may be less than anticipated; and

+ if demand for the customers' products declines, the customer may reduce its volume of purchases, and we may not be
able to sufficiently reduce the expenses of operating the facility or use the facility to provide services to other
customers.

As aresult of these and other risks, we have been, and in the future may be, unable to achieve anticipated levels of
profitability under these arrangements. In addition, these strategic arrangements have not, and in the future may not, result in
any material revenues or contribute positively to our earnings per share.

We may encounter difficulties with acquisitions and divestitures, which could harm our business.

We have completed numerous acquisitions of businesses, including the recent acquisition of Anord Mardix, and we may
acquire additional businesses in the future. Any future acquisitions may require additional equity financing, which could be
dilutive to our existing shareholders, or additional debt financing, which could increase our leverage and potentially affect our
credit ratings. Any downgrades in our credit ratings associated with an acquisition could adversely affect our ability to borrow
by resulting in more restrictive borrowing terms. As a result of the foregoing, we also may not be able to complete acquisitions
or strategic customer transactions in the future to the same extent as in the past, or at all.

19



() <@ Contents mp

To integrate acquired businesses, we must implement our management information systems, operating systems and
internal controls, and assimilate and manage the personnel of the acquired operations. The difficulties of this integration may be
further complicated by geographic distances. The integration of acquired businesses may not be successful and could result in
disruption to other parts of our business. In addition, the integration of acquired businesses may require that we incur significant
restructuring charges.

In addition, acquisitions involve numerous risks and challenges, including:
« diversion of management's attention from the normal operation of our business;
*  potential loss of key employees and customers of the acquired companies;
« difficulties managing and integrating operations in geographically dispersed locations;
» the potential for deficiencies in internal controls at acquired companies;
* increases in our expenses and working capital requirements, which reduce our return on invested capital;
* lack of experience operating in the geographic market or industry sector of the acquired business;
»  cybersecurity and compliance related issues;
+ initial dependence on unfamiliar supply chain or relatively small supply chain partners; and
*  exposure to unanticipated liabilities of acquired companies.

In addition, divestitures involve significant risks, including without limitation, difficulty finding financially sufficient
buyers or selling on acceptable terms in a timely manner, and the agreed-upon terms could be renegotiated due to changes in
business or market conditions. Divestitures could adversely affect our profitability and, under certain circumstances, require us
to record impairment charges or a loss as a result of the transaction. In addition, completing divestitures requires expenses and
management attention and could leave us with certain continuing liabilities.

These and other factors have harmed, and in the future could harm, our ability to achieve anticipated levels of
profitability at acquired operations or realize other anticipated benefits of an acquisition or divestiture, and could adversely
affect our business and operating results.

We are pursuing alternatives for our Nextracker business, including a full or partial separation of the business, through an
initial public offering of Nextracker or otherwise, which may not be consummated as or when planned or at all, and may not
achieve the intended benefits.

We are pursuing alternatives for our Nextracker business, including a full or partial separation of the business, through an
initial public offering of Nextracker or otherwise. The proposed separation of our Nextracker business may not be
consummated as currently contemplated or at all, or may encounter unanticipated delays. If we are unable to consummate a
transaction on favorable terms or at all, we may experience negative reactions from the financial markets and from our
shareholders and employees. Planning a separation requires significant time, effort, and expense, may divert the attention of our
management and employees from other aspects of our business operations and could adversely affect the business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of us and our Nextracker business. In addition, if we complete the proposed
separation, there can be no assurance that we will be able to realize the intended benefits. Following a potential separation, the
combined value of the two publicly-traded companies may not be equal to or greater than what the value of our ordinary shares
would have been had the potential separation not occurred.

Our operating results may fluctuate significantly due to seasonal demand.

Two of our significant end markets are the lifestyle market and the consumer devices market. These markets exhibit
particular strength generally in the two quarters leading up to the end of the calendar year in connection with the holiday
season. As a result, we have historically experienced stronger revenues in our second and third fiscal quarters as compared to
our other fiscal quarters. Economic or other factors leading to diminished orders in the end of the calendar year could harm our
business.

We depend on our executive officers and skilled personnel.

Our success depends to a large extent upon the continued services of our executive officers and other key employees.
Generally, our employees are not bound by employment or non-competition agreements, and we cannot assure you that we will
retain our executive officers and other key employees. We could be seriously harmed by the loss of any of our executive
officers or other key employees. In addition, in connection with expanding our design services offerings, we must attract and
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retain experienced design engineers. There is substantial competition in our industry for highly skilled employees. Additionally,
hiring, training and retaining skilled employees may be adversely impacted by global economic uncertainty and office closures
caused by COVID-19. Our failure to recruit and retain experienced design engineers, or if they are unable to work effectively or
at all due to the COVID-19 pandemic, could limit the growth of our design services offerings, which could adversely affect our
business. There also is the risk that we will be unable to achieve our diversity, equity and inclusion objectives and goals or meet
the related requirements of our sharecholders and other stakeholders.

Catastrophic events could have a material adverse effect on our operations and financial results.

Our operations or systems could be disrupted by natural disasters, terrorist activity, public health issues (including the
COVID-19 pandemic), cybersecurity incidents, interruptions of service from utilities, political crises and conflicts (including
the Russian invasion of Ukraine), transportation or telecommunications providers, or other catastrophic events. Such events
could make it difficult or impossible to manufacture or deliver products to our customers, receive production materials from our
suppliers, or perform critical functions, which could adversely affect our revenue and require significant recovery time and
expenditures to resume operations. While we maintain business recovery plans that are intended to allow us to recover from
natural disasters or other events that can be disruptive to our business, some of our systems are not fully redundant and we
cannot be sure that our plans will fully protect us from all such disruptions.

We maintain a program of insurance coverage for a variety of property, casualty, and other risks. We place our insurance
coverage with multiple carriers in numerous jurisdictions. However, one or more of our insurance providers may be unable or
unwilling to pay a claim. The types and amounts of insurance we obtain vary depending on availability, cost, and decisions with
respect to risk retention. The policies have deductibles and exclusions that result in us retaining a level of self-insurance. Losses
not covered by insurance may be large, which could harm our results of operations and financial condition.

Our business could be adversely affected by any delays, or increased costs, resulting from issues that our common carriers
are dealing with in transporting our materials, our products, or both.

Given the complexity of our supply chain and our geographically dispersed operations, we depend on a variety of
common carriers to transport our materials from our suppliers to us, and to transport our products from us to our customers.
Problems suffered by any of these common carriers, whether due to geopolitical issues, the COVID-19 pandemic, a natural
disaster, labor problems, increased energy prices, criminal activity or some other issue, could result in shipping delays,
increased costs, or other supply chain disruptions, and could therefore have a material adverse effect on our operations.

Industry Risks

We depend on industries that continually produce technologically advanced products with short product lifecycles and our
business would be adversely affected if our customers' products are not successful or if our customers lose market share.

We derive our revenue from customers in a number of end markets and factors affecting any of these industries in general
or our customers in particular, could adversely impact us. These factors include:

* rapid changes in technology, evolving industry standards, and requirements for continuous improvement in products
and services that result in short product lifecycles;

*  demand for our customers' products may be seasonal;

*  our customers may fail to successfully market their products, and our customers' products may fail to gain widespread
commercial acceptance;

*  our customers' products may have supply chain issues, including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic;

*  our customers may experience dramatic market share shifts in demand which may cause them to lose market share or
exit businesses; and

* anegative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our customers or on the demand for our customers’ products.
Our industry is extremely competitive; if we are not able to continue to provide competitive services, we may lose business.

We compete with a number of different companies, depending on the type of service we provide or the location of our
operations. For example, we compete with major global EMS providers, other smaller EMS companies that have a regional or
product-specific focus and Original Design Manufacturers ("ODMs") with respect to some of the services that we provide. We
also compete with our current and prospective customers, who evaluate our capabilities in light of their own capabilities and
cost structures. In the past, some of our customers moved a portion of their manufacturing from us in order to more fully utilize
their excess internal manufacturing capacity. Any of these developments could cause a decline in our sales, loss of market

21



() <@ Contents mp

acceptance of our products or services, decreases of our profits or loss of our market share. Our industry is extremely
competitive, many of our competitors have achieved substantial market share, and some may have lower cost structures or
greater design, manufacturing, financial or other resources than we do. We face particular competition from Asian-based
competitors, including Taiwanese ODM suppliers who compete in a variety of our end markets and have a substantial share of
global information technology hardware production. If we are unable to provide comparable manufacturing services and
improved products at lower cost than the other companies in our market, our net sales could decline.

Financial Risks

Our goodwill and identifiable intangible assets could become impaired, which could reduce the value of our assets and
reduce our net income in the year in which the write-off occurs.

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired. We also ascribe
value to certain identifiable intangible assets, which consist primarily of customer relationships, developed technology and trade
names, among others, as a result of acquisitions. We may incur impairment charges on goodwill or identifiable intangible assets
if we determine that the fair values of goodwill or identifiable intangible assets are less than their current carrying values. We
evaluate, on a regular basis, whether events or circumstances have occurred that indicate all, or a portion, of the carrying
amount of goodwill may no longer be recoverable, in which case an impairment charge to earnings would become necessary.

If the financial performance of our businesses were to decline significantly as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we
could incur a material non-cash charge to our income statement for the impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets.

Refer to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements and "Critical Accounting Policies" in "Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" for further discussion of the impairment testing of goodwill and
identifiable intangible assets.

A decline in general economic conditions or global equity valuations could impact the judgments and assumptions about
the fair value of our businesses and we could be required to record impairment charges on our goodwill or other identifiable
intangible assets in the future, which could impact our consolidated balance sheet, as well as our consolidated statement of
operations. If we are required to recognize an impairment charge in the future, the charge would not impact our consolidated
cash flows, liquidity, capital resources, and covenants under our existing credit facilities, asset securitization program, and other
outstanding borrowings.

Our debt level may create limitations.

As of March 31, 2022, our total debt was approximately $4.2 billion. This level of indebtedness could limit our flexibility
as a result of debt service requirements and restrictive covenants, and may limit our ability to access additional capital or
execute our business strategy.

Our exposure to financially troubled customers or suppliers may adversely affect our financial results.

We provide manufacturing services to companies and industries that have in the past, and may in the future, experience
financial difficulty. If some of our customers experience financial difficulty, we could have difficulty recovering amounts owed
to us by these customers, or demand for our products from these customers could decline. Additionally, if our suppliers
experience financial difficulty, we could have difficulty sourcing supplies necessary to fulfill production requirements and meet
scheduled shipments. If one or more of our customers were to become insolvent or otherwise were unable to pay for the
services provided by us on a timely basis, or at all, our operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected.
Such adverse effects could include one or more of the following: an increase in our provision for doubtful accounts, a charge
for inventory write-offs, a reduction in revenue, and an increase in our working capital requirements due to higher inventory
levels and increases in days our accounts receivables are outstanding. Any of these risks may be heightened by the effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic.

The market price of our ordinary shares is volatile.

The stock market in recent years has experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have affected the market
prices of companies, including technology companies. These fluctuations have often been unrelated to or disproportionately
impacted by the operating performance of these companies. The market for our ordinary shares has been and may in the future
be subject to similar volatility. Factors such as fluctuations in our operating results, announcements of technological
innovations or events affecting other companies in the electronics industry, currency fluctuations, general market fluctuations,
and macro-economic conditions may cause the market price of our ordinary shares to decline. Stock price fluctuations could
impact the value of our equity compensation, which could affect our ability to recruit and retain employees.
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Changes in our credit rating may make it more expensive for us to raise additional capital or to borrow additional funds. We
are also exposed to interest rate fluctuations on our outstanding borrowings and investments.

Our credit is rated by credit rating agencies. Our 5.000% Notes due 2023, our 4.750% Notes due 2025, our 3.750% Notes
due 2026, our 4.875% Notes due 2029 and our 4.875% Notes due 2030 are currently rated BBB- by Standard and Poor's
("S&P") which is considered to be “investment grade” by S&P, rated Baa3 by Moody’s which is considered to be “investment
grade” by Moody's, and rated BBB- by Fitch which is considered to be "investment grade" by Fitch. Any decline in our credit
rating may make it more expensive for us to raise additional capital in the future on terms that are acceptable to us, if at all,
negatively impact the price of our ordinary shares, increase our interest payments under some of our existing debt agreements,
and have other negative implications on our business, many of which are beyond our control. In addition, the interest rate
payable on some of our credit facilities is subject to adjustment from time to time if our credit ratings change. Thus, any
potential future negative change in our credit rating may increase the interest rate payable on these credit facilities.

In addition, we are exposed to interest rate risk under our variable rate terms loans, bilateral facilities and revolving credit
facility for indebtedness we have incurred or may incur under such facilities. The interest rates on our borrowings under our
revolving credit facility may be based on either (i) a margin over LIBOR or (ii) the base rate (the greatest of the agent's prime
rate, the federal funds rate plus 0.50% and LIBOR for a one-month interest period plus 1.00%) plus an applicable margin, in
each case depending on our credit rating, and other borrowings also may be based on LIBOR. Refer to the discussion in note 9
to the consolidated financial statements, "Bank Borrowings and Long-Term Debt" for further details of our debt obligations.
We are also exposed to interest rate risk on our invested cash balances, our securitization facilities and our factoring activities.

In addition, the U.K.’s Financial Conduct Authority, which regulates LIBOR, announced the publication cessation dates
for all U.S. Dollar and non-U.S. Dollar LIBOR settings. Most settings ceased at the end of December 2021 and the remaining
U.S. Dollar settings (overnight and one-, three-, six- and twelve-month U.S. Dollar LIBOR) will cease at the end of June 2023.
Although significant progress has been made by regulators, industry bodies, and market participants to introduce and implement
the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) as a replacement rate for U.S. Dollar LIBOR, there is no assurance that an
alternative reference rate such as SOFR will achieve sufficient market acceptance when the publication of the principal tenors
of U.S. Dollar LIBOR is discontinued, or that market participants will otherwise implement effective transitional arrangements
to address that discontinuation. Such failure to implement an alternative reference rate could result in widespread dislocation in
the financial markets and volatility in the pricing of debt facilities negatively affecting our access to the borrowing of additional
funds. Furthermore, while contractual arrangements in connection with certain of our debt facilities contemplate the transition
from LIBOR to an alternative reference rate (including SOFR), the consequences of such transition cannot be entirely predicted
and could result in an increase in the cost of our borrowings on our variable rate debt, which could adversely impact our interest
expense, results of operations, and cash flows.

We are subject to risks associated with investments.

We invest in private funds and companies for strategic reasons and may not realize a return on our investments. We make
investments in private funds and companies to further our strategic objectives, support key business initiatives, and develop
business relationships with related portfolio companies. Many of the instruments in which we invest are non-marketable at the
time of our initial investment. If any of the funds or companies in which we invest fail, we could lose all or part of our
investment. From time-to-time we have identified observable price changes, or impairments in investments, and we have
written down investments' fair values and recognized a loss.

Changes in financial accounting standards or policies have affected, and in the future may affect, our reported financial
condition or results of operations.

We prepare our financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP. These principles are subject to interpretation by the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA), the SEC and
various bodies formed to interpret and create accounting policies. For example, significant changes to lease accounting rules
have been enacted and applied to us in fiscal year 2020 per Accounting Standard Update ("ASU") 2016-02 "Leases." Changes
to accounting rules or challenges to our interpretation or application of the rules by regulators may have a material adverse
effect on our reported financial results or on the way we conduct business. Refer to "Recently Adopted Accounting
Pronouncements" within note 2 of Item 8§, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

International Risks

Weak global economic conditions, geopolitical uncertainty and instability in financial markets may adversely affect our
business, results of operations, financial condition, and access to capital markets.

Our operations and the execution of our business plans and strategies are subject to the effects of global economic trends,
geopolitical risks and demand or supply shocks from events that could include political crises and conflict (including the
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Russian invasion of Ukraine), war, a major terrorist attack, natural disasters or actual or threatened public health emergencies
(such as COVID-19, including virus variants and resurgences and responses to those developments such as continued or new
government-imposed lockdowns and travel restrictions). They are also affected by local and regional economic environments,
supply chain constraints and policies in the U.S. and other markets that we serve, including interest rates, monetary policy,
inflation, economic growth, recession, commodity prices, currency volatility, currency controls or other limitations on the
ability to expatriate cash, sovereign debt levels and actual or anticipated defaults on sovereign debt. For example, the ongoing
conflict between Russia and Ukraine and the related sanctions and other measures imposed by the European Union, the U.S.
and other countries and organizations in response have led, and may continue to lead, to disruption and instability in global
markets, supply chains and industries that could negatively impact our businesses, financial condition and results of operations.
Additionally, changes in local economic conditions or outlooks, such as lower rates of investment or economic growth in
China, Europe or other key markets, affect the demand for or profitability of our products and services outside the U.S., and the
impact on the Company could be significant given the extent of our activities outside the United States. Political changes and
trends such as populism, protectionism, economic nationalism and sentiment toward multinational companies and resulting
tariffs, export controls or other trade barriers, or changes to tax or other laws and policies, have been and may continue to be
disruptive and costly to our businesses, and these can interfere with our global operating model, supply chain, production costs,
customer relationships and competitive position. Further escalation of specific trade tensions, including intensified decoupling
between the U.S. and China, or in global trade conflict more broadly could be harmful to global economic growth or to our
business in or with China or other countries, and related decreases in confidence or investment activity in the global markets
would adversely affect our business performance. We also do business in many emerging market jurisdictions where economic,
political and legal risks are heightened. Further, an increase in inflation rates, such as those the market is currently experiencing,
could affect our profitability and cash flows, due to higher wages, higher operating costs, higher financing costs, and/or higher
supplier prices. Inflation may also adversely affect foreign exchange rates. We may be unable to pass along such higher costs to
our customers. In addition, Inflation may adversely affect customers’ financing costs, cash flows, and profitability, which could
adversely impact their operations and our ability to collect receivables.

These conditions may result in reduced consumer and business confidence and spending in many countries, a tightening
in the credit markets, a reduced level of liquidity in many financial markets, high volatility in credit, fixed income and equity
markets, currency exchange rate fluctuations, and global economic uncertainty. In addition, longer term disruptions in the
capital and credit markets could adversely affect our access to liquidity needed for our business. If financial institutions that
have extended credit commitments to us are adversely affected by the conditions of the U.S. and international capital markets,
they may become unable to fund borrowings under their credit commitments to us, which could have an adverse impact on our
financial condition and our ability to borrow additional funds, if needed, for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions,
research and development and other corporate purposes.

We conduct operations in a number of countries and are subject to the risks inherent in international operations.

The geographic distances between the Americas, Asia and Europe create a number of logistical and communications
challenges for us. These challenges include managing operations across multiple time zones, directing the manufacture and
delivery of products across long distances, coordinating procurement of components and raw materials and their delivery to
multiple locations, and coordinating the activities and decisions of the core management team, which is based in a number of
different countries.

Facilities in several different locations may be involved at different stages of the production process of a single product,
leading to additional logistical difficulties.

Because our manufacturing operations are located in a number of countries throughout the Americas, Asia and Europe,
we are subject to risks of changes in economic, social and political conditions in those countries, including:

e fluctuations in the value of local currencies;

*  labor unrest, difficulties in staffing and geographic labor shortages;

* longer payment cycles;

e cultural differences;

* increases in duties, tariffs, and taxation levied on our products including anti-dumping and countervailing duties;

« trade restrictions including limitations on imports or exports of components or assembled products, unilaterally or
bilaterally;

» trade sanctions and related regulatory enforcement actions and other proceedings;
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e potential trade wars;

* increased scrutiny by the media and other third parties of labor practices within our industry (including but not limited
to forced labor and adverse working conditions) which may result in allegations of violations, more stringent and
burdensome labor laws and regulations and inconsistency in the enforcement and interpretation of such laws and
regulations, higher labor costs, increased risk of cross-border cargo being detained or seized and/or loss of revenues if
our customers become dissatisfied with our labor practices and diminish or terminate their relationship with us;

» inflationary pressures, such as those the market is currently experiencing, which may increase costs for materials,
supplies, and services;

*  imposition of restrictions on currency conversion or the transfer of funds;

* environmental protection laws and regulations, including those related to climate change;
«  expropriation of private enterprises;

» ineffective legal protection of our intellectual property rights in certain countries;

e natural disasters;

*  exposure to infectious disease, epidemics and pandemics, including the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, on our
business operations in geographic locations impacted by the outbreak and on the business operations of our customers
and suppliers;

* inability of international customers and suppliers to obtain financing resulting from tightening of credit in international
financial markets;

+  government shutdowns, lockdowns and quarantines due to COVID-19, which may result in temporary closure of
facilities or slowdowns in production;

»  ongoing global supply chain disruptions, slowing the ability of our facilities to import necessary materials and export
our products;

»  political unrest; and
* apotential reversal of current favorable policies encouraging foreign investment or foreign trade by our host countries.

We operate in a number of different countries and jurisdictions, and we cannot anticipate the potential impact that new or
current restrictions in each of these countries or jurisdictions due to COVID-19 may have on our manufacturing operations and
facilities, our supply chain, and our business more generally.

The attractiveness of our services to customers and our ability to conduct business with certain customers can be affected
by changes in U.S. and other countries' trade policies. In 2018, the U.S. imposed tariffs on a large variety of products of
Chinese origin. The U.S. government also, effective May 10, 2019, increased tariffs on $200 billion of Chinese goods to 25%.
Further, on May 15, 2019, President Trump issued an executive order designed to secure the information and communications
technology and services supply chain, which would restrict the acquisition or use in the United States of information and
communications technology or services designed, developed, manufactured, or supplied by persons owned by, controlled by, or
subject to the jurisdiction or direction of foreign adversaries. The executive order is subject to implementation by the Secretary
of Commerce and applies to contracts entered into prior to the effective date of the order. In addition, the U.S. Commerce
Department has implemented additional restrictions and may implement further restrictions that would affect the conduct of
business with certain Chinese companies. A “phase one” trade deal signed between the U.S. and China on January 15, 2020
accompanied a U.S. decision to cancel a plan to increase tariffs on an additional list of Chinese products and to reduce the
tariffs imposed on May 13, 2019 from 15% to 7.5% effective February 14, 2020. With US-China discussions over the “phase
one” trade deal potentially stalled, there is a risk the current administration may consider raising tariffs on critical Chinese
industries while rolling back tariffs for other products. At present, the majority of tariff exclusions granted have expired and
many of the additional tariffs on Chinese origin goods remain, as do concerns over the stability of bilateral trade relations,
particularly given the limited scope of the phase one agreement. In addition, China has not met its obligations under the deal
and the economic disruption caused by the COVID-19 pandemic increases the potential for China to invoke the deal’s “disaster
clause,” which could further challenge US-China bilateral trade relations. Depending upon their duration and implementation as
well as our ability to mitigate their impact, these tariffs, the executive order and its implementation and other regulatory actions
could materially affect our business, including in the form of increased cost of goods sold, decreased margins, increased pricing
for customers, and reduced sales.
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In addition, US-China bilateral trade relations remain uncertain. At this time, there is no assurance that a broader trade
agreement will be successfully negotiated between the United States and China to reduce or eliminate the existing tariffs.
Further, one of our former customers, Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd., and some of its affiliates have been added to the U.S.
Department of Commerce’s Entity List, and were recently made subject to enhanced restrictions designed to prevent them from
having access to foreign-produced items using U.S.-origin semiconductor technology and equipment; we could be subject to
reputational harm based on its business activities, including activities with sanctioned countries. In addition, some countries in
which we operate, such as Brazil, Hungary, India, Mexico, Malaysia and Poland, have experienced periods of slow or negative
growth, high inflation, significant currency devaluations or limited availability of foreign exchange. Furthermore, in countries
such as China, Brazil, India and Mexico, governmental authorities exercise significant influence over many aspects of the
economy, and their actions could have a significant effect on us.

Demand for Nextracker solar trackers could be indirectly depressed as a result of existing and/or increased tariffs, duties
or taxation of imported solar panels and cells. Moreover, the ongoing anti-dumping investigation by the U.S. Department of
Commerce into imports of crystalline silicon photovoltaic solar panels and cells from Cambodia, Malaysia, Thailand, and
Vietnam, which investigation might lead to retroactive and/or prospective tariffs on imports of panels and cells may, as a result
of increased costs, depress or delay demand for U.S. solar projects and Nextracker’s solar trackers in the U.S.

We could be seriously harmed by inadequate infrastructure, including lack of adequate power and water supplies,
transportation, raw materials and parts in countries in which we operate. In addition, we may encounter labor disruptions and
rising labor costs, in particular within the lower-cost regions in which we operate. Any increase in labor costs that we are
unable to recover in our pricing to our customers could adversely impact our operating results.

Operations in foreign countries also present risks associated with currency exchange and convertibility, inflation and
repatriation of earnings. Inflation may impact the Company’s profits and cash flows as well as adversely affect foreign
exchange rates. In some countries, economic and monetary conditions and other factors could affect our ability to convert our
cash distributions to U.S. dollars or other freely convertible currencies, or to move funds from our accounts in these countries.
Furthermore, the central bank of any of these countries may have the authority to suspend, restrict or otherwise impose
conditions on foreign exchange transactions or to approve distributions to foreign investors.

Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates could increase our operating costs.

We have manufacturing operations and industrial parks that are located in various part of the world, including Asia,
Eastern Europe, Mexico and Brazil. A portion of our purchases and our sale transactions are denominated in currencies other
than the United States dollar. As a result, we are exposed to fluctuations in these currencies impacting our fixed cost overhead
or our supply base relative to the currencies in which we conduct transactions.

Currency exchange rates fluctuate on a daily basis as a result of a number of factors, including changes in a country's
political and economic policies. The primary impact of currency exchange fluctuations is on the cash, receivables, payables and
expenses of our operating entities. As part of our currency hedging strategy, we use financial instruments such as forward
exchange, swap contracts, and options to hedge our foreign currency exposure in order to reduce the short-term impact of
foreign currency rate fluctuations on our operating results. If our hedging activities are not successful or if we change or reduce
these hedging activities in the future, we may experience significant unexpected fluctuations in our operating results as a result
of changes in exchange rates.

We are also exposed to risks related to the valuation of the Chinese currency relative to the U.S. dollar. The Chinese
currency is the renminbi ("RMB"). A significant increase in the value of the RMB could adversely affect our financial results
and cash flows by increasing both our manufacturing costs and the costs of our local supply base. Additionally, the recent
COVID-19 pandemic could contribute to foreign currency volatility. Volatility in the functional and non-functional currencies
of our entities and the United States dollar could seriously harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Legal and Regulatory Risks

We are subject to risks relating to litigation and regulatory investigations and proceedings, which may have a material
adverse effect on our business.

From time to time, we are involved in various claims, suits, investigations and legal proceedings. Additional legal claims
or regulatory matters may arise in the future and could involve matters relating to commercial disputes, government regulatory
and compliance, intellectual property, antitrust, tax, employment or shareholder issues, product liability claims and other issues
on a global basis. If we receive an adverse judgment in any such matter, we could be required to pay substantial damages and
cease certain practices or activities. Regardless of the merits of the claims, litigation and other proceedings may be both time-
consuming and disruptive to our business. The defense and ultimate outcome of any lawsuits or other legal proceedings may
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result in higher operating expenses and a decrease in operating margin, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, or results of operations.

Any existing or future lawsuits could be time-consuming, result in significant expense and divert the attention and
resources of our management and other key employees, as well as harm our reputation, business, financial condition or results
of operations.

On February 14, 2019, we submitted an initial notification of voluntary disclosure to the U.S. Department of the
Treasury, Office of Foreign Assets Control ("OFAC") regarding possible noncompliance with U.S. economic sanctions
requirements among certain non-U.S. Flex-affiliated operations. On September 28, 2020, we made a submission to OFAC that
completed the Company’s voluntary disclosure based on the results of an internal investigation regarding the matter. On June
11, 2021, we notified OFAC that we had identified possible additional relevant transactions at one non-U.S. Flex-affiliated
operation. We submitted an update to OFAC on November 16, 2021 reporting on the results of our review of those transactions.
We intend to continue to cooperate fully with OFAC in this matter going forward. Nonetheless, it is reasonably possible that we
could be subject to penalties that could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash
flows.

If our compliance policies are breached, we may incur significant legal and financial exposure.

We have implemented local and global compliance policies to ensure compliance with our legal obligations across our
operations. A significant legal risk resulting from our international operations is compliance with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act or similar local laws of the countries in which we do business, including the UK Anti-Bribery Act, which
prohibits covered companies from making payments to foreign government officials to assist in obtaining or retaining business.
Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics prohibits corrupt payments on a global basis and precludes us from offering or giving
anything of value to a government official for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business, to win a business advantage or to
improperly influence a decision regarding Flex. Nevertheless, there can be no assurance that all of our employees and agents
will refrain from taking actions in violation of this and our related anti-corruption policies and procedures. Any such violation
could have a material adverse effect on our business.

If our products or components contain defects, demand for our services may decline and we may be exposed to product
liability and product warranty liability.

Defects in the products we manufacture or design, whether caused by a design, engineering, manufacturing or component
failure or deficiencies in our manufacturing processes, could result in product or component failures, which may damage our
business reputation and expose us to product liability or product warranty claims.

Product liability claims may include liability for personal injury or property damage. Product warranty claims may
include liability to pay for the recall, repair or replacement of a product or component. Although we generally allocate liability
for these claims in our contracts with our customers, increasingly we are unsuccessful in allocating such liability, and even
where we have allocated liability to our customers, our customers may not have the resources to satisfy claims for costs or
liabilities arising from a defective product or component for which they have assumed responsibility.

If we design, engineer or manufacture a product or component that is found to cause any personal injury or property
damage or is otherwise found to be defective, we could spend a significant amount of money to resolve the claim. In addition,
product liability and product recall insurance coverage are expensive and may not be available for some or all of our services
offerings on acceptable terms, in sufficient amounts, or at all. A successful product liability or product warranty claim in excess
of our insurance coverage or any material claim for which insurance coverage is denied, limited or is not available could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We are subject to the risk of increased income taxes.

We are subject to taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Our future effective tax rates could be affected by changes in the mix
of earnings in countries with differing statutory rates and changes in tax laws or their interpretation including changes related to
tax holidays or tax incentives. The international tax environment continues to change as a result of both coordinated efforts by
governments and unilateral measures designed by individual countries, both intended to tackle concerns over perceived
international tax avoidance techniques, which could ultimately have an adverse effect on the taxation of international
businesses. In the U.S., various proposals to raise corporate income taxes are under active consideration. In addition, legislative
changes may result from the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development’s Base Erosion and Profit Shifting
Project. In 2021, more than 140 countries tentatively signed on to a framework that imposes a minimum tax rate of 15%, among
other provisions. As this framework is subject to further negotiation and implementation by each member country, the timing
and ultimate impact of any such changes on our tax obligations are uncertain. Any such changes, if adopted, could adversely
impact our effective tax rate and may have a material impact on our results of operations, cash flows and financial position.
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Our taxes could also increase if certain tax holidays or incentives are not renewed upon expiration, or if tax rates
applicable to us in such jurisdictions are otherwise increased. Our continued ability to qualify for specific tax holiday
extensions will depend on, among other things, our anticipated investment and expansion in these countries and the manner in
which the local governments interpret the requirements for modifications, extensions or new incentives.

In addition, the Company and its subsidiaries are regularly subject to tax return audits and examinations by various taxing
jurisdictions around the world. In determining the adequacy of our provision for income taxes, we regularly assess the
likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from tax examinations. While it is often difficult to predict the final outcome or the
timing of the resolution of a tax examination, we believe that our reserves for uncertain tax benefits reflect the outcome of tax
positions that are more likely than not to occur. However, we cannot assure you that the final determination of any tax
examinations will not be materially different than that which is reflected in our income tax provisions and accruals. Should
additional taxes be assessed as a result of a current or future examination, there could be a material adverse effect on our tax
provision, operating results, financial position and cash flows in the period or periods for which that determination is made.

We may not meet regulatory quality standards applicable to our manufacturing and quality processes for medical devices,
which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

As a medical device manufacturer, we have additional compliance requirements. We are required to register with the U.S.
Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") and are subject to periodic inspection by the FDA for compliance with the FDA's
Quality System Regulation ("QSR") requirements, which require manufacturers of medical devices to adhere to certain
regulations, including testing, quality control and documentation procedures. Compliance with applicable regulatory
requirements is subject to continual review and is rigorously monitored through periodic inspections and product field
monitoring by the FDA. If any FDA inspection reveals noncompliance with QSR or other FDA regulations, and the Company
does not address the observation adequately to the satisfaction of the FDA, the FDA may take action against us. FDA actions
may include issuing a letter of inspectional observations, issuing a warning letter, imposing fines, bringing an action against the
Company and its officers, requiring a recall of the products we manufactured for our customers, refusing requests for clearance
or approval of new products or withdrawal of clearance or approval previously granted, issuing an import detention on products
entering the U.S. from an offshore facility, or shutting down a manufacturing facility. If any of these actions were to occur, it
would harm our reputation and cause our business to suffer.

In the EU, we are required to maintain certain standardized certifications in order to sell our products and must undergo
periodic inspections to obtain and maintain these certifications. Continued noncompliance to the EU regulations could stop the
flow of products into the EU from us or from our customers. In China, the Safe Food and Drug Administration controls and
regulates the manufacture and commerce of healthcare products. We must comply with the regulatory laws applicable to
medical device manufacturers, or our ability to manufacture products in China could be impacted. In Japan, the Pharmaceutical
Affairs Laws regulate the manufacture and commerce of healthcare products. These regulations also require that subcontractors
manufacturing products intended for sale in Japan register with authorities and submit to regulatory audits. Other Asian
countries and Latin America where we operate have similar laws regarding the regulation of medical device manufacturing.

Our failure to comply with environmental laws could adversely affect our business.

We are subject to extensive and changing federal, state, local and international environmental, health and safety laws and
regulations, concerning, among other things, the health and safety of our employees, the generation, use, storage, transportation,
discharge and disposal of certain materials (including chemicals and hazardous substances) used in or derived from our
manufacturing processes. We are also subject to laws and regulations governing the recyclability of products, the materials that
may be included in products, and our obligations to dispose of these products after end users have finished with them.
Additionally, we may be exposed to liability to our customers relating to the materials that may be included in the components
that we procure for our customers' products. Any violation or alleged violation by us of environmental laws could subject us to
significant costs, fines or other penalties.

We are also required to comply with an increasing number of global and local product environmental compliance
regulations focused on the restriction of certain hazardous substances. We are subject to the EU directives, including the
Restrictions on RoHS, the WEEE as well as the EU's REACH regulation. In addition, new technical classifications of e-Waste
being discussed in the Basel Convention technical working group could affect both our customers' abilities and obligations in
electronics repair and refurbishment. Also of note is China's Management Methods for Controlling Pollution Caused by
electrical information products regulation, commonly referred to as "China RoHS", which restricts the importation into and
production within China of electrical equipment containing certain hazardous materials. Similar legislation has been or may be
enacted in other jurisdictions, including in the United States. RoHS and other similar legislation bans or restricts the use of lead,
mercury and certain other specified substances in electronics products and WEEE requires EU importers and/or producers to
assume responsibility for the collection, recycling and management of waste electronic products and components. We have
developed rigorous risk mitigating compliance programs designed to meet the needs of our customers as well as applicable
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regulations. These programs may include collecting compliance data from our suppliers, full laboratory testing and public
reporting of other environmental metrics such as carbon emissions, electronic waste and water, and we also require our supply
chain to comply. Non-compliance could potentially result in our customers refusing to purchase our products, and significant
costs, penalties, and/or other sanctions, such as restrictions on our products entering certain jurisdictions. In the case of WEEE,
the compliance responsibility rests primarily with the EU importers and/or producers rather than with EMS companies.
However, customers may turn to EMS companies for assistance in meeting their obligations under WEEE.

In addition, we are responsible for the cleanup of contamination at some of our current and former manufacturing
facilities and at some third party sites. If more stringent compliance or cleanup standards under environmental laws or
regulations are imposed, or the results of future testing and analyses at our current or former operating facilities indicate that we
are responsible for the release of hazardous substances into the air, ground and/or water, we may be subject to additional
liability. Additional environmental matters may arise in the future at sites where no problem is currently known or at sites that
we may acquire in the future. Some environmental laws impose liability without fault, leading companies to be responsible for
investigating, removing, or remediating possible hazardous substances released at properties it owns or operates, regardless of
when such substances were released. Additionally, we could be required to alter our manufacturing and operations and incur
substantial expense in order to comply with environmental regulations. Our failure to comply with environmental laws and
regulations or adequately address contaminated sites could limit our ability to expand our facilities or could require us to incur
significant expenses, which would harm our business.

Failure to comply with domestic or international employment and related laws could result in the payment of significant
damages, which would reduce our net income.

We are subject to a variety of domestic and foreign employment laws, including those related to safety, wages and
overtime, discrimination, whistle-blowing, classification of employees and severance payments. Enforcement activity relating
to these laws, particularly outside of the United States, can increase as a result of increased media attention due to violations by
other companies, changes in law, political and other factors. There can be no assurance that we won't be found to have violated
such laws in the future, due to a more aggressive enforcement posture by governmental authorities or for any other reason. Any
such violations could lead to the assessment of fines against us by federal, state or foreign regulatory authorities or damages
payable to employees, which fines could be substantial and which would reduce our net income.

Our business could be impacted as a result of actions by activist shareholders or others.

We may be subject, from time to time, to legal and business challenges in the operation of our company due to actions
instituted by activist shareholders or others. Responding to such actions could be costly and time-consuming, may not align
with our business strategies and could divert the attention of our Board of Directors and senior management from the pursuit of
our business strategies. Perceived uncertainties as to our future direction as a result of shareholder activism may lead to the
perception of a change in the direction of the business or other instability and may make it more difficult to attract and retain
qualified personnel and business partners and may affect our relationships with vendors, customers and other third parties.

Social and environmental responsibility policies and provisions may be difficult to comply with and may impose costs on us.
Increasing attention on environmental, social and governance (ESG) matters may have a negative impact on our business,
impose additional costs on us, and expose us to additional risks.

Companies are facing increasing attention from investors, customers, consumers, and other stakeholders relating to ESG
matters, including environmental stewardship, social responsibility, diversity, equity, and inclusion, and workplace conduct.
There is an increasing focus on sustainability including ESG in our industry. A number of our customers have adopted, or may
adopt, procurement policies that include social and environmental responsibility provisions that their suppliers should comply
with, or they may seek to include such provisions in their procurement terms and conditions. In addition, an increasing number
of investors have adopted, or may adopt, ESG policies with which they expect their portfolio companies to comply. We
currently comply with the sustainability standards set forth by various voluntary sustainability initiatives and organizations, and
we have joined the U.N. Global Compact, a voluntary initiative for businesses to develop, implement and disclose sustainability
policies and practices. These social and environmental responsibility and ESG practices, policies, provisions and initiatives are
subject to change, can be unpredictable, and may be difficult and expensive for us to comply with. Evolving concerns may lead
to subsequent international, national, regional and local legislative and regulatory reactions.

We have established sustainability and ESG programs aligned with sound environmental, social and governance
principles. These programs reflect our current initiatives and are not guarantees that we will be able to achieve them. Our ability
to successfully execute these initiatives and accurately report our progress presents numerous operational, financial, legal,
reputational and other risks, many of which are outside our control, and all of which could have a material negative impact on
our business. Additionally, the implementation of these initiatives imposes additional costs on us. If our ESG initiatives fail to
satisfy investors, current or potential customers, consumers and our other stakeholders, our reputation, our ability to sell
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products and services to customers, our ability to attract or retain employees, and our attractiveness as an investment, business
partner or acquirer could be negatively impacted. Similarly, our failure or perceived failure to pursue or fulfill our goals, targets
and objectives or to satisfy various reporting standards within the timelines we announce, or at all, could also have similar
negative impacts and expose us to government enforcement actions and private litigation.

Climate change, and the legal and regulatory initiatives related to climate change, could adversely affect our business,
results of operations and financial condition.

There is increasing concern that a gradual increase in global average temperatures due to increased concentration of
carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases in the atmosphere will cause significant changes in weather patterns around the
globe and an increase in the frequency and severity of natural disasters. Changes in weather patterns and an increased
frequency, intensity and duration of extreme weather conditions, such as hurricanes, earthquakes, wildfires, water or other
natural resource shortages, droughts, or flooding, could, among other things, pose physical risks to and impair our production
capabilities, disrupt the operations of our supply chain and infrastructure, and impact our customers and their demand for our
services. The geographic locations of our manufacturing facilities could intensify the negative impacts resulting from any of
these issues. As a result, the effects of climate change could have a long-term adverse impact on our business, results of
operations and financial condition. In many of the countries in which we operate, governmental bodies are increasingly enacting
legislation and regulations in response to the potential impacts of climate change. These laws and regulations have, and will
continue to have, the potential to impact our operations directly or indirectly as a result of required compliance by us and our
suppliers. In addition, we have committed to cut our operational emissions in half by 2030 as part of our long-term
sustainability strategy and we may take additional voluntary steps to mitigate our impact on climate change. As a result, we
may experience increases in energy, production, transportation and raw material costs, capital expenditures and insurance
premiums and deductibles. Inconsistency of legislation and regulations among jurisdictions may also affect the costs of
compliance with such laws and regulations. Any assessment of the potential impact of future climate change legislation,
regulations or industry standards, as well as any international treaties and accords, is uncertain given the scope of potential
regulatory change in the countries in which we operate. Given the political significance and uncertainty around the impact of
climate change and how it should be addressed, we cannot predict how legislation and regulation will affect our financial
condition, operating performance and ability to compete. Furthermore, even without such regulation, increased awareness and
any adverse publicity in the global marketplace about potential impacts on climate change by us or other companies in our
industry could harm our reputation. Any of the foregoing could result in a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

The success of certain of our activities depends on our ability to protect our intellectual property rights; claims of
infringement or misuse of intellectual property and/or breach of license agreement provisions against our customers or us
could harm our business.

We retain certain intellectual property rights to some of the technologies that we develop as part of our engineering,
design, and manufacturing services and components offerings. The measures we have taken to prevent unauthorized use of our
technology may not be successful. If we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights, this could reduce or eliminate the
competitive advantages of our proprietary technology, which would harm our business.

Our engineering, design and manufacturing services and component offerings involve the creation and use of intellectual
property rights, which subject us to the risk of claims of infringement or misuse of intellectual property from third parties and/
or breach of our agreements with third parties, as well as claims arising from the allocation of intellectual property risk among
us and our customers. From time to time, we enter into intellectual property licenses (e.g., patent licenses and software licenses)
with third parties which obligate us to report covered behavior to the licensor and pay license fees to the licensor for certain
activities or products, or that enable our use of third party technologies. We may also decline to enter into licenses for
intellectual property that we do not think is useful for or used in our operations, or for which our customers or suppliers have
licenses or have assumed responsibility.

Given the diverse and varied nature of our business and the location of our business around the world, certain activities
we perform, such as providing assembly services in China and India, may fall outside the scope of those licenses or may not be
subject to the applicable intellectual property rights. Our licensors may disagree and claim royalties are owed for such activities.
In addition, the basis (e.g., base price) for any royalty amounts owed are audited by licensors and may be challenged. Our
customers are increasingly requiring us to indemnify them against the risk of intellectual property-related claims and licensors
are claiming that activities we perform are covered by licenses to which we are a party.

If any claims of infringement or misuse of intellectual property from third parties and/or breach of our agreements with
third parties, as well as claims arising from the allocation of intellectual property risk among us and our customers, are brought
against us or our customers, whether or not these have merit, we could be required to expend significant resources in defense of
such claims. In the event of such a claim, we may be required to spend a significant amount of money to develop alternatives or
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obtain licenses or to resolve the issue through litigation. We may not be successful in developing such alternatives or obtaining
such licenses on reasonable terms or at all, and any such litigation might not be resolved in our favor, in which cases we may be
required to curtail certain of our services and offerings. Additionally, litigation could be lengthy and costly, and could
materially harm our financial condition regardless of outcome.

We also face certain heightened risks to our intellectual property rights due to our extensive operations in foreign
jurisdictions, including the risk of theft or misuse of our intellectual property rights in certain foreign jurisdictions. The laws of
certain countries in which we operate may not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United
States, and the mechanisms to enforce intellectual property rights may be inadequate to protect our rights, which could harm
our business.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our facilities consist of a global network of industrial parks, regional manufacturing operations, and design, engineering
and product introduction centers, providing approximately 26.7 million square feet of productive capacity as of March 31,
2022.

The composition of the square footage of our facilities, by region, is as follows:

Leased Owned Total
(Manufacturing) (Manufacturing) (Manufacturing) Non-manufacturing Total

(In million square feet)

Asia 6.2 5.9 12.1 6.9 19.0
Americas 3.8 5.5 9.3 8.6 17.9
Europe 2.5 2.8 5.3 5.8 11.1
Total 12.5 14.2 26.7 21.3 48.0

Our facilities include large industrial parks, ranging in size from approximately 100,000 to 4.3 million square feet in
Brazil, China, India, and Mexico. We also have regional manufacturing operations, generally ranging in size from under
100,000 to approximately 2.7 million square feet in Austria, Brazil, Canada, China, Czech Republic, Denmark, Hungary, India,
Indonesia, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Malaysia, Mexico, the Netherlands, Poland, Romania, Singapore, Spain, Switzerland,
Ukraine, the United Kingdom, and the United States. We also have smaller design and engineering centers, innovation centers
and product introduction centers at a number of locations in the world's major industrial and electronics markets.

Our facilities are well maintained and suitable for the operations conducted. The productive capacity of our plants is
adequate for current needs.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

For a description of our material legal proceedings, see note 14 "Commitments and Contingencies" to the consolidated
financial statements included under Item 8, which is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable
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PART II

ITEMS. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

MARKET AND SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
Our ordinary shares are quoted on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol "FLEX."

As of May 16, 2022, there were 2,890 holders of record of our ordinary shares. This does not include persons whose
stock is in nominee or "street name" accounts through brokers.

DIVIDENDS

Since inception, we have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our ordinary shares. We currently do not have plans
to pay any cash dividends in fiscal year 2023.

CERTAIN TAXATION CONSIDERATIONS UNDER SINGAPORE LAW

Dividends. Singapore does not impose a withholding tax on dividends. All dividends on our ordinary shares are not
taxable in Singapore to sharcholders, provided that any dividends are paid to shareholders outside of Singapore for this purpose
and such dividends are not received or deemed to be received in Singapore by shareholders and are not derived by shareholders
pursuant to any trade or business carried on in Singapore. Certain tax exemptions are available for foreign-sourced dividends
received by Singapore tax residents, subject to conditions. Since inception, we have not declared nor paid any cash dividends on
our ordinary shares, and we currently do not have plans to pay any cash dividends.

Gains on Disposal. Under current Singapore tax law there is no tax on capital gains, and thus any profits from the
disposal of shares are not taxable in Singapore unless the gains arising from the disposal of shares are income in nature and
subject to tax, especially if they arise from activities which the Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore regards as the carrying
on of a trade or business in Singapore (in which case, the profits on the sale would be taxable as trade or business profits rather
than capital gains).

Shareholders who apply, or who are required to apply, the Singapore Financial Reporting Standard ("FRS") 39, FRS 109
or Singapore Financial Reporting Standard (International) 9 (“SFRS(I) 9”) (as the case may be) for the purposes of Singapore
income tax may be required to recognize gains or losses (not being gains or losses in the nature of capital) in accordance with
the provisions of FRS 39, FRS 109 or SFRS(I) 9 (as the case may be) (as modified by the applicable provisions of Singapore
income tax law) even though no sale or disposal of shares is made.

Stamp Duty. There is no stamp duty payable for holding shares, and no duty is payable on the issue of new shares.
Singapore stamp duty is payable on a transfer of existing shares if there is an instrument of transfer executed in Singapore or if
there is an instrument of transfer executed outside Singapore that is received in Singapore. In such situations, stamp duty is
payable on the instrument of transfer of such shares at the rate of 0.2% of the consideration for, or market value of, such shares,
whichever is higher. The stamp duty is borne by the purchaser unless there is an agreement to the contrary. If the instrument of
transfer is executed outside of Singapore, the stamp duty must be paid only if the instrument of transfer is received in
Singapore.

Estate Taxation. Singapore estate duty was abolished for deaths occurring on or after February 15, 2008.

Tax Treaties Regarding Withholding. There is no reciprocal income tax treaty between the U.S. and Singapore
regarding withholding taxes on dividends and capital gains.

STOCK PRICE PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following stock price performance graph and accompanying information is not deemed to be "soliciting material” or
to be "filed" with the SEC or subject to Regulation 144 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or to the liabilities of
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under
the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, regardless of any general incorporation language in any
such filing.

The graph below compares the cumulative total shareholder return on our ordinary shares, the Standard & Poor's 500
Stock Index and a peer group comprised of Benchmark Electronics, Inc., Celestica Inc., Jabil Inc., and Sanmina Corporation.
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The graph below assumes that $100 was invested in our ordinary shares, in the Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Index and in
the peer group described above on March 31, 2017 and reflects the annual return through March 31, 2022, assuming dividend
reinvestment.

The comparisons in the graph below are based on historical data and are not indicative of, or intended to forecast, the
possible future performances of our ordinary shares.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

Flex, the S&P 500 Index, and Peer Group
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Period Ending
—&— Flex Ltd. S&P 500 Index  ——— Peer Group
3/17 3/18 3/19 3/20 3/21 3/22
Flex Ltd. 100.00 97.20 59.52 49.85 108.99 110.42
S&P 500 Index 100.00 113.99 124.82 116.11 181.54 209.94
Peer Group 100.00 85.36 80.59 68.24 131.48 148.91

Prepared by Zacks Investment Research, Inc. Used with permission. All rights reserved. Copyright 1980-2022.

Index Data: Copyright Standard and Poor's, Inc. Used with permission. All rights reserved.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table provides information regarding purchases of our ordinary shares made by us for the period from
January 1, 2022 through March 31, 2022.

Average Total Number of Shares Approximate Dollar Value
Total Number Price Purchased as Part of of Shares that May Yet
of Shares Paid per Publicly Announced Be Purchased Under the
Period (2) Purchased (1) Share Plans or Programs Plans or Programs
January 1 - February 4, 2022 2,900,386 $  17.07 2,900,386 $ 551,406,982
February 5 - March 4, 2022 3,263,494 17.07 3,263,494 495,708,750
March 5 - March 31, 2022 7,900 15.43 7,900 495,586,831
Total 6,171,780 6,171,780

(1) During the period from January 1, 2022 through March 31, 2022, all purchases were made pursuant to the program discussed below
in open market transactions. All purchases were made in accordance with Rule 10b-18 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

(2) On August 4, 2021, our Board of Directors authorized repurchases of our outstanding ordinary shares for up to $1.0 billion. This is
in accordance with the share purchase mandate whereby our shareholders approved a repurchase limit of 20% of our issued ordinary
shares outstanding at the Annual General Meeting held on the same date as the Board authorization. As of March 31, 2022, shares
in the aggregate amount of $495.6 million were available to be repurchased under the current plan.

RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES

None.
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ITEM 6. [RESERVED]

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations in conjunction
with our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data.” In addition to historical consolidated financial information, the following discussion and analysis contains forward-
looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties, and assumptions. Our actual results could differ materially from those
anticipated by these forward-looking statements as a result of many factors. We discuss factors that we believe could cause or
contribute to these differences below and elsewhere in this report, including those set forth under Item 1A,“Risk Factors.”

OVERVIEW

We are the diversified manufacturing partner of choice that helps market-leading brands design, build and deliver
innovative products that improve the world. Through the collective strength of a global workforce across approximately 30
countries with responsible, sustainable operations, we deliver advanced manufacturing solutions and operate one of the most
trusted global supply chains, supporting the entire product lifecycle with fulfillment, after-market, and circular economy
solutions for diverse industries including cloud, communications, enterprise, automotive, industrial, consumer devices, lifestyle,
healthcare, and energy. Beginning in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2022, as a result of the sale of certain Series A preferred
units in Nextracker LLC ("Nextracker LLC" or "Nextracker") to a third party and our continuing evaluation to separate the
Nextracker business and consistent with how our chief operating decision maker allocates resources, assesses performance and
makes strategic and operational decisions, we report Nextracker as a separate operating and reportable segment. Nextracker was
previously included in the Industrial reporting unit within the Flex Reliability Solutions segment. Our three operating and
reportable segments are:

. Flex Agility Solutions ("FAS"), which is comprised of the following end markets:

° Communications, Enterprise and Cloud ("CEC"), including data infrastructure, edge infrastructure
and communications infrastructure;

° Lifestyle, including appliances, consumer packaging, floorcare, micro mobility and audio; and

° Consumer Devices, including mobile and high velocity consumer devices.

. Flex Reliability Solutions ("FRS"), which is comprised of the following end markets:

° Automotive, including next generation mobility, autonomous, connectivity, electrification, and smart
technologies;

° Health Solutions, including medical devices, medical equipment, and drug delivery; and

° Industrial, including capital equipment, industrial devices, and renewables and grid edge.

° Nextracker, the leading provider of intelligent, integrated solar tracker and software solutions used in utility-
scale and ground-mounted distributed generation solar projects around the world. Nextracker's products
enable solar panels to follow the sun’s movement across the sky and optimize plant performance.

Our strategy is to provide customers with a full range of cost competitive, vertically-integrated global supply chain
solutions through which we can design, build, ship and service a complete packaged product for our customers. This enables
our customers to leverage our supply chain solutions to meet their product requirements throughout the entire product lifecycle.

Over the past few years, we have seen an increased level of diversification by many companies, primarily in the
technology sector. Some companies that have historically identified themselves as software providers, Internet service providers
or e-commerce retailers have entered the highly competitive and rapidly evolving technology hardware markets, such as mobile
devices, home entertainment and wearable devices. This trend has resulted in a significant change in the manufacturing and
supply chain solutions requirements of such companies. While the products have become more complex, the supply chain
solutions required by such companies have become more customized and demanding, and it has changed the manufacturing and
supply chain landscape significantly.

We use a portfolio approach to manage our extensive service offerings. As our customers change the way they go to
market, we have the capability to reorganize and rebalance our business portfolio in order to align with our customers' needs
and requirements in an effort to optimize operating results. The objective of our business model is to allow us to be flexible and
redeploy and reposition our assets and resources as necessary to meet specific customers' supply chain solution needs across all
the markets we serve and earn a return on our invested capital above the weighted average cost of that capital.
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During fiscal year 2021, in order to further support our strategy and build a sustainable organization, and after considering
that the economic recovery from the COVID-19 global pandemic will be slower than anticipated, we identified and engaged in
certain structural changes. See additional discussion regarding these restructuring actions below under "Results of Operations -
Restructuring charges".

We believe that our continued business transformation is strategically positioning us to take advantage of the long-term,
future growth prospects for outsourcing of advanced manufacturing capabilities, design and engineering services and after-
market services.

Update on the Impact of COVID-19 on our Business

With the second wave of the global pandemic including follow-on variants of COVID-19, there have been renewed
disease control measures being taken to limit the spread including movement bans and shelter-in-place orders. Although not
materially impacting our results for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2022, most recently, with the lockdowns in China, we have
also been experiencing temporary plant closures and/or restrictions at certain of our manufacturing facilities in China. We
continue to closely monitor the situation in all the locations where we operate. Our priority remains the welfare of our
employees. In addition, our end markets continue to be impacted by the global supply chain disruptions. Component shortages
and logistical constraints are pervasive across the entire value chain. COVID-19 related restrictions also contributed to a
declining workforce, including at ports and warehouses, as well as creating driver shortages around the world. We expect
persistent waves of COVID-19 to remain a headwind into the near future. Component shortages and significantly increased
logistic costs are also expected to persist at least in the near future as we are continuing to see increasing supply constraints and
costs. We continue to carefully monitor potential supply chain disruptions due to ongoing tightness in the overall component
environment. Refer to “Risk Factors - The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has materially and adversely affected our business
and results of operations. The duration and extent to which it will continue to adversely impact our business and results of
operations remains uncertain and could be material.”

We are continuously evaluating our capital structure in response to the current environment and expect that our current
financial condition, including our liquidity sources are adequate to fund future commitments. See additional discussion in the
Liquidity and Capital Resources section below.

Russian Invasion of Ukraine

We are monitoring and responding to the escalating conflict in Ukraine and the associated sanctions and other restrictions.
As of the date of this report, there is no material impact to our business operations and financial performance in Ukraine. The
full impact of the conflict on our business operations and financial performance remains uncertain and will depend on future
developments, including the severity and duration of the conflict and its impact on regional and global economic conditions.
We will continue to monitor the conflict and assess the related restrictions and other effects and pursue prudent decisions for
our team members, customers, and business.

Other Developments

On April 28, 2021, we announced that we confidentially submitted a draft registration statement on Form S-1 with the
SEC relating to the proposed initial public offering of Nextracker's Class A common stock. The initial public offering and its
timing are subject to market and other conditions and the SEC’s review process, and there can be no assurance that we will
proceed with such offering or any alternative transaction. Refer to "Risk Factors - We are pursuing alternatives for our
Nextracker business, including a full or partial separation of the business, through an initial public offering of Nextracker or
otherwise, which may not be consummated as or when planned or at all, and may not achieve the intended benefits."

On February 1, 2022, we sold Series A Preferred Units representing a 16.7% interest in Nextracker to TPG Rise Flash,
L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, which is managed or advised by TPG Rise Climate, TPG, Inc.’s dedicated renewables and
climate investing fund (“TPG Rise”), for an aggregate purchase price of $500 million. The sale of the 16.7% interest in
Nextracker reflects an implied value for Nextracker as of the date of the sale of $3.0 billion. See note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for further information.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy securities, and
shall not constitute an offer, solicitation or sale in any jurisdiction in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful
prior to registration or qualification under the securities laws of that jurisdiction.

Business Overview

We are one of the world's largest providers of global supply chain solutions, with revenues of $26.0 billion in the fiscal
year ended March 31, 2022. We have established an extensive network of manufacturing facilities in the world's major
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consumer and enterprise markets (Asia, the Americas, and Europe) to serve the growing outsourcing needs of both
multinational and regional customers. We design, build, ship, and service consumer and enterprise products for our customers
through a network of over 100 facilities in approximately 30 countries across four continents. We also provide intelligent,
integrated solar tracker and software solutions used in utility-scale and ground-mounted distributed generation solar projects
around the world. As of March 31, 2022, our total manufacturing capacity was approximately 27 million square feet. The
following tables set forth the relative percentages and dollar amounts of net sales by region and by country, and net property
and equipment, by country, based on the location of our manufacturing sites (amounts may not sum due to rounding):

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2022 2021

(In millions)

Net sales by region:

Americas $ 10,839 42 % $ 9,672 40 %

Asia 9,601 37 % 9,326 39 %

Europe 5,601 21 % 5,126 21 %
$ 26,041 $ 24,124

Net sales by country:

China $ 6,146 24 % $ 6,147 25 %
Mexico 5,059 19 % 4,413 18 %
U.S. 3,690 14 % 3,648 15 %
Brazil 2,022 8% 1,554 6%
Malaysia 1,866 7 % 1,563 6%
Hungary 1,230 5% 1313 5%
Other 6,028 23 % 5,486 25 %
$ 26,041 $ 24,124

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2022 2021

(In millions)

Property and equipment, net:

Mexico $ 626 29% § 553 26 %
U.S. 354 17 % 361 17 %
China 299 14 % 331 16 %
India 129 6% 166 8%
Hungary 118 6% 105 5%
Malaysia 110 5% 106 5%
Other 489 23 % 475 23 %
s 2105 3 2007

We believe that the combination of our extensive open innovation platform solutions, design and engineering services,
advanced supply chain management solutions and services, significant scale and global presence, and manufacturing campuses
in low-cost geographic areas provide us with a competitive advantage and strong differentiation in the market for designing,
manufacturing and servicing consumer and enterprise products for leading multinational and regional customers. Specifically,
we offer our customers the ability to simplify their global product development, manufacturing process, and after-sales services,
and enable them to meaningfully accelerate their time to market and cost savings.

Our operating results are affected by a number of factors, including the following:

. the impacts on our business due to component shortages, disruptions in transportation or other supply chain
related constraints including as a result of the COVID-19 global pandemic;
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. the effects of the COVID-19 global pandemic on our business and results of operations;
. changes in the macro-economic environment and related changes in consumer demand;

. the mix of the manufacturing services we are providing, the number, size, and complexity of new
manufacturing programs, the degree to which we utilize our manufacturing capacity, seasonal demand, and
other factors;

. the effects on our business when our customers are not successful in marketing their products, or when their
products do not gain widespread commercial acceptance;

. our ability to achieve commercially viable production yields and to manufacture components in commercial
quantities to the performance specifications demanded by our customers;

. the effects that current credit and market conditions (including as a result of the COVID-19 global pandemic
and the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine) could have on the liquidity and financial condition of
our customers and suppliers, including any impact on their ability to meet their contractual obligations;

. the effects on our business due to certain customers' products having short product lifecycles;
. our customers' ability to cancel or delay orders or change production quantities;

. our customers' decisions to choose internal manufacturing instead of outsourcing for their product
requirements;

. integration of acquired businesses and facilities;
. increased labor costs due to adverse labor conditions in the markets we operate;
. changes in tax legislation; and

. changes in trade regulations and treaties.
We also are subject to other risks as outlined in Item 1A, "Risk Factors".

Net sales for fiscal year 2022 increased approximately 8%, or $1.9 billion, to $26.0 billion from the prior year. The
increase in sales was notable in all three segments. Net sales for our FAS segment increased $0.5 billion, or 4.0%, from the
prior year, driven by an increase in our Lifestyle business, and to a lesser extent, an increase in our CEC business. These
increases were driven by a lesser impact from COVID-19 production pressure during the current year versus the prior year,
coupled with new ramps, customer expansions and continued recoveries in consumer spending, offset to some extent by the
scarcity of components and raw material and logistics constraints noted above. The increases noted in FAS during fiscal year
2022 were partially offset by a decrease in our Consumer Devices business primarily due to component shortages and planned
contract completions. Net sales for our FRS segment increased $1.1 billion, or 12%, from the prior year, primarily driven by an
increase in sales from our Industrial business, as a result of customer ramps and strong demand in EV charging and renewables,
semicap, and robotics, coupled with incremental revenue from the Anord Mardix acquisition. In addition, net sales for our
Automotive business increased due to new programs during fiscal year 2022 for our next generation mobility portfolio and
recovery from the depressed sales from factory shutdowns in the first quarter of fiscal year 2021. The increase in our
Automotive business was partially constrained by component shortages and OEM plant shutdowns during fiscal year 2022. Net
sales for our Nextracker segment increased $0.3 billion, or 22.0%, from the prior year, primarily driven by additional tracker
projects, most notably outside the United States. Our fiscal year 2022 gross profit totaled $1.9 billion, representing an increase
of $0.2 billion, or 15%, from the prior year. The increase was primarily driven by overall stronger cost discipline focused on
driving further productivity improvements, coupled with continued improvement in the mix of our business, lower restructuring
charges in the current fiscal year, benefits from prior restructuring activities and a lower direct and incremental impact from
COVID-19, coupled with the stronger demand in multiple end markets compared to the prior year period. Our net income
totaled $0.9 billion, representing an increase of $0.3 billion, or 53%, compared to fiscal year 2021, due to the factors explained
above along with an approximately $150 million non-cash gain recorded in fiscal year 2022 related to certain tax credits in
Brazil (See note 14 to the consolidated financial statements for further information).
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Cash provided by operations increased by approximately $0.9 billion to a cash inflow of $1.0 billion for fiscal year 2022
compared with a cash inflow of $0.1 billion for fiscal year 2021 primarily driven by the $0.3 billion increase in net income and
$0.6 billion increase in cash provided by operating assets and liabilities. Our net working capital ("NWC") is calculated as
current quarter accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts, plus inventories and contract assets, less accounts
payable. Our net working capital as a percentage of annualized sales for fiscal year 2022 increased to 15.4% from 11.5% in the
prior year as a direct result of elevated inventory levels due to component shortages and logistics constraints.

We believe adjusted free cash flow is an important liquidity metric because it measures, during a given period, the amount
of cash generated that is available to repay debt obligations, make investments, fund acquisitions, repurchase company shares
and for certain other activities. Our adjusted free cash flow is defined as cash from operations, less net purchases of property
and equipment to present adjusted cash flows on a consistent basis for investor transparency. We also excluded the impact to
cash flows related to certain vendor programs that is required for U.S. GAAP presentation as well as cash outflows related to
repayment of the outstanding balance of our asset-backed securitization ("ABS") programs in fiscal year 2021 as we utilized
proceeds from debt issuance to replace funding from the ABS programs for working capital purposes. Our adjusted free cash
flow was $0.6 billion and $0.7 billion for fiscal years 2022 and 2021, respectively. Refer to the Liquidity and Capital Resources
section for the adjusted free cash flows reconciliation to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure of cash flows
from operations. Cash used in investing activities increased by approximately $0.7 billion to a cash outflow of $1.0 billion for
fiscal year 2022, compared with a cash outflow of $0.2 billion for fiscal year 2021, primarily due to $0.5 billion of cash paid for
the acquisition of Anord Mardix in December 2021, net of cash acquired. Cash provided by financing activities decreased by
approximately $0.5 billion to a cash inflow of $0.3 billion during fiscal year 2022, compared with a cash inflow of $0.7 billion
in the prior year, primarily driven by $0.5 billion of additional cash paid for the repurchase of our ordinary shares in the current
fiscal year.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America ("U.S. GAAP" or "GAAP") requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the ongoing
conflict between Russia and Ukraine, there has been and we expect there will continue to be uncertainty and disruption in the
global economy and financial markets. We have made estimates and assumptions taking into consideration certain possible
impacts due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the Russian invasion of Ukraine. These estimates may change, as new events
occur, and additional information is obtained. Actual results may differ from those estimates and assumptions.

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the
preparation of our consolidated financial statements. For further discussion of our significant accounting policies, refer to note 2
to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

Revenue Recognition

In determining the appropriate amount of revenue to recognize, we apply the following steps: (i) identify the contracts
with the customers; (ii) identify performance obligations in the contracts; (iii) determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the
transaction price to the performance obligations per the contracts; and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) we satisfy a
performance obligation. Further, we assess whether control of the product or services promised under the contract is transferred
to the customer at a point in time (PIT) or over time (OT). We are first required to evaluate whether our contracts meet the
criteria for OT recognition. We have determined that for a portion of our contracts, we are manufacturing products for which
there is no alternative use (due to the unique nature of the customer-specific product and intellectual property restrictions) and
we have an enforceable right to payment including a reasonable profit for work-in-progress inventory with respect to these
contracts. For certain other contracts, the Company’s performance creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the Company performs under the contract. As a result, revenue is recognized under these contracts OT based on the cost-to-cost
method as it best depicts the transfer of control to the customer based on the ratio of costs incurred to date as compared to the
total estimated costs at completion of the performance obligation. For all other contracts that do not meet these criteria, we
recognize revenue when we have transferred control of the related manufactured products which generally occurs upon delivery
and passage of title to the customer. Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data" for further details.

Customer Contracts and Related Obligations

Certain of our customer agreements include potential price adjustments which may result in variable consideration. These
price adjustments include, but are not limited to, sharing of cost savings, committed price reductions, material margins earned
over the period that are contractually required to be paid to the customers, rebates, refunds tied to performance metrics such as
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on-time delivery, and other periodic pricing resets that may be refundable to customers. We estimate the variable consideration
related to these price adjustments as part of the total transaction price and recognize revenue in accordance with the pattern
applicable to the performance obligation, subject to a constraint. We constrain the amount of revenues recognized for these
contractual provisions based on our best estimate of the amount which will not result in a significant reversal of revenue in a
future period. We determine the amounts to be recognized based on the amount of potential refunds required by the contract,
historical experience and other surrounding facts and circumstances. Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements in
Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for further details.

Customer Credit Risk

We have an established customer credit policy through which we manage customer credit exposures through credit
evaluations, credit limit setting, monitoring, and enforcement of credit limits for new and existing customers. We perform
ongoing credit evaluations of our customers' financial condition and make provisions for doubtful accounts based on the
outcome of those credit evaluations. We evaluate the collectability of accounts receivable based on specific customer
circumstances, current economic trends, historical experience with collections and the age of past due receivables. To the extent
we identify exposures as a result of customer credit issues, we also review other customer related exposures, including but not
limited to inventory and related contractual obligations.

Restructuring Charges

We recognize restructuring charges related to our plans to close or consolidate excess manufacturing facilities and
rationalize administrative functions and to realign our corporate cost structure. In connection with these activities, we recognize
restructuring charges for employee termination costs, long-lived asset impairment and other exit-related costs.

The recognition of these restructuring charges requires that we make certain judgments and estimates regarding the nature,
timing and amount of costs associated with the planned restructuring activity. To the extent our actual results differ from our
estimates and assumptions, we may be required to revise the estimates of future liabilities, requiring the recognition of
additional restructuring charges or the reduction of liabilities already recognized. Such changes to previously estimated amounts
may be material to the consolidated financial statements. At the end of each reporting period, we evaluate the remaining
accrued balances to ensure that no excess accruals are retained, and the utilization of the provisions are for their intended
purpose in accordance with developed exit plans.

Refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for
further discussion of our restructuring activities.

Inventory Valuation

Our inventories are stated at the lower of cost (on a first-in, first-out basis) or net realizable value. Our industry is
characterized by rapid technological change, short-term customer commitments and rapid changes in demand. We purchase our
inventory based on forecasted demand, and we estimate write downs for excess and obsolete inventory based on our regular
reviews of inventory quantities on hand, and the latest forecasts of product demand and production requirements from our
customers. If actual market conditions or our customers' product demands are less favorable than those projected, additional
write downs may be required. In addition, unanticipated changes in the liquidity or financial position of our customers and/or
changes in economic conditions may require additional write downs for inventories due to our customers' inability to fulfill
their contractual obligations with regards to inventory procured to fulfill customer demand.

Valuation of Private Company Investments

We assess our investments for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the assets may be
impaired. The factors we consider in our evaluation of potential impairment of our investments, include, but are not limited to a
significant deterioration in the earnings performance or business prospects of the investee, or factors that raise significant
concerns about the investee’s ability to continue as a going concern, such as negative cash flows from operation or working
capital deficiencies. The carrying value of certain of our investments are individually material, and thus there is the potential for
material charges in future periods if we determine that those investments are impaired. Refer to note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for further discussion of our investments.

Carrying Value of Long-Lived Assets

We review property and equipment and acquired amortizable intangible assets for impairment at least annually and
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset group may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds its fair value. Recoverability of property
and equipment and acquired amortizable intangible assets are measured by comparing their carrying amount to the projected
cash flows the assets are expected to generate. If such asset groups are determined to be impaired, the impairment loss
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recognized, if any, is the amount by which the carrying amount of the property and equipment and acquired amortizable
intangible assets exceeds fair value. Our judgments regarding projected cash flows for an extended period of time and the fair
value of assets may be impacted by changes in market conditions, the general business environment and other factors including
future developments of the COVID-19 pandemic and the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine, which remain highly
uncertain and unpredictable. To the extent our estimates relating to cash flows and fair value of assets change adversely we may
have to recognize material impairment charges in the future.

Goodwill

Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of goodwill may not be recoverable. Recoverability of goodwill is measured at the reporting unit level by
comparing the reporting unit's carrying amount, including goodwill, to the fair value of the reporting unit, which is measured
based upon, among other factors, market multiples for comparable companies as well as a discounted cash flow analysis. These
approaches use significant unobservable inputs, or Level 3 inputs, as defined by the fair value hierarchy and require us to make
various judgmental assumptions about sales, operating margins, growth rates and discount rates which consider our budgets,
business plans and economic projections, and are believed to reflect market participant views. Some of the inherent estimates
and assumptions used in determining fair value of the reporting units are outside the control of management, including interest
rates, cost of capital, tax rates, market EBITDA comparables and credit ratings. While we believe we have made reasonable
estimates and assumptions to calculate the fair value of the reporting units, it is possible a material change could occur. If our
actual results are not consistent with our estimates and assumptions used to calculate fair value, it could result in material
impairments of our goodwill. Refer to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data" for further detail on our goodwill.

Contingent Liabilities

We may be exposed to certain liabilities relating to our business operations, acquisitions of businesses and assets and
other activities. We make provisions for such liabilities when it is probable that the settlement of the liability will result in an
outflow of economic resources or the impairment of an asset. We make these assessments based on facts and circumstances that
may change in the future resulting in additional expenses.

Refer to note 14 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for
further discussion of our contingent liabilities.

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest

Interest held by a third party in a consolidated majority-owned subsidiary is presented as noncontrolling interest, which
represents the noncontrolling equity holder’s interest in the underlying net assets of our consolidated majority-owned
subsidiary. Noncontrolling interest, where we may be required to repurchase the noncontrolling interest under a contractual
redemption requirement, is reported in the consolidated balance sheets between liabilities and equity, as redeemable
noncontrolling interest (“RNCI”). The carrying value of the RNCI should not be accreted or adjusted to redemption value
unless it becomes probable that the Series A Units will become redeemable. Refer to note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for further discussion of our RNCI.

Income Taxes

Our deferred income tax assets represent temporary differences between the carrying amount and the tax basis of existing
assets and liabilities, which will result in deductible amounts in future years, including net operating loss carry forwards. Based
on estimates, the carrying value of our net deferred tax assets assumes that it is more likely than not that we will be able to
generate sufficient future taxable income in certain tax jurisdictions to realize these deferred income tax assets. Our judgments
regarding future profitability may change due to future market conditions, changes in U.S. or international tax laws and other
factors. If these estimates and related assumptions change in the future, we may be required to increase or decrease our
valuation allowance against deferred tax assets previously recognized, resulting in additional or lesser income tax expense.

We are regularly subject to tax return audits and examinations by various taxing jurisdictions and around the world, and
there can be no assurance that the final determination of any tax examinations will not be materially different than that which is
reflected in our income tax provisions and accruals. Should additional taxes be assessed as a result of a current or future
examination, there could be a material adverse effect on our tax position, operating results, financial position and cash flows.
Refer to note 15 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for further
discussion of our tax position.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain statements of operations data expressed as a percentage of
net sales (amounts may not sum due to rounding). The financial information and the discussion below should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in Item 8, "Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data." As further discussed in note 1 and note 21 to the consolidated financial statement in Item 8, we revised
our reportable segments in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2022 to reflect Nextracker as a separate reportable segment in
addition to FRS and FAS. There was no change to our consolidated financial statements. Additionally, as further discussed in
note 2 to the consolidated financial statement in Item 8, the prior year amounts related to interest expense (income), net are now
presented separately under interest, net, and the remaining balances under interest and other, net have been reclassified to other
charges (income), net within the consolidated statements of operations. We also elected to include operating income as a
subtotal in the consolidated statements of operations. For comparability purposes, the prior periods have been recast to conform
to the current presentation. The reclassifications had no effect on the previously reported results of operations.

For a discussion of our results of operations for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021 compared to the fiscal year ended
March 31, 2020, refer to Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021.

The data below, and discussion that follows, represents our results from operations.

Fiscal Year Ended
March 31,
2022 2021

Net sales 100.0 % 100.0 %
Cost of sales 92.5 92.6
Restructuring charges 0.1 0.4

Gross profit 7.4 7.0
Selling, general and administrative expenses 34 34
Intangible amortization 0.3 0.3
Restructuring charges — 0.1

Operating income 3.7 32
Interest, net 0.6 0.6
Other charges (income), net (0.9) 0.3)

Income before income taxes 4.0 2.9
Provision for income taxes 0.4 0.4

Net income 3.6 % 2.5 %

Net income attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interest — —

Net income attributable to Flex Ltd. 3.6 % 2.5 %

Net sales

The following table sets forth our net sales by segment, and their relative percentages:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2022 2021
Net sales: (In millions)
Flex Agility Solutions $ 14,027 54 % $ 13,493 56 %
Flex Reliability Solutions 10,603 41 % 9,495 39 %
Nextracker 1,458 6 % 1,195 5%
Intersegment eliminations @7n —% 59 —%
$ 26,041 $ 24,124

Net sales for the fiscal year ended 2022 totaled $26.0 billion, representing an increase of $1.9 billion, or approximately
8%, from $24.1 billion for the fiscal year ended 2021. Net sales for our FAS segment increased $0.5 billion, or 4%, from the
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prior year, mainly due to an increase in net sales of 14% in our Lifestyle business and 3% in our CEC business resulting from a
lesser impact from COVID-19 production pressure during the current year versus the prior year, coupled with new ramps,
customer expansions and continued recoveries in consumer spending, offset to some extent by the scarcity of components and
raw material and logistics constraints. These increases in FAS were offset by a 7% decrease in net sales in our Consumer
Devices business due to certain planned contract completions in fiscal year 2022 reflecting our active program management.
Net sales in our FRS segment increased $1.1 billion, or 12%, driven primarily by an increase of 17% in net sales from prior
year in our Industrial business as a result of customer ramps and strong demand in EV charging and renewables, semicap, and
robotics, coupled with incremental revenues from our Anord Mardix acquisition. In addition, net sales for our Automotive
business increased 15% from the prior year due to new programs during fiscal year 2022 for our next generation mobility
portfolio and recovery from the depressed sales from factory shutdowns in the first quarter of fiscal year 2021. The increase in
our Automotive business was partially constrained by component shortages and OEM plant shutdowns during fiscal year 2022.
Net sales for our Nextracker segment increased $0.3 billion, or 22%, from the prior year driven by additional tracker projects,
most notably outside the United States.

Net sales increased across all regions with a $1.2 billion increase to $10.8 billion in the Americas, a $0.5 billion increase
to $5.6 billion in Europe, and a $0.3 billion increase to $9.6 billion in Asia.

Our ten largest customers during fiscal years 2022 and 2021 accounted for approximately 34% and 36% of net sales,
respectively. We have made substantial efforts to diversify our portfolio which allows us to operate at scale in many different
industries, and, as a result, no customer accounted for greater than 10% of net sales in fiscal year 2022 and 2021.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales is affected by a number of factors, including the number and size of new manufacturing programs, product
mix, labor cost fluctuations by region, component costs and availability and capacity utilization.

Cost of sales during fiscal year 2022 totaled $24.1 billion, representing an increase of approximately $1.7 billion, or 8%
from $22.3 billion during fiscal year 2021. The increase in cost of sales is most notable in our FRS segment. Cost of sales in
FRS for fiscal year 2022 increased $1.0 billion or approximately 12% from fiscal year 2021, which is in line with the 12%
increase in revenue, primarily as a result of higher revenue in our Industrial and Automotive businesses. Cost of sales in FAS
increased $0.4 billion, or approximately 3%, from fiscal year 2021, which is relatively consistent the 4% increase in revenue,
primarily as a result of higher revenue in our Lifestyle and CEC businesses, and partially offset by improved efficiencies. Cost
of sales in our Nextracker segment increased $0.4 billion or approximately 37% from fiscal year 2021, primarily due to the
increase in steel and freight costs due to container shortages and other logistics challenges resulting from the COVID-19
pandemic, coupled with the increase in sales noted above.

Gross profit

Gross profit is affected by a fluctuation in costs of sales elements as outlined above and further by a number of factors,
including product lifecycles, unit volumes, product mix, pricing, competition, new product introductions, and the expansion or
consolidation of manufacturing facilities, as well as specific restructuring activities initiated from time to time. The flexible
design of our manufacturing processes allows us to manufacture a broad range of products in our facilities and better utilize our
manufacturing capacity across our diverse geographic footprint and service customers from all segments. In the cases of new
programs, profitability normally lags revenue growth due to product start-up costs, lower manufacturing program volumes in
the start-up phase, operational inefficiencies, and under-absorbed overhead. Gross margin for these programs often improves
over time as manufacturing volumes increase, as our utilization rates and overhead absorption improve, and as we increase the
level of manufacturing services content. As a result of these various factors, our gross margin varies from period to period.

Gross profit during fiscal year 2022 increased $0.2 billion to $1.9 billion, or 7.4% of net sales, from $1.7 billion, or 7.0%
of net sales, during fiscal year 2021, an improvement of 40 basis points. The increase in gross profit and gross margin during
fiscal year 2022 primarily resulted from the overall stronger cost discipline focused on driving further productivity
improvements, coupled with continued improvement in the mix of our business, lower restructuring charges incurred compared
to prior year, benefits from prior restructuring activities and a lower direct and incremental impact from COVID-19, coupled
with stronger demand in our Automotive, Industrial, CEC and Lifestyle businesses compared to the prior year period.

Segment income

An operating segment's performance is evaluated based on its pre-tax operating contribution, or segment income. Segment
income is defined as net sales less cost of sales, and segment selling, general and administrative expenses, and does not include
amortization of intangibles, stock-based compensation, customer related asset impairments (recoveries), restructuring charges,
legal and other. A portion of depreciation is allocated to the respective segments, together with other general corporate research
and development and administrative expenses.
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The following table sets forth segment income and margins:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2022 2021

(In millions)

Segment income:

Flex Agility Solutions $ 605 43% $ 449 33 %
Flex Reliability Solutions 546 5.1 % 484 5.1 %
Nextracker 90 6.2 % 178  14.9 %

FAS segment margin increased 100 basis points, to 4.3% for fiscal year 2022, from 3.3% for fiscal year 2021. The margin
increase during the period was driven by disciplined cost management and improved efficiencies as noted above, partially offset
by elevated costs due to component shortages and logistics constraints across all of our end markets.

FRS segment margin for both fiscal years 2022 and 2021 was consistent at 5.1%. FRS segment margin increased for fiscal
year 2022 in our Automotive business compared to the prior year despite component shortages and OEM plant shutdowns
during the current year and to a lesser extent, increased in our Industrial business due to strong demand and customer ramps.
Increases in Automotive and Industrial were offset by a drop in Health Solutions due to high growth from critical care products
in the fiscal year ended 2021.

Nextracker segment margin decreased 870 basis points, to 6.2% for fiscal year 2022, from 14.9% for fiscal year 2021
driven primarily by increased freight and logistics costs.

Restructuring charges

We continued to identify certain structural changes to restructure the business throughout fiscal year 2022. During fiscal
year 2022, we recognized approximately $15 million of restructuring charges, most of which related to employee severance.
During fiscal year 2021, we recognized approximately $0.1 billion of restructuring charges, most of which related to employee
severance as part of an overall effort to align our cost structure with the reorganizing and optimizing of our operations model
along the reporting segments, and further sharpen our focus to winning business in end markets where we have competitive
advantages and deep domain expertise

Refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for
further discussion of our restructuring activities.

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses ("SG&A") totaled $0.9 billion, or 3.4% of net sales, during fiscal year 2022,
compared to $0.8 billion, or 3.4% of net sales, during fiscal year 2021, increasing by $75 million or 9%, which reflects our
enhanced cost control efforts to support higher revenue growth while keeping our SG&A expenses relatively flat.

Intangible amortization

Amortization of intangible assets in fiscal years 2022 and 2021 were $68 million and $62 million, respectively,
representing an increase of $6 million, from fiscal year 2021 as a result of four months of amortization expense related to new
intangible assets from the Anord Mardix acquisition in December 2021 offset by certain intangible assets being fully amortized
during fiscal year 2022.

Interest, net
Interest, net remained relatively flat at $152 million and $148 million during fiscal years 2022 and 2021, respectively.
Other charges (income), net

During fiscal year 2022, we recorded $225 million of other income, net, primarily driven by a $150 million gain related to
a certain tax credit recorded upon approval of a "Credit Habilitation" request by the relevant Brazil tax authorities. This is a
non-cash gain which will be used to offset certain current and future tax obligations. Other income, net also includes $61
million of equity in earnings, driven by the value increase in certain investment funds resulting from discrete market events
including initial public offerings of certain companies included in the funds, coupled with a $32 million gain on foreign
exchange transactions.
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During fiscal year 2021, we recorded $67 million of other income, net, primarily as a result of recognizing $83 million of
equity in earnings, driven by the value increase in certain investment funds resulting from discrete market events including
initial public offerings of certain companies included in the funds. Out of the $83 million equity in earnings recorded in fiscal
year 2021, we collected $48 million of cash proceeds as we sold certain shares received as a distribution from one of our fund's
investments. Partially offsetting the income was an impairment charge of $37 million related to certain non-core investments
that were determined to be other than temporarily impaired.

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for
further discussion of our other charges (income), net.

Income taxes

We work to ensure that we accrue and pay the appropriate amount of income taxes according to the laws and regulations
of each jurisdiction in which we operate. Certain of our subsidiaries have, at various times, been granted tax relief in their
respective countries, resulting in lower income taxes than would otherwise be the case under ordinary tax rates. The
consolidated effective tax rates were 10.0% and 14.1% for the fiscal years 2022 and 2021, respectively. The effective rate varies
from the Singapore statutory rate of 17.0% in each year as a result of the following items:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2022 2021

Income taxes based on domestic statutory rates 17.0 % 17.0 %
Effect of jurisdictional tax rate differential (10.9) (11.6)
Change in unrecognized tax benefit 1.1 1.5
Change in valuation allowance 1.1 4.9
Foreign exchange movement on prior year taxes recoverable (0.9) 0.7
Tax impacts related to sale of Nextracker Series A Preferred Units 1.2 —
APB 23 tax liability 0.1 0.1
Other 1.3 1.5

Provision for income taxes 10.0 % 14.1 %

The variation in our effective tax rate each year is primarily a result of recognition of earnings in foreign jurisdictions
which are taxed at rates lower than the Singapore statutory rate including the effect of tax holidays and tax incentives we
received primarily for our subsidiaries in China, Malaysia, Costa Rica, Netherlands and Israel of $23 million and $21 million in
fiscal years 2022 and 2021, respectively. Additionally, our effective tax rate is impacted by changes in our liabilities for
uncertain tax positions of $12 million, and $11 million and changes in our valuation allowances on deferred tax assets of $12
million and $35 million in fiscal years 2022 and 2021, respectively. We generate most of our revenues and profits from
operations outside of Singapore.

We are regularly subject to tax return audits and examinations by various taxing jurisdictions around the world, and there
can be no assurance that the final determination of any tax examinations will not be materially different than that which is
reflected in our income tax provisions and accruals. Should additional taxes be assessed as a result of a current or future
examination, there could be a material adverse effect on our effective tax rate, tax position, operating results, financial position
and cash flows.

We provide a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets that in our estimation are not more likely than not to be
realized. During fiscal year 2022, we released valuation allowances totaling $26 million, $8 million of which related primarily
to certain operations in Canada and Hungary, as these amounts were deemed to be more likely than not to be realized due to the
sustained profitability during the past three fiscal years as well as continued forecasted profitability of those operations. The
remaining approximately $19 million valuation allowance release related to deferred tax assets in the United States deemed
realizable due to purchase accounting related to the Anord Mardix acquisition. Various other valuation allowance positions
were also reduced due to varying factors such as recognition of uncertain tax positions impacting deferred tax assets, one-time
income recognition in loss entities, and foreign exchange impacts on deferred tax balances. Lastly, these valuation allowance
reductions and eliminations were offset by current period valuation allowance additions due to increased deferred tax assets as a
result of current period losses in legal entities with existing full valuation allowance positions.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

In response to the recent challenging environment following the COVID-19 pandemic, we continuously evaluate our
ability to meet our obligations over the next 12 months and have proactively reset our capital structure during these times to
improve maturities and liquidity. As a result, we expect that our current financial condition, including our liquidity sources are
adequate to fund current and future commitments. As of March 31, 2022, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately
$3.0 billion and bank and other borrowings of approximately $4.2 billion. We have a $2.0 billion revolving credit facility, that
is due to mature in January 2026 (the "2026 Credit Facility"), under which we had no borrowings outstanding as of March 31,
2022. We also issued HUF 100 billion of 3.6% bonds due December 2031 (approximately $301.4 million, as of March 31,
2022) and borrowed €350 million under a one-year term loan (approximately $388.6 million as of March 31, 2022) at an
interest rate of (0.18)% per annum. The proceeds of the new debt were used to refinance certain other outstanding debt in fiscal
year 2022 and for other general corporate purposes. As of March 31, 2022, we were in compliance with the covenants under all
of our credit facilities and indentures. Refer to note 9 to the consolidated financial statement in Item 8, "Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data" for additional details on the 2026 Credit Facility and the new notes.

Our cash balances are held in numerous locations throughout the world. As of March 31, 2022, approximately 34% of our
cash and cash equivalents were held by foreign subsidiaries outside of Singapore. Although substantially all of the amounts
held outside of Singapore could be repatriated, under current laws, a significant amount could be subject to income tax
withholdings. We provide for tax liabilities on these amounts for financial statement purposes, except for certain of our foreign
earnings that are considered indefinitely reinvested outside of Singapore (approximately $1.6 billion as of March 31, 2022).
Repatriation could result in an additional income tax payment; however, for the majority of our foreign entities, our intent is to
permanently reinvest these funds outside of Singapore and our current plans do not demonstrate a need to repatriate them to
fund our operations in jurisdictions outside of where they are held. Where local restrictions prevent an efficient intercompany
transfer of funds, our intent is that cash balances would remain outside of Singapore and we would meet our liquidity needs
through ongoing cash flows, external borrowings, or both.

The following is a discussion of our cash flows for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021. For a
discussion of our cash flows for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020, please refer to Item 7,
“Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in our Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021.

Fiscal Year 2022

Cash provided by operating activities was $1.0 billion during fiscal year 2022. The total cash provided by operating
activities resulted primarily from $0.9 billion of net income for the period plus $0.6 billion of non-cash charges such as
depreciation, amortization, non-cash lease expense, restructuring and impairment charges, provision for doubtful accounts,
deferred income taxes and stock-based compensation. Depreciation expense was $0.4 billion and relatively consistent with prior
years. These additions were offset by a net change in our operating assets and liabilities of $0.5 billion primarily driven by
changes in NWC as discussed below, partially offset by an increase in cash from other current liabilities of $1.1 billion
primarily attributed to customer advances received.

We believe NWC, and net working capital as a percentage of annualized net sales are key metrics that measure our
liquidity. NWC is calculated as current quarter accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts, plus inventories and
contract assets, less accounts payable. NWC increased by $1.3 billion to $4.2 billion as of March 31, 2022, from $2.9 billion as
of March 31, 2021. This increase is primarily driven by a $2.7 billion increase in inventories due to component shortages, clear-
to build constraints and logistic challenges which increased buffer stock and inventory pricing, coupled with a $0.2 billion
increase in contract assets, and partially offset with a $1.0 billion increase in accounts payable due to increased inventory
purchases and a $0.6 billion decrease in accounts receivable, net partially due to more accounts receivable factored as of March
31, 2022. Our net working capital as a percentage of annualized net sales as of March 31, 2022 increased to 15.4% as compared
to 11.5% of annualized net sales as of March 31, 2021 due to these factors. We continue to experience component shortages in
the supply chain and logistical constraints, and although we are actively managing these impacts, we expect continued working
capital pressure in the near future. We expect it will take time to adequately drive down our inventory levels. We are
proactively working with our partners to rebalance safety and buffer stock requirements and we have an established enterprise-
wide cross-functional initiative to reset our load planning in an effort to reduce inventory levels. In addition, we are pursuing
alternative resources using inclusive hybrid solutions to minimize transit times and implementing operational efficiencies.
Component shortages and significantly increased logistic costs are expected to persist into the near future as we are continuing
to experience increasing supply constraints and costs. We are working diligently with our partners to secure needed parts and
fulfill demand. In addition, to the extent possible, we have collaborated with our customers for working capital advances to
offset the required investment in inventory. Advances from customers were $1.4 billion as of March 31, 2022, an increase of
$0.9 billion from $0.5 billion as of March 31, 2021.
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Cash used in investing activities totaled $1.0 billion during fiscal year 2022. This was primarily driven by $0.5 billion of
cash paid for the acquisition of Anord Mardix in December 2021, net of cash acquired, and approximately $0.4 billion of
capital expenditures for property and equipment to continue expanding capabilities and capacity in support of our expanding
Lifestyle, Automotive, and Industrial businesses.

Cash provided by financing activities was $0.3 billion during fiscal year 2022. This was primarily driven by $0.7 billion
of proceeds received in aggregate, after premiums, following the issuance of the HUF 100 billion Bonds due December 2031
and the €350 million term loan due December 2022, and $0.5 billion of proceeds received from the sale of Nextracker
redeemable preferred units, partially offset by $0.7 billion of cash paid for the repurchase of our ordinary shares and $0.2
billion of cash paid for the repayment of the Euro term loan due January 2022. Refer to note 9 to the consolidated financial
statement in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for additional details.

Fiscal Year 2021

Cash provided by operating activities was $0.1 billion during fiscal year 2021. The total cash provided by operating
activities resulted primarily from $0.6 billion of net income for the period plus $0.6 billion of non-cash charges such as
depreciation, amortization, non-cash lease expense, restructuring and impairment charges, provision for doubtful accounts,
deferred income taxes and stock-based compensation. Depreciation expense was $0.4 billion and relatively consistent with prior
years. These additions were offset by a net change in our operating assets and liabilities of $1.1 billion, primarily driven by cash
outflows related to accounts receivables resulting from the reduction of our outstanding balances of accounts receivable sold
through our ABS and accounts receivable factoring programs.

Cash used in investing activities totaled $0.2 billion during fiscal year 2021. This was primarily driven by approximately
$0.4 billion of capital expenditures for property and equipment to continue expanding capabilities and capacity in support of
our expanding Health Solutions and Industrial businesses net of approximately $0.1 billion of proceeds from the sale of fixed
assets including proceeds from the sale of an exited facility in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2021 as a result of the
disengagement of a certain customer in fiscal year 2020. Further offsetting the capital expenditures was $48 million of proceeds
from the sale of certain shares received as distribution from one of our funds' investments.

Cash provided by financing activities was $0.7 billion during fiscal year 2021. This was primarily driven by $1.4 billion
of proceeds received in aggregate, net of discounts and after premiums, following the issuance of the 2026 Notes and the 2030
Notes, partially offset by $0.4 billion of cash paid for the repayment of the term loan due June 2022. Also offsetting cash
provided by financing activities was $0.2 billion of cash paid for the repurchase of our ordinary shares.

Adjusted Free Cash Flow

We believe adjusted free cash flow is an important liquidity metric because it measures, during a given period, the amount
of cash generated that is available to repay debt obligations, make investments, fund acquisitions, repurchase company shares
and for certain other activities. Our adjusted free cash flow is defined as cash from operations, less net purchases of property
and equipment to present adjusted cash flows on a consistent basis for investors. During fiscal year 2021, we proactively and
strategically reduced the outstanding balance of our ABS programs. Proceeds from our debt issuance replaced the funding from
the ABS programs for working capital purposes. As this decrease in cash flow reflected the change of our capital strategy, we
added this back for our adjusted free cash flow calculation and also excluded the impact to cash flows related to certain vendor
programs that is required for US GAAP presentation for fiscal year 2021. Refer to Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” (Adjusted Free Cash Flow subsection) of our Annual Report on our
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021 for further discussion. Our adjusted free cash flow was $0.6 billion and
$0.7 billion for fiscal years 2022 and 2021, respectively. Adjusted free cash flow is not a measure of liquidity under U.S.
GAAP, and may not be defined and calculated by other companies in the same manner. Adjusted free cash flow should not be
considered in isolation or as an alternative to net cash provided by operating activities. Adjusted free cash flows reconcile to the
most directly comparable GAAP financial measure of cash flows from operations as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2022 2021

(In millions)

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 1,024 $ 144
Reduction in ABS levels and other — 799
Purchases of property and equipment (443) (351)
Proceeds from the disposition of property and equipment 11 85
Adjusted free cash flow (1) $ 593§ 677

(1) Figures in the table may not foot exactly due to rounding.
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Our cash balances are generated and held in numerous locations throughout the world. Liquidity is affected by many
factors, some of which are based on normal ongoing operations of the business and some of which arise from fluctuations
related to global economics and markets. Local government regulations may restrict our ability to move cash balances to meet
cash needs under certain circumstances; however, any current restrictions are not material. We do not currently expect such
regulations and restrictions to impact our ability to pay vendors and conduct operations throughout the global organization. We
believe that our existing cash balances, together with anticipated cash flows from operations and borrowings available under
our credit facilities, will be sufficient to fund our operations through at least the next twelve months.

Future liquidity needs will depend on fluctuations in levels of inventory, accounts receivable and accounts payable, the
timing of capital expenditures for new equipment, the extent to which we utilize operating leases for new facilities and
equipment, and the levels of shipments and changes in the volume of customer orders.

We maintain global paying service agreements with several financial institutions. Under these agreements, the financial
institutions act as our paying agents with respect to accounts payable due to our suppliers who elect to participate in the
program. The agreements allow our suppliers to sell their receivables to one of the participating financial institutions at the
discretion of both parties on terms that are negotiated between the supplier and the respective financial institution. Our
obligations to our suppliers, including the amounts due and scheduled payment dates, are not impacted by our suppliers’
decisions to sell their receivables under this program. During fiscal years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, the cumulative
payments due to suppliers participating in the programs amounted to approximately $1.3 billion and $1.0 billion, respectively.
Pursuant to their agreement with one of the financial institutions, certain suppliers may elect to be paid early at their discretion.
We are not always notified when our suppliers sell receivables under these programs. The available capacity under these
programs can vary based on the number of investors and/or financial institutions participating in these programs at any point in
time.

In addition, we maintain various uncommitted short-term financing facilities including but not limited to a commercial
paper program, and a revolving sale and repurchase of subordinated notes established under the securitization facility, under
which there were no borrowings outstanding as of March 31, 2022.

Historically, we have funded operations from cash and cash equivalents generated from operations, proceeds from public
offerings of debt securities, bank debt and lease financings. We also have the ability to sell a designated pool of trade
receivables under ABS programs and sell certain trade receivables, which are in addition to the trade receivables sold in
connection with these securitization agreements. We may enter into debt and equity financings, sales of accounts receivable and
lease transactions to fund acquisitions and anticipated growth as needed.

During fiscal year 2022, no accounts receivable had been sold under our ABS programs and we received approximately
$1.6 billion from other sales of receivables under our factoring program. During fiscal years 2021, we received approximately
$0.6 billion from transfers of receivables under our ABS programs, and $0.8 billion from other sales of receivables. As of
March 31, 2022 and 2021, the outstanding balance on receivables sold for cash was $0.6 billion and $0.2 billion, respectively,
under our accounts receivable factoring programs, which were removed from accounts receivable balances in our consolidated
balance sheets.

Historically we have been successful in refinancing and extending the maturity dates on our term loans and credit
facilities. In January 2021, we entered into a $2.0 billion credit agreement which matures in January 2026 and consists of a $2.0
billion revolving credit facility with a sub-limit of $360 million available for swing line loans, and a sub-limit of $175 million
available for the issuance of letters of credit.

The sale or issuance of equity or convertible debt securities could result in dilution to current shareholders. Further, we
may issue debt securities that have rights and privileges senior to those of holders of ordinary shares, and the terms of this debt
could impose restrictions on operations and could increase debt service obligations. This increased indebtedness could limit our
flexibility as a result of debt service requirements and restrictive covenants, potentially affect our credit ratings, and may limit
our ability to access additional capital or execute our business strategy. Any downgrades in credit ratings could adversely affect
our ability to borrow as a result of more restrictive borrowing terms. We continue to assess our capital structure and evaluate
the merits of redeploying available cash to reduce existing debt or repurchase ordinary shares.

Under our current share repurchase program, our Board of Directors authorized repurchases of our outstanding ordinary
shares for up to $1 billion in accordance with the share purchase mandate approved by our shareholders at the date of the most
recent Annual General Meeting which was held on August 4, 2021. During fiscal year 2022, we paid $686 million to
repurchase shares under the current and prior repurchase plans at an average price of $17.97 per share. As of March 31, 2022,
shares in the aggregate amount of $496 million were available to be repurchased under the current plan.
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS

Bank borrowings and long-term debt are as follows:

As of March 31,
2022 2021
(In millions)

5.000% Notes due February 2023 $ 500 $ 500
Term Loan due April 2024 - three-month TIBOR plus 0.43% 273 305
4.750% Notes due June 2025 598 598
3.750% Notes due February 2026 690 694
4.875% Notes due June 2029 659 661
4.875% Notes due May 2030 690 694
Euro Term Loans 389 168
3.600% HUF Bonds due December 2031 301 —
India Facilities 84 133
Other 31 51
Debt issuance costs (18) 21)

4,197 3,783
Current portion, net of debt issuance costs (949) (268)
Non-current portion $ 3248 § 3,515

Refer to the discussion in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data" for further details of our debt obligations.

In addition. we have leased certain of our property and equipment under finance lease commitments, and certain of our
facilities and equipment under operating lease commitments. Future payments due under our debt including finance leases and
related interest obligations and operating leases are as follows (amounts may not sum due to rounding):

Less Than Greater Than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 4 -5 Years 5 Years

(In millions)
Contractual Obligations:

Bank borrowings, long-term debt and
finance lease obligations:

Bank borrowings and long-term debt  $ 4215 $ 950 $ 326 $ 1,288 $ 1,651
Finance leases 4 2 2 — —
Interest on long-term debt obligations 744 153 264 154 173
Operating leases, net of subleases 765 148 232 156 229
Restructuring costs 43 42 1 — —
Total contractual obligations $ 5771  $ 1,295 § 825 % 1,598 § 2,053

We have excluded $282 million of liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits from the contractual obligations table as we
cannot make a reasonably reliable estimate of the periodic settlements with the respective taxing authorities. See note 15,
"Income Taxes" to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for further
details.

We also have outstanding firm purchase orders with certain suppliers for the purchase of inventory, which are not
included in the table above. The majority of the purchase obligations are generally short-term in nature. As of March 31, 2022,
our purchase obligations over one year were approximately $0.9 billion. We generally do not enter into non-cancelable
purchase orders for materials until we receive a corresponding purchase commitment from our customer. Our purchase
obligations can fluctuate significantly from period to period and can materially impact our future operating asset and liability
balances, and our future working capital requirements. We intend to use our existing cash balances, together with anticipated
cash flows from operations to fund our existing and future contractual obligations.
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On February 1, 2022, we sold Series A Preferred Units, representing a 16.67% interest in Nextracker, to TPG Rise and
received proceeds of $487.5 million, net of $12.5 million in transaction costs. Because the Series A Preferred Units are
redeemable upon the occurrence of conditions not solely within the control of Flex, we classified the redeemable noncontrolling
interest as temporary equity on our consolidated balance sheets.

At TPG Rise’s election, we are required to repurchase all of the outstanding Series A Preferred Units at their liquidation
preference, which shall include all contributed but unreturned capital plus accrued but unpaid dividends, at the earlier of certain
change in control events and February 2, 2028. Additionally, if Nextracker has not completed a qualified initial public offering
prior to February 2, 2027, then TPG Rise may cause us to repurchase all of the outstanding Series A Preferred Units at their fair
market value. We do not believe that it is probable as of March 31, 2022, that the noncontrolling interest will become
redeemable given the anticipated Qualified Public Offering of Nextracker. See note 7, "Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest" to
the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for further details.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Refer to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for
recent accounting pronouncements.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
INTEREST RATE RISK

A portion of our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates to our highly liquid investment portfolio, with
maturities of three months or less from original dates of purchase and are classified as cash equivalents on our consolidated
balance sheet. We do not use derivative financial instruments in our highly liquid investment portfolio. We place cash and cash
equivalents with various major financial institutions and highly rated money market accounts. Our investment policy has strict
guidelines focusing on preservation of capital. The portfolio is comprised of various instruments including term deposits with
banks, marketable securities and money market accounts. Our cash is principally invested in the U.S. dollar and China renminbi
serving as a natural hedge of our renminbi denominated costs. As of March 31, 2022, the outstanding amount in the highly
liquid investment portfolio was $2.3 billion, the largest components of which were U.S. dollar, Indian rupee, Brazilian real,
Israeli new shekel and China renminbi denominated money market accounts with an average return of 1%. A hypothetical 10%
change in interest rates would not be expected to have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations and cash
flows over the next fiscal year.

We had variable rate debt outstanding of approximately $0.4 billion as of March 31, 2022. Variable rate debt obligations
consisted of borrowings under our term loans. Interest on these obligations is discussed in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data".

Our variable rate debt instruments create exposures for us related to interest rate risk. A hypothetical 10% change in
interest rates would not be expected to have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows over
the next fiscal year.

As of March 31, 2022, the approximate average fair value of our debt outstanding under our Notes due February 2023,
June 2025, February 2026, June 2029, and May 2030 was 102.6% of the face value of the debt obligations based on broker
trading prices.

In July 2017, the U.K.'s Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”), which regulates LIBOR, announced the publication
cessation dates for all U.S. Dollar and non-U.S. Dollar LIBOR settings. Most settings ceased at the end of December 2021 and
the remaining U.S. Dollar settings (overnight and one-, three-, six- and twelve-month U.S. Dollar LIBOR) will cease at the end
of June 2023. Although significant progress has been made by regulators, industry bodies, and market participants to introduce
and implement the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR?”) as a replacement rate for U.S. dollar LIBOR, there is no
assurance that an alternative reference rate such as SOFR will achieve sufficient market acceptance when the publication of the
principal tenors of U.S. Dollar LIBOR is discontinued, or that market participants will otherwise implement effective
transitional arrangements to address that discontinuation. Such failure to implement an alternative reference rate could result in
widespread dislocation in the financial markets and volatility in the pricing of debt facilities negatively affecting our access to
the borrowing of additional funds. Furthermore, while contractual arrangements in connection with certain of our debt facilities
contemplate the transition from LIBOR to an alternative reference rate (including SOFR), the consequences of such transition
cannot be entirely predicted and could result in an increase in the cost of our borrowings on our variable rate debt, which could
adversely impact our interest expense, results of operations, and cash flows. For risks related to the discontinuation of LIBOR,
see the following risk factor in Item [A: “Changes in our credit rating may make it more expensive for us to raise additional
capital or to borrow additional funds. We are also exposed to interest rate fluctuations on our outstanding borrowings and
investments.”

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGE RISK

We transact business in various foreign countries and are, therefore, subject to risk of foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations. We have established a foreign currency risk management policy to manage this risk. To the extent possible, we
manage our foreign currency exposure by evaluating and using non-financial techniques, such as currency of invoice, leading
and lagging payments and receivables management. In addition, we may borrow in various foreign currencies and enter into
short-term and long-term foreign currency derivative contracts, including forward, swap, and option contracts to hedge only
those currency exposures associated with certain assets and liabilities, mainly accounts receivable, accounts payable, debt, and
cash flows denominated in non-functional currencies.

We endeavor to maintain a partial or fully hedged position for certain transaction exposures. These exposures are
primarily, but not limited to, revenues, customer and vendor payments and inter-company balances in currencies other than the
functional currency of the operating entity. The credit risk of our foreign currency derivative contracts is minimized since all
contracts are with large financial institutions and accordingly, fair value adjustments related to the credit risk of the counter-
party financial institutions were not material. The gains and losses on foreign currency derivative contracts generally offset the
losses and gains on the assets, liabilities and transactions hedged. The fair value of currency derivative contracts is reported on
the balance sheet. The aggregate notional amount of outstanding contracts as of March 31, 2022 amounted to $11.6 billion and
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the recorded fair values of the associated assets and liabilities were not material. The majority of these foreign exchange
contracts expire in less than three months. They will settle primarily in the Brazilian real, British pound, China renminbi, Euro,
Hungarian forint, Indian rupee, Israeli shekel, Malaysian ringgit, Mexican peso, and U.S. dollar.

Based on our overall currency rate exposures as of March 31, 2022, including the derivative financial instruments
intended to hedge the nonfunctional currency-denominated monetary assets, liabilities and cash flows, and other factors, a 10%
appreciation or depreciation of the U.S. dollar from its cross-functional rates would not be expected, in the aggregate, to have a
material effect on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows in the near-term.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Flex Ltd., Singapore
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Flex Ltd. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of March 31,
2022 and 2021, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, redeemable noncontrolling
interest and shareholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2022, and the related
notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of March 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2022, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2022, based on the criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated May 20, 2022, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's internal control over
financial reporting.

Basis of Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to
be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the US federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also
included assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that
was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that
are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and
we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the
accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Revenue - Customer Contracts and Related Obligations - Refer to Notes 2 and 4 to the financial statements
Critical Audit Matter Description

Certain of the Company’s customer agreements include potential price adjustments which are accounted for as variable
consideration under the relevant accounting literature. For arrangements that include potential price adjustments the Company
limits the amount of revenue recognized to that amount which is not probable of significant reversal, considering potential
refunds required by the contract, historical experience and other surrounding facts and circumstances. The amount of variable
consideration that is deferred is recorded in ‘customer-related accruals’ on the consolidated balance sheets, which totaled
$227.4 million as of March 31, 2022.

Auditing the Company’s estimates of variable consideration required extensive audit effort and a high degree of auditor
judgment. For these reasons we identified the measurement of variable consideration and the associated customer-related
accruals as a critical audit matter.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit
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Our audit procedures related to variable consideration and associated customer related accruals included the following, among
others:

*  We tested the effectiveness of controls the Company has in place relating to reviewing customer contracts to identify
price adjustment clauses, estimating variable consideration and assessing the reasonableness of customer related
accrual balances.

*  We evaluated the Company’s accounting policy with respect to variable consideration, as well as its process for
identifying contracts that include potential price adjustment clauses.

*  We selected a sample of contracts with customers that included potential price adjustment clauses and performed the
following:

*  We read the customer contracts to develop an understanding of clauses that could give rise to variable
consideration and evaluated whether the Company’s accounting conclusions with respect to those clauses were
reasonable.

*  We obtained and tested the mathematical accuracy of the Company’s calculations of customer related accruals and
evaluated the Company’s judgments regarding the amount of variable consideration that should be deferred. In
making this evaluation we considered both the terms included in the customer contract and the Company’s
historical experience in settling amounts with the customer.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
San Jose, California
May 20, 2022

We have served as the Company’s auditors since 2002.
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FLEX LTD.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of March 31,
2022 2021
(In millions, except share amounts)

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,964 $ 2,637
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts (Note 2) 3,371 3,959
Contract assets 519 282
Inventories 6,580 3,895
Other current assets 903 590
Total current assets 14,337 11,363
Property and equipment, net 2,125 2,097
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net 637 642
Goodwill 1,342 1,090
Other intangible assets, net 411 213
Other assets 473 431
Total assets $ 19,325 $ 15,836

LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTEREST AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Bank borrowings and current portion of long-term debt $ 949 § 268
Accounts payable 6,254 5,247
Accrued payroll 470 473
Deferred revenue and customer working capital advances 2,002 848
Other current liabilities 1,036 998
Total current liabilities 10,711 7,834
Long-term debt, net of current portion 3,248 3,515
Operating lease liabilities, non-current 551 562
Other liabilities 608 489
Total liabilities 15,118 12,400

Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)
Redeemable noncontrolling interest (Note 7) 78 —
Shareholders' equity

Ordinary shares, no par value; 510,799,667 and 542,807,200 issued, and 460,560,312

and 492,567,845 outstanding as of March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively 6,052 6,232

Treasury stock, at cost; 50,239,355 shares as of March 31, 2022 and 2021,

respectively (388) (388)

Accumulated deficit (1,353) (2,289)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (182) (119)
Total shareholders' equity 4,129 3,436
Total liabilities, redeemable noncontrolling interest, and sharcholders' equity $ 19,325 § 15,836

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FLEX LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2022 2021 2020
(In millions, except per share amounts)

Net sales $ 26,041 $ 24,124  $ 24,210
Cost of sales 24,094 22,349 22,681
Restructuring charges 15 88 190

Gross profit 1,932 1,687 1,339
Selling, general and administrative expenses 892 817 834
Intangible amortization 68 62 64
Restructuring charges — 13 26

Operating income 972 795 415
Interest, net 152 148 174
Other charges (income), net (225) (67) 82

Income before income taxes 1,045 714 159
Provision for income taxes 105 101 71

Net income 940 613 88

Net income attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interest 4 — —

Net income attributable to Flex Ltd. $ 936§ 613 § 88
Earnings per share attributable to the shareholders of Flex Ltd.:

Basic $ 197 § 123§ 0.17

Diluted $ 194 § 121 § 0.17
Weighted-average shares used in computing per share amounts:

Basic 476 499 509

Diluted 483 506 512

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FLEX LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2022 2021 2020
(In millions)

Net income $ 940 $ 613 § 88
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of zero tax (39) 56 (24)

Unrealized gain (loss) on derivative instruments and other, net of

tax (24) 40 (40)
Comprehensive income $ 877 § 709§ 24
Comprehensive income attributable to redeemable noncontrolling
interest 4 — —
Comprehensive income attributable to Flex Ltd. $ 873 § 709 $ 24

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FLEX LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2022 2021 2020
(In millions)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ 936 $§ 613§ 88
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation 409 422 422
Amortization and other impairment charges 75 147 204
Provision for doubtful accounts (Note 2) 3) 5 24
Other non-cash income (54) (119) 39)
Non-cash lease expense 130 124 122
Stock-based compensation 91 79 71
Deferred income taxes (44) (12) 6
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable 624 (1,615) (2,106)
Contract assets (226) 107 (86)
Inventories (2,655) (96) (66)
Other current and noncurrent assets (295) 62 (19)
Accounts payable 969 103 (15)
Other current and noncurrent liabilities 1,067 324 (139)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 1,024 144 (1,533)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (443) (351 (462)
Proceeds from the disposition of property and equipment 11 85 106
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired (539) — (1)
Proceeds from divestiture of businesses, net of cash held in divested
businesses 9 3) 3
Cash collections of deferred purchase price — — 2,566
Other investing activities, net 11 67 67
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (951) (202) 2,279
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from bank borrowings and long-term debt 759 2,065 1,070
Repayments of bank borrowings and long-term debt (284) (1,142) (1,316)
Payments for repurchases of ordinary shares (686) (183) (260)
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary's redeemable preferred units 488 — —
Other financing activities, net 3 3 2)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 280 743 (508)
Effect of exchange rates on cash (26) 29 (12)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 327 714 226
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 2,637 1,923 1,697
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 2,964 $ 2,637 $ 1,923

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FLEX LTD.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. ORGANIZATION OF THE COMPANY

Flex Ltd. ("Flex" or the "Company") is the diversified manufacturing partner of choice that helps market-leading brands
design, build and deliver innovative products that improve the world. Through the collective strength of a global workforce
across approximately 30 countries with responsible, sustainable operations, Flex delivers advanced manufacturing solutions and
operates one of the most trusted global supply chains, supporting the entire product lifecycle with fulfillment, after-market, and
circular economy solutions for diverse industries including cloud, communications, enterprise, automotive, industrial, consumer
devices, lifestyle, healthcare, and energy. Beginning in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2022, as a result of the sale of certain
Series A preferred units in Nextracker LLC ("Nextracker LLC" or "Nextracker") to a third party (see note 7) and the Company's
continuing evaluation to separate the Nextracker business and consistent with how the Company's chief operating decision
maker ("CODM") allocates resources, assesses performance and makes strategic and operational decisions, Flex now reports
Nextracker as a separate operating and reportable segment. Nextracker was previously included in the Industrial reporting unit
within the Flex Reliability Solutions segment. Flex's three operating and reportable segments are:

. Flex Agility Solutions ("FAS"), which is comprised of the following end markets:

° Communications, Enterprise and Cloud, including data infrastructure, edge infrastructure and
communications infrastructure;

° Lifestyle, including appliances, consumer packaging, floorcare, micro mobility and audio; and

° Consumer Devices, including mobile and high velocity consumer devices.
. Flex Reliability Solutions ("FRS"), which is comprised of the following end markets:

° Automotive, including next generation mobility, autonomous, connectivity, electrification, and smart
technologies;

° Health Solutions, including medical devices, medical equipment, and drug delivery; and

° Industrial, including capital equipment, industrial devices, and renewables and grid edge.

. Nextracker, the leading provider of intelligent, integrated solar tracker and software solutions used in utility-
scale and ground-mounted distributed generation solar projects around the world. Nextracker's products
enable solar panels to follow the sun’s movement across the sky and optimize plant performance.

The Company's service offerings include a comprehensive range of value-added design and engineering services that are
tailored to the various markets and needs of its customers. Other focused service offerings relate to manufacturing (including
enclosures, metals, plastic injection molding, precision plastics, machining, and mechanicals), system integration and assembly
and test services, materials procurement, inventory management, logistics and after-sales services (including product repair,
warranty services, re-manufacturing and maintenance), supply chain management software solutions and component product
offerings (including flexible printed circuit boards and power adapters and chargers). The Company also provide intelligent,
integrated solar tracker and software solutions used in utility-scale and ground-mounted distributed generation solar projects
around the world.
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FLEX LTD.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
2. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Flex and its majority-owned subsidiaries,
after elimination of intercompany accounts and transactions. Amounts included in these consolidated financial statements are
expressed in U.S. dollars unless otherwise designated. The Company consolidates its majority-owned subsidiaries and
investments in entities in which the Company has a controlling interest. For the consolidated majority-owned subsidiaries in
which the Company owns less than 100%, the Company recognizes a noncontrolling interest for the ownership of the
noncontrolling owners. The associated noncontrolling owners' interest in the income or losses of these companies is not
material to the Company's results of operations for all periods presented, and is classified as a component of other charges
(income), net, in the consolidated statements of operations. Noncontrolling interest that is redeemable upon the occurrence of
conditions outside of the control of the Company is reported as temporary equity in the consolidated balance sheets. The
amount of consolidated net income attributable to Flex Ltd. and to the redeemable noncontrolling interest is presented in the
consolidated statements of operations. Refer to note 7 Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest for additional information.

Certain prior period presentations and disclosures were reclassified to ensure comparability with the current period
presentation. In fiscal year 2022, the Company elected to include operating income as a subtotal in the consolidated statements
of operations. In addition, deferred revenue and customer working capital advances, previously included within other current
liabilities, have been separately presented as deferred revenue and customer working capital advances in the current liabilities
section of the consolidated balance sheets. Further, certain unbilled receivables previously presented as part of accounts
receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts are now being presented as contract assets on the consolidated balance sheets
as billing is to occur subsequent to revenue recognition and is conditional upon other than the passage of time. The Company
reclassified $146.8 million of unbilled receivables from accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts to contract
assets for the period ended March 31, 2021 in order to align with the current year presentation. The Company also recast fiscal
year 2021 and 2020 consolidated statements of cash flows reflecting similar reclassifications between changes in contract assets
and accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts to align with the current year presentation. The reclassifications
had no effect on the previously reported results of operations or cash flows from operating activities.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates are
used in accounting for, among other things: allowances for doubtful accounts; inventory write-downs; valuation allowances for
deferred tax assets; uncertain tax positions; valuation and useful lives of long-lived assets including property, equipment, and
intangible assets; valuation of goodwill; valuation of investments in privately held companies; asset impairments; fair values of
financial instruments, notes receivable and derivative instruments; restructuring charges; contingencies; warranty provisions;
incremental borrowing rates in determining the present value of lease payments; accruals for potential price adjustments arising
from customer contracts; fair values of assets obtained and liabilities assumed in business combinations; and the fair values of
stock options and restricted share unit awards granted under the Company's stock-based compensation plans. Due to the
COVID-19 pandemic and geopolitical conflicts (including the Russian invasion of Ukraine), there has been and will continue to
be uncertainty and disruption in the global economy and financial markets. The Company has made estimates and assumptions
taking into consideration certain possible impacts due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the Russian invasion of Ukraine. These
estimates may change, as new events occur, and additional information is obtained. Actual results may differ from previously
estimated amounts, and such differences may be material to the consolidated financial statements. Estimates and assumptions
are reviewed periodically, and the effects of revisions are reflected in the period they occur.

Translation of Foreign Currencies

The financial position and results of operations for certain of the Company's subsidiaries are measured using a currency
other than the U.S. dollar as their functional currency. Accordingly, all assets and liabilities for these subsidiaries are translated
into U.S. dollars at the current exchange rates as of the respective balance sheet dates. Revenue and expense items are translated
at the average exchange rates prevailing during the period. Cumulative gains and losses from the translation of these
subsidiaries' financial statements are reported as other comprehensive income (loss), a component of shareholders' equity.
Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the
entity involved, and re-measurement adjustments for foreign operations where the U.S. dollar is the functional currency, are
included in operating results. Non-functional currency transaction gains and losses, and re-measurement adjustments were not
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FLEX LTD.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

material to the Company's consolidated results of operations for all periods presented, and have been classified as a component
of other charges (income), net in the consolidated statements of operations.

Revenue Recognition

In determining the appropriate amount of revenue to recognize, the Company applies the following steps: (i) identifies the
contracts with the customers; (ii) identifies performance obligations in the contracts; (iii) determines the transaction price; (iv)
allocates the transaction price to the performance obligations per the contracts; and (v) recognizes revenue when (or as) the
Company satisfies a performance obligation. Further, the Company assesses whether control of the products or services
promised under the contract is transferred to the customer at a point in time (PIT) or over time (OT). The Company is first
required to evaluate whether its contracts meet the criteria for OT recognition. The Company has determined that for a portion
of its contracts, the Company is manufacturing products for which there is no alternative use (due to the unique nature of the
customer-specific product and intellectual property restrictions) and the Company has an enforceable right to payment including
a reasonable profit for work-in-progress inventory with respect to these contracts. For certain other contracts, the Company’s
performance creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Company performs under the contract. As a result,
revenue is recognized under these contracts OT based on the cost-to-cost method as it best depicts the transfer of control to the
customer measured based on the ratio of costs incurred to date as compared to the total estimated costs at completion of the
performance obligation. For all other contracts that do not meet these criteria, the Company recognizes revenue when it has
transferred control of the related manufactured products which generally occurs upon delivery and passage of title to the
customer. Certain of the Company’s customer agreements include potential price adjustments which may result in variable
consideration. These price adjustments include, but are not limited to, sharing of cost savings, committed price reductions,
material margins earned over the period that are contractually required to be paid to the customers, rebates, refunds tied to
performance metrics such as on-time delivery, and other periodic pricing resets that may be refundable to customers. The
Company recognizes estimates of this variable consideration that are not expected to result in a significant revenue reversal in
the future, primarily based on the amount of potential refunds required by the contract, historical experience and other
surrounding facts and circumstances. Refer to note 4 "Revenue" for further details.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk are primarily accounts
receivable, derivative instruments, and cash and cash equivalents.

Customer Credit Risk

The Company has an established customer credit policy, through which it manages customer credit exposures through
credit evaluations, credit limit setting, monitoring, and enforcement of credit limits for new and existing customers. The
Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers' financial condition and makes provisions for doubtful accounts
based on the outcome of those credit evaluations. The Company evaluates the collectability of its accounts receivable based on
specific customer circumstances, current economic trends, historical experience with collections and the age of past due
receivables. To the extent the Company identifies exposures as a result of credit or customer evaluations, the Company also
reviews other customer related exposures, including but not limited to inventory and related contractual obligations.

The following table summarizes the activity in the Company's allowance for doubtful accounts during fiscal years 2022,
2021 and 2020:

Balance at Charged to Balance at
Beginning Costs and Deductions/ End of
of Year Expenses (1) Write-Offs Year

(In millions)

Allowance for doubtful accounts:

Year ended March 31, 2020 $ 91 $§ 24 S 19) $ 96
Year ended March 31, 2021 96 5 (40) 61
Year ended March 31, 2022 61 3) ) 56

(1) Charges incurred and recoveries during fiscal years 2022, 2021 and 2020 are primarily for costs and expenses or bad debt recoveries
related to various distressed customers.

No customer accounted for greater than 10% of the Company's net sales in fiscal years 2022, 2021 and 2020. No
customer accounted for greater than 10% of the Company's total balance of accounts receivable, net as of fiscal year ended
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FLEX LTD.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

March 31, 2022. One customer within the Company's FAS segment accounted for approximately 11% of the Company's total
balance of accounts receivable, net as of fiscal year ended March 31, 2021. A different customer within the Company's FAS
segment accounted for approximately 10% of the Company's total balances of accounts receivable, net as of fiscal year ended
March 31, 2020.

The Company's ten largest customers accounted for approximately 34%, 36% and 39%, of its net sales in fiscal years
2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Derivative Instruments

The amount subject to credit risk related to derivative instruments is generally limited to the amount, if any, by which a
counterparty's obligations exceed the obligations of the Company with that counterparty. To manage counterparty risk, the
Company limits its derivative transactions to those with recognized financial institutions. See additional discussion of
derivatives in note 10.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents with various financial institutions that management believes to be of
high credit quality. These financial institutions are located in many different locations throughout the world. The Company's
investment portfolio, which consists of short-term bank deposits and money market accounts, is classified as cash equivalents
on the consolidated balance sheets.

All highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less from original dates of purchase are carried at cost,
which approximates fair market value, and are considered to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash
deposited in checking accounts, money market funds and time deposits.

Cash and cash equivalents consisted of the following:

As of March 31,
2022 2021
(In millions)
Cash and bank balances $ 679 $ 1,130
Money market funds and time deposits 2,285 1,507
$ 2,964 $ 2,637

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (on a first-in, first-out basis) or net realizable value. The stated cost is
comprised of direct materials, labor and overhead. The components of inventories, net of applicable lower of cost or net
realizable value write-downs, were as follows:

As of March 31,
2022 2021
(In millions)
Raw materials $ 5290 $ 2,831
Work-in-progress 602 459
Finished goods 688 605
$ 6,580 $ 3,895

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization
are recognized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the related assets, with the exception of building
leasehold improvements, which are depreciated over the term of the lease, if shorter. Repairs and maintenance costs are
expensed as incurred. Property and equipment is comprised of the following:
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Depreciable As of March 31
Life 2
(In Years) 2022 2021
(In millions)
Machinery and equipment 2-10 $ 3,540 $ 3,381
Buildings 30 1,123 1,103
Shorter of lease term or useful life of the
Leasehold improvements improvement 564 500
Furniture, fixtures, computer equipment
and software 3-7 503 491
Land — 113 113
Construction-in-progress — 261 255
6,104 5,843
Accumulated depreciation and
amortization (3,979) (3,746)
Property and equipment, net $ 2,125 $ 2,097

Total depreciation expense associated with property and equipment was approximately $408.9 million, $422.3 million
and $422.4 million in fiscal years 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The Company reviews property and equipment for impairment at least annually and whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of property and equipment
is determined by comparing its carrying amount to the lowest level of identifiable projected undiscounted cash flows the
property and equipment are expected to generate. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of property and
equipment exceeds its fair value.

Deferred Income Taxes

The Company provides for income taxes in accordance with the asset and liability method of accounting for income
taxes. Under this method, deferred income taxes are recognized for the tax consequences of temporary differences between the
carrying amount and the tax basis of existing assets and liabilities by applying the applicable statutory tax rate to such
differences. Additionally, the Company assesses whether each income tax position is "more likely than not" of being sustained
on audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation, if any. For each income tax position that meets the "more likely
than not" recognition threshold, the Company would then assess the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely
of being realized upon effective settlement with the tax authority.

Accounting for Business and Asset Acquisitions

The Company has strategically pursued business and asset acquisitions, which are accounted for using the acquisition
method of accounting. The fair value of the net assets acquired and the results of the acquired businesses are included in the
Company's consolidated financial statements from the acquisition dates forward. The Company is required to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and results of operations during the reporting period.
Estimates are used in accounting for, among other things, the fair value of acquired net operating assets, property and
equipment, intangible assets and related deferred tax liabilities, useful lives of plant and equipment and amortizable lives for
acquired intangible assets. Any excess of the purchase consideration over the fair value of the identified assets and liabilities
acquired is recognized as goodwill.

The Company estimates the preliminary fair value of acquired assets and liabilities as of the date of acquisition based on
information available at that time. Contingent consideration is recorded at fair value as of the date of the acquisition with
subsequent adjustments recorded in earnings. Changes to valuation allowances on acquired deferred tax assets are recognized in
the provision for, or benefit from, income taxes. The valuation of these tangible and identifiable intangible assets and liabilities
is subject to further management review and may change materially between the preliminary allocation and end of the purchase
price allocation period. Any changes in these estimates may have a material effect on the Company's consolidated operating
results or financial position.
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Goodwill

In accordance with accounting guidance on goodwill, the Company evaluates goodwill for impairment at the reporting
unit level annually, and in certain circumstances such as a change in reporting units or whenever there are indications that
goodwill might be impaired. The Company performed its annual goodwill impairment assessment on January 1, 2022 and as a
result of the quantitative assessment of its goodwill, the Company determined that no impairment existed as of the date of the
impairment test because the fair value of each one of its reporting units exceeded its respective carrying value. As described in
note 1 and note 7, during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2022, as a result of the sale of certain Series A preferred units in
Nextracker to a third party and the Company's continuing evaluation to separate the Nextracker business and consistent with
how the Company's CODM allocates resources, assesses performance and makes strategic and operational decisions, Flex now
reports its financial performance based on three operating and reportable segments. With these changes, the Company also
revised its reporting units, separating Nextracker from the Industrial reporting unit. Accordingly, the Company reallocated total
Industrial goodwill between Nextracker and the updated Industrial reporting unit (excluding the Nextracker business) based on
each reporting unit’s relative fair value as of February 1, 2022.

Recoverability of goodwill is measured at the reporting unit level by comparing the reporting unit's carrying amount,
including goodwill, to the fair value of the reporting unit, which typically is measured based upon, among other factors, market
multiples for comparable companies as well as a discounted cash flow analysis. These approaches use significant unobservable
inputs, or Level 3 inputs, as defined by the fair value hierarchy and require management to make various judgmental
assumptions about sales, operating margins, growth rates and discount rates which consider the Company's budgets, business
plans and economic projections, and are believed to reflect market participant views. Some of the inherent estimates and
assumptions used in determining fair value of the reporting units are outside the control of management, including interest rates,
cost of capital, tax rates, market EBITDA comparables and credit ratings. While the Company believes it has made reasonable
estimates and assumptions to calculate the fair value of the reporting units, it is possible a material change could occur. If the
actual results are not consistent with management's estimates and assumptions used to calculate fair value, it could result in
material impairments of the Company's goodwill.

If the recorded value of the assets, including goodwill, and liabilities ("net book value") of any reporting unit exceeds its
fair value, an impairment loss may be required to be recognized.

The Company completed its acquisition of Anord Mardix in December 2021. The acquisition generated $272 million of
goodwill in the Industrial reporting unit and primarily related to value placed on the acquired employee workforce, service
offerings and capabilities of the acquired business. The goodwill is not deductible for income tax purposes. Refer to note 19 for
more information.

The following table summarizes the activity in the Company's goodwill during fiscal years 2022 and 2021:

FAS FRS Nextracker Total

(In millions)

Balance at March 31, 2020 $ 370 $ 695 $ — 3 1,065
Divestitures — ) — )
Foreign currency translation adjustments 1 25 — 26

Balance at March 31, 2021 $ 371§ 719 $ — 3 1,090
Reporting unit reallocation — (204) 204 —
Acquisitions — 272 — 272
Foreign currency translation adjustments — (20) — (20)

Balance at March 31, 2022 $ 371 $ 767 $ 204 $ 1,342

Other Intangible Assets

The Company's acquired intangible assets are subject to amortization over their estimated useful lives and are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an intangible asset may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of an intangible asset exceeds its fair value. The
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Company reviewed the carrying value of its intangible assets as of March 31, 2022 and concluded that such amounts continued
to be recoverable.

Intangible assets are comprised of customer-related intangible assets that include contractual agreements and customer
relationships, and licenses and other intangible assets that are primarily comprised of licenses, patents and trademarks, and
developed technologies. Generally, both customer-related intangible assets and licenses and other intangible assets are
amortized on a straight-line basis, over a period of up to ten years. No residual value is estimated for any intangible assets. The
fair value of the Company's intangible assets purchased through business combinations is determined based on management's
estimates of cash flow and recoverability.

During fiscal year 2022, the total value of intangible assets increased by $273.0 million as a result of the Company's
initial estimated value of intangible assets from the Anord Mardix acquisition. This acquisition contributed an additional
$147.0 million in customer-related intangible assets, and $126.0 million in licenses and other intangibles assets such as trade
names and technology. Refer to note 19 for additional information.

The components of acquired intangible assets are as follows:

As of March 31, 2022 As of March 31, 2021
Weighted-
Average
Remaining Gross Net Gross Net
Useful life Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying
(in Years) Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount
(In millions)
Intangible assets:
Customer-related intangibles 6.8 $ 385  § (157) $ 228 $ 276 $ (154) $ 122
Licenses and other
intangibles 6.8 319 (136) 183 250 (159) 91

Total $ 704§ (293) § 411 § 526§ (313) 213

Total intangible asset amortization expense recognized in operations during fiscal years 2022, 2021 and 2020 was
$67.9 million, $61.8 million and $64.1 million, respectively. The gross carrying amounts of intangible assets are removed when
fully amortized. During fiscal year 2022, the gross carrying amounts of fully amortized intangible assets totaled $81.4 million.
The Company also recorded $7.1 million of foreign currency translation adjustments during fiscal year 2022, as the U.S. Dollar
fluctuated against foreign currencies for certain intangibles. The estimated future annual amortization expense for acquired
intangible assets is as follows:

Fiscal Year Ending March 31, Amount
(In millions)

2023 $ 87
2024 72
2025 65
2026 44
2027 37
Thereafter 106

Total amortization expense $ 411

The Company owns or licenses various United States and foreign patents relating to a variety of technologies. For certain
of the Company's proprietary processes, inventions, and works of authorship, the Company relies on trade secret or copyright
protection. The Company also maintains trademark rights (including registrations) for the Company's corporate name and
several other trademarks and service marks that the Company uses in the Company's business in the United States and other
countries throughout the world. The Company has implemented appropriate policies and procedures (including both
technological means and training programs for the Company's employees) to identify and protect the Company's intellectual
property, as well as that of the Company's customers and suppliers. As of March 31, 2022 and 2021, the carrying value of the
Company's intellectual property was not material.
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Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

All derivative instruments are recognized on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. If the derivative instrument is
designated as a cash flow hedge, effectiveness is tested monthly using a regression analysis of the change in spot currency rates
and the change in present value of the spot currency rates. The spot currency rates are discounted to present value using
functional currency Inter-bank Offering Rates over the maximum length of the hedge period. The effective portion of changes
in the fair value of the derivative instrument (excluding time value) is recognized in shareholders' equity as a separate
component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), and recognized in the consolidated statements of operations
when the hedged item affects earnings. Ineffective and excluded portions of changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges are
recognized in earnings immediately. If the derivative instrument is designated as a fair value hedge, the changes in the fair
value of the derivative instrument and of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognized in earnings in the
current period. Cash receipts and cash payments related to derivative instruments are recorded in the same category as the cash
flows from the items being hedged on the consolidated statements of cash flows. Additional information is included in note 10.

Investments

The Company has an investment portfolio that consists of strategic investments in privately held companies, and certain
venture capital funds which are included within other assets. These privately held companies range from startups to more
mature companies with established revenue streams and business models. As of March 31, 2022, and March 31, 2021, the
Company's investments in non-consolidated companies totaled $131.3 million and $102.8 million, respectively.

During fiscal year 2022, the Company recognized $61.0 million of equity in earnings, associated with its equity method
investments, in other charges (income), net on the consolidated statement of operations. Additional information is included in
note 17.

During fiscal year 2021, the Company recognized $83.5 million of equity in earnings, associated with its equity method
investments in other charges (income), net on the consolidated statement of operations. Also during fiscal year 2021, in
connection with the Company’s ongoing assessment of recoverability of its investment portfolio, the Company concluded that
the carrying amounts of certain non-core investments were other than temporarily impaired and recognized a $36.5 million total
impairment in other charges (income), net on the consolidated statement of operations primarily related to the Company's
investment in Bright Machines.

Non-consolidated investments in entities are accounted for using the equity method when the Company has an investment
in common stock or in-substance common stock, and either (a) has the ability to significantly influence the operating decisions
of the issuer, or (b) if the Company has a voting percentage generally equal to or greater than 20% but less than 50%, and for
non-majority-owned investments in partnerships when generally greater than 5%. Cost method is used for investments where
the Company does not have the ability to significantly influence the operating decisions of the investee, or if the Company’s
investment is in securities other than common stock or in-substance common stock.

The Company monitors these investments for impairment indicators and makes appropriate reductions in carrying values
as required whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the assets may be impaired. The factors the Company
considers in its evaluation of potential impairment of its investments include, but are not limited to, a significant deterioration in
the earnings performance or business prospects of the investee, or factors that raise significant concerns about the investee’s
ability to continue as a going concern, such as negative cash flows from operation or working capital deficiencies. Fair values
of these investments, when required, are estimated using unobservable inputs, or Level 3 inputs, as defined by the fair value
hierarchy, and require management to make various judgmental assumptions primarily about comparable company multiples
and discounted cash flow projections. Some of the inherent estimates and assumptions used in determining the fair value of the
investments are outside the control of management. While the Company believes it has made reasonable estimates and
assumptions to calculate the fair value of the investments, it is possible a material change could occur. If the actual results are
not consistent with management's estimates and assumptions used to calculate fair value, it could result in material impairments
of investments.

For investments accounted for under the cost method that do not have readily determinable fair values, the Company
measures them at cost minus impairment, if any, plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly
transactions for the identical or a similar investment of the same issuer.
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Customer Working Capital Advances

Customer working capital advances were $1.4 billion and $471.5 million, as of March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
Customer working capital advances are not interest-bearing, do not generally have fixed repayment dates and are generally
reduced as the underlying working capital is consumed in production.

Other Current Liabilities

Other current liabilities include customer-related accruals of $227.4 million and $242.0 million as of March 31, 2022 and
2021, respectively.

Leases

The Company is a lessee with several non-cancellable operating leases, primarily for warehouses, buildings, and other
assets such as vehicles and equipment. The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at contract inception. A contract is
a lease or contains a lease when (1) there is an identified asset, and (2) the Company has the right to control the use of the
identified asset. Beginning with the adoption of ASC 842 on April 1, 2019, the Company elected to adopt the package of
transition practical expedients and, therefore, has not reassessed (1) whether then-existing or expired contracts contain a lease,
(2) lease classification for then-existing or expired leases or (3) the accounting for initial direct costs that were previously
capitalized. The Company recognizes a right-of-use (“ROU”) asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date for the
Company's operating leases. For operating leases, the lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the unpaid lease
payments at the lease commencement date. The Company has elected the short-term lease recognition and measurement
exemption for all classes of assets, which allows the Company to not recognize ROU assets and lease liabilities for leases with a
lease term of 12 months or less and with no purchase option the Company is reasonably certain of exercising. The Company has
also elected the practical expedient to account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component, for all
classes of underlying assets. Therefore, the lease payments used to measure the lease liability include all of the fixed
considerations in the contract. Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments), and variable payments that depend on an index or rate (initially measured
using the index or rate at the lease commencement date). As the Company cannot determine the interest rate implicit in the
lease for the Company's leases, the Company uses the Company's estimate of the incremental borrowing rate as of the
commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. The Company's estimated incremental borrowing rate
is the rate of interest it would have to pay on a collateralized basis to borrow an amount equal to the lease payments under
similar terms. The lease term for all of the Company's leases includes the non-cancellable period of the lease plus any additional
periods covered by either an option to extend (or not to terminate) the lease that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise,
or an option to extend (or not to terminate) the lease controlled by the lessor.

The adoption of ASC 842 had a material impact to the Company’s consolidated balance sheet, but did not materially
impact the consolidated statement of operations or consolidated statement of cash flows. The most significant changes to the
consolidated balance sheet relate to the recognition of ROU assets and lease liabilities for operating leases. The Company’s
accounting for finance leases remains substantially unchanged and the balances are not material for any periods presented.

As of March 31, 2022 and 2021, current operating lease liabilities were $132.4 million and $127.6 million, respectively,
which are included in other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

Restructuring Charges

The Company recognizes restructuring charges related to its plans to close or consolidate excess manufacturing facilities
and rationalize administrative functions. In connection with these activities, the Company records restructuring charges for
employee termination costs, long-lived asset impairment and other exit-related costs.

The recognition of restructuring charges requires the Company to make certain judgments and estimates regarding the
nature, timing and amount of costs associated with the planned exit activity. To the extent the Company's actual results differ
from its estimates and assumptions, the Company may be required to revise the estimates of future liabilities, requiring the
recognition of additional restructuring charges or the reduction of liabilities already recognized. Such changes to previously
estimated amounts may be material to the consolidated financial statements. At the end of each reporting period, the Company
evaluates the remaining accrued balances to ensure that no excess accruals are retained, and the utilization of the provisions are
for their intended purpose in accordance with developed restructuring plans. See note 16 for additional information regarding
restructuring charges.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06 "Debt - Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and
Derivatives and Hedging - Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and
Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity", which simplifies the accounting for certain financial instruments with characteristics of
liabilities and equity, including convertible instruments and contracts on an entity’s own equity. The guidance is effective for
the Company beginning in the first quarter of fiscal year 2023 with early adoption permitted. The Company early adopted the
guidance during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2022 using the modified retrospective approach with an immaterial impact to
its consolidated financial statements.

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08 "Business Combinations (Topic 805) - Accounting for Contract Assets
and Contract Liabilities From Contracts With Customers", which requires an acquirer to recognize and measure contract assets
and contract liabilities acquired in a business combination in accordance with FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC)
606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The guidance is effective prospectively for the Company beginning in the first
quarter of fiscal year 2024 with early adoption permitted. The Company early adopted the guidance during the third quarter of
fiscal year 2022 with an immaterial impact to its consolidated financial statements.

In October 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-10 "Codification Improvements", which improves consistency by amending
the Codification to include all disclosure guidance in the appropriate disclosure sections and clarifies application of various
provisions in the Codification by amending and adding new headings, cross referencing to other guidance, and refining or
correcting terminology. The Company adopted the guidance during the first quarter of fiscal year 2022 with an immaterial
impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In January 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-01 "Investments - Equity Securities (Topic 321), Investments - Equity
Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 323), and Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Clarifying the Interactions Between Topic
321, Topic 323, and Topic 815 — a consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force", which makes improvements related
to the following two topics: (1) accounting for certain equity securities when the equity method of accounting is applied or
discontinued, and (2) scope considerations related to forward contracts and purchased options on certain securities. The
Company adopted the guidance during the first quarter of fiscal year 2022 with an immaterial impact on its consolidated
financial statements.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12 "Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income
Taxes," which removes certain exceptions for recognizing deferred taxes for investments, performing intra-period allocation
and calculating income taxes in interim periods. The ASU also adds guidance to reduce complexity in certain areas, including
recognizing deferred taxes for tax goodwill and allocating taxes to members of a consolidated group. The Company adopted the
guidance during the first quarter of fiscal year 2022 with an immaterial impact on its consolidated financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-10 "Government Assistance (Topic 832): Disclosures by Business
Entities about Government Assistance," which aims to provide increased transparency by requiring business entities to disclose
information about certain types of government assistance they receive in the notes to the annual financial statements. The
guidance is effective for the Company beginning in fiscal year 2023 with early adoption permitted. The Company expects the
new guidance will have an immaterial impact on its consolidated financial statements, and intends to adopt the guidance when it
becomes effective in fiscal year 2023.

In July 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-05 "Leases (Topic 842): Lessors - Certain Leases with Variable Lease
Payments", which requires a lessor to classify a lease with variable lease payments that don’t depend on an index or a rate as an
operating lease on the commencement date of the lease if specified criteria are met. The guidance is effective for the Company
beginning in the first quarter of fiscal year 2023 with early adoption permitted. The Company expects the new guidance will
have an immaterial impact on its consolidated financial statements, and intends to adopt the guidance when it becomes effective
in the first quarter of fiscal year 2023.

3. LEASES

The Company has several commitments under operating leases for warehouses, buildings, and equipment. The Company
also has a minimal number of finance leases with an immaterial impact on its consolidated financial statements. Leases have
lease terms ranging from 1 year to 18 years.
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The components of lease cost recognized under ASC 842 were as follow (in millions):

Lease cost Fiscal Year Ended
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

Operating lease cost $ 156 $ 152

Amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheet as of the periods ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 were (in millions,
except weighted average lease term and discount rate):

As of March 31, 2022 As of March 31, 2021

Operating Leases.

Operating lease right of use assets $ 637 $ 642

Operating lease liabilities 683 690
Weighted-average remaining lease term (In years)

Operating leases 7.1 7.5
Weighted-average discount rate

Operating leases 3.6 % 39 %

Other information related to leases was as follow (in millions):
Fiscal Year Ended
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:

Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 158 § 152
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities

Operating Lease $ 78 $ 159

Future lease payments under non-cancellable leases as of March 31, 2022 are as follows (in millions):

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, Operating Leases
2023 $ 151
2024 128
2025 107
2026 84
2027 72
Thereafter 229
Total undiscounted lease payments 771
Less: imputed interest 88
Total lease liabilities $ 683

Total rent expense amounted to $180.3 million, $179.8 million, and $186.9 million in fiscal years 2022, 2021 and 2020,
respectively.

4. REVENUE
Revenue Recognition

The Company provides a comprehensive suite of services for its customers that range from advanced product design to
manufacturing and logistics to after-sales services. The first step in its process for revenue recognition is to identify a contract
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with a customer. A contract is defined as an agreement between two parties that creates enforceable rights and obligations and
can be written, verbal, or implied. The Company generally enters into master supply agreements (“MSAs”) with its customers
that provide the framework under which business will be conducted. This includes matters such as warranty, indemnification,
transfer of title and risk of loss, liability for excess and obsolete inventory, pricing formulas, payment terms, etc., and the level
of business under those agreements may not be guaranteed. In those instances, the Company bids on a program-by-program
basis and typically receives customer purchase orders for specific quantities and timing of products. As a result, the Company
considers its contract with a customer to be the combination of the MSA and the purchase order, or any other similar documents
such as a statement of work, product addendum, emails or other communications that embody the commitment by the customer.

In determining the appropriate amount of revenue to recognize, the Company applies the following steps: (i) identifies the
contracts with the customers; (ii) identifies performance obligations in the contracts; (iii) determines the transaction price; (iv)
allocates the transaction price to the performance obligations per the contracts; and (v) recognizes revenue when (or as) the
Company satisfies a performance obligation. Further, the Company assesses whether control of the products or services
promised under the contract are transferred to the customer at a point in time (PIT) or over time (OT). The Company is first
required to evaluate whether its contracts meet the criteria for OT recognition. The Company has determined that for a portion
of its contracts the Company is manufacturing products for which there is no alternative use (due to the unique nature of the
customer-specific product and intellectual property restrictions) and the Company has an enforceable right to payment including
a reasonable profit for work-in-progress inventory with respect to these contracts. For certain other contracts, the Company’s
performance creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Company performs under the contract. As a result,
revenue is recognized under these contracts OT based on the cost-to-cost method as it best depicts the transfer of control to the
customer measured based on the ratio of costs incurred to date as compared to the total estimated costs at completion of the
performance obligation. For all other contracts that do not meet these criteria, the Company recognizes revenue when it has
transferred control of the related manufactured products which generally occurs upon delivery and passage of title to the
customer.

Customer Contracts and Related Obligations

Certain of the Company’s customer agreements include potential price adjustments which may result in variable
consideration. These price adjustments include, but are not limited to, sharing of cost savings, committed price reductions,
material margins earned over the period that are contractually required to be paid to the customers, rebates, refunds tied to
performance metrics such as on-time delivery, and other periodic pricing resets that may be refundable to customers. The
Company estimates the variable consideration related to these price adjustments as part of the total transaction price and
recognizes revenue in accordance with the pattern applicable to the performance obligation, subject to a constraint. The
Company constrains the amount of revenues recognized for these contractual provisions based on its best estimate of the
amount which will not result in a significant reversal of revenue in a future period. The Company determines the amounts to be
recognized based on the amount of potential refunds required by the contract, historical experience and other surrounding facts
and circumstances. Often these obligations are settled with the customer in a period after shipment through various methods
which include reduction of prices for future purchases, issuance of a payment to the customer, or issuance of a credit note
applied against the customer’s accounts receivable balance. In many instances, the agreement is silent on the settlement
mechanism. Any difference between the amount accrued for potential refunds and the actual amount agreed to with the
customer is recorded as an increase or decrease in revenue. These potential price adjustments are included as part of other
current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet and disclosed as part of customer-related accruals in note 2.

Performance Obligations

The Company derives its revenues primarily from manufacturing services, and to a lesser extent, from innovative design,
engineering, and supply chain services and solutions.

A performance obligation is an implicitly or explicitly promised good or service that is material in the context of the
contract and is both capable of being distinct (customer can benefit from the good or service on its own or together with other
readily available resources) and distinct within the context of the contract (separately identifiable from other promises). The
Company considers all activities typically included in its contracts, and identifies those activities representing a promise to
transfer goods or services to a customer. These include, but are not limited to, design and engineering services, prototype
products, tooling, etc. Each promised good or service with regards to these identified activities is accounted for as a separate
performance obligation only if it is distinct - i.e., the customer can benefit from it on its own or together with other resources
that are readily available to the customer. Certain activities on the other hand are determined not to constitute a promise to
transfer goods or service, and therefore do not represent separate performance obligations for revenue recognition (e.g.,
procurement of materials and standard workmanship warranty).
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A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as,
the performance obligation is satisfied. The majority of the Company's contracts have a single performance obligation as the
promise to transfer the individual good or service is not separately identifiable from other promises in the contract and is,
therefore, not distinct. Promised goods or services that are immaterial in the context of the contract are not separately assessed
as performance obligations. In the event that more than one performance obligation is identified in a contract, the Company is
required to allocate the transaction price between the performance obligations. The allocation would generally be performed on
the basis of a relative standalone price for each distinct good or service. This standalone price most often represents the price
that the Company would sell similar goods or services separately.

Contract Balances

A contract asset is recognized when the Company has recognized revenue, but not issued an invoice for payment.
Contract assets are classified separately on the consolidated balance sheets and transferred to receivables when rights to
payment become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognized when the Company receives payments in advance of the satisfaction of performance.
Contract liabilities, identified as deferred revenue, were $704.3 million and $435.4 million as of March 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively, of which $615.5 million and $376.5 million, respectively, is included in deferred revenue and customer working
capital advances under current liabilities.

Disaggregation of Revenue

The following table presents the Company’s revenue disaggregated based on timing of transfer - point in time and over
time for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2022 2021 2020
Timing of Transfer (In millions)
FAS
Point in time $ 13,288 $ 12,058 $ 11,581
Over time 739 1,435 2,472
Total 14,027 13,493 14,053
FRS
Point in time 9,904 7,667 6,518
Over time 699 1,828 2,535
Total 10,603 9,495 9,053
Nextracker
Point in time 128 66 419
Over time 1,330 1,129 752
Total 1,458 1,195 1,171
Intersegment eliminations
Point in time 47) (59) (67)
Over time — — —
Total 47) (59) (67)
Flex
Point in time 23,273 19,732 18,451
Over time 2,768 4,392 5,759
Total $ 26,041 $ 24,124 $ 24,210

5. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
Equity Compensation Plans

The Company's primary plan used for granting equity compensation awards is the Company's 2017 Equity Incentive Plan
(the "2017 Plan").
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Share-Based Compensation Expense

The following table summarizes the Company's share-based compensation expense for all equity incentive plans:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2022 2021 2020
(In millions)
Cost of sales $ 24§ 20 § 15
Selling, general and administrative expenses 67 59 56
Total share-based compensation expense $ 91 § 79 8§ 71

Cash flows resulting from excess tax benefits (tax benefits related to the excess of proceeds from employee exercises of
share options over the share-based compensation cost recognized for those options) are classified as operating cash flows.
During fiscal years 2022, 2021 and 2020, the Company did not recognize any excess tax benefits as an operating cash inflow.

As of March 31, 2022, the Company had approximately 19.4 million shares available for grant under the 2017 Plan. The
Company no longer issues options to employees under all plans. The number of outstanding and exercisable options are
immaterial and the compensation cost related to options granted to employees under all plans has been fully recognized as of
March 31, 2022.

The Company also grants restricted share unit ("RSU") awards under its 2017 Plan. RSU awards are rights to acquire a
specified number of ordinary shares for no cash consideration in exchange for continued service with the Company. RSU
awards generally vest in installments over a two to four-year period and unvested RSU awards are generally forfeited upon
termination of employment.

Vesting for certain RSU awards is contingent upon both service and market conditions or both service and performance
conditions.

As of March 31, 2022, the total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested RSU awards under all plans was
approximately $148.4 million. These costs will be amortized generally on a straight-line basis over a weighted-average period
of approximately 2.0 years. Approximately $16.0 million of the total unrecognized compensation cost is related to RSU awards
granted to certain key employees whereby vesting is contingent on meeting certain market conditions. Approximately
$5.5 million of the total unrecognized compensation cost is related to RSU awards granted to certain key employees whereby
vesting is contingent on meeting certain performance conditions.

Determining Fair Value - RSU awards

Valuation and Amortization Method—The fair market value of RSU awards granted, other than those awards with a
market condition, is the closing price of the Company's ordinary shares on the date of grant and is generally recognized as
compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the respective vesting period.

Determining Fair Value - RSU awards with service and market conditions

Valuation and Amortization Method—The Company estimates the fair value of RSU awards granted under the 2017 Plan
whereby vesting is contingent on meeting certain market conditions using Monte Carlo simulation. This fair value is then
amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, which is the service period.

Expected volatility of Flex—Volatility used in a Monte Carlo simulation is derived from the historical volatility of Flex's
stock price over a period equal to the service period of the RSU awards granted. The service period is three years for those RSU
awards granted in fiscal years 2022, 2021, and 2020.

Average peer volatility—Volatility used in a Monte Carlo simulation is derived from the historical volatilities of Flex's
peer companies for the RSU awards granted in fiscal years 2022, and volatility used in a Monte Carlo simulation is derived
from the historical volatility of the Standard and Poor's ("S&P") 500 index for the RSU awards granted in fiscal years 2021 and
2020.
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Average Peer Correlation—Correlation coefficients were used to model the movement of Flex's stock price relative to
Flex's peer companies for the RSU awards granted in fiscal years 2022, and correlation coefficients were used to model the
movement of Flex's stock price relative to the S&P 500 index for the RSU awards granted in fiscal years 2021 and 2020.

Expected Dividend —The Company has never paid dividends on its ordinary shares and accordingly the dividend yield

percentage is zero for all periods.

Risk-Free Interest Rate assumptions—The Company bases the risk-free interest rate used in the Monte Carlo simulation
on the implied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury constant maturities issued with a term equivalent to the expected term

of the RSU awards.

The fair value of the Company's RSU awards under the 2017 Plan, whereby vesting is contingent on meeting certain
market conditions, for fiscal years 2022, 2021, and 2020 was estimated using the following weighted-average assumptions:

Expected volatility
Average peer volatility
Average peer correlation
Expected dividends
Risk-free interest rate

Share-Based Awards Activity

Option activity for all plans is immaterial for all periods presented.

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2022 2021 2020
54.6 % 52.8 % 38.8 %
39.8 % 359 % 249 %

0.4 0.7 0.5
— % — % — %
0.3 % 0.3 % 1.8 %

Cash received from option exercises under all plans, which was reflected within other financing activities in the
consolidated statement of cash flows, was immaterial for fiscal years 2022, 2021, and 2020.

The following table summarizes the Company's RSU award activity under all plans ("Price" reflects the weighted-average

grant-date fair value):

Unvested RSU awards outstanding, beginning of

fiscal year
Granted
Vested
Forfeited

Unvested RSU awards outstanding, end of fiscal

year

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2022

2021

2020

Shares Price

Shares Price

Shares Price

17,308,625 $11.14
7,276,643  18.48
(5,933,605) 10.87

(1,632,104) 12.42

17,019,559 $14.13

16,050,640 $11.87
10,982,109  11.04
(5,520,005) 11.64

(4204,119) 11.92

17,308,625 $11.14

14,903,886 $13.76
8,259.272  9.81
(4,222,524) 13.33

(2,889,994) 12.89

16,050,640 $11.87

Of the 7.3 million unvested RSU awards granted in fiscal year 2022, approximately 6.4 million are plain-vanilla unvested
RSU awards with no performance or market conditions with an average grant date price of $18.02 per share. Further,
approximately 0.4 million of these unvested RSU awards granted in fiscal year 2022 represents the target amount of grants
made to certain key employees whereby vesting is contingent on certain market conditions, with an average grant date fair
value estimated to be $25.86 per award calculated using a Monte Carlo simulation. Vesting information for these shares is

further detailed in the table below.

Of the 17.0 million unvested RSU awards outstanding under all plans as of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022,
approximately 2.9 million unvested RSU awards represent the target amount of grants made to certain key employees whereby
vesting is contingent on meeting certain market conditions summarized as follows:
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Targeted
number of Average Range of shares
March 31, 2022 o value that may be issued (1)

Year of grant (in shares) (per share) Minimum Maximum Assessment dates
Fiscal 2022 409,526 $ 25.86 — 819,052 June 2024
Fiscal 2021 1,243,848 15.03 — 2,487,696 June 2023
Fiscal 2020 1,200,639 11.92 — 2,401,278 June 2022
Totals 2,854,013 5,708,026

(1) Vesting ranges from zero to 200% based on measurement of Flex's total shareholder return against Flex's peer companies for RSU
awards granted in fiscal year 2022 and based on measurement of Flex's total shareholder return against the Standard and Poor's
("S&P") 500 Composite Index for RSU awards granted in fiscal years 2021 and 2020.

The Company will continue to recognize share-based compensation expense for awards with market conditions regardless
of whether such awards will ultimately vest. During fiscal year 2022, no shares vested in connection with the RSU awards with
market conditions granted in fiscal year 2019.

Approximately 0.4 million of these unvested RSU awards granted in fiscal year 2022 represents the target amount of
grants made to certain key employees whereby vesting is contingent on certain performance conditions, with an average grant
date price of $18.24 per share. Vesting information for these shares is further detailed in the table below.

Of the 17.0 million unvested RSU awards outstanding under all plans as of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022,
approximately 0.4 million unvested RSU awards represent the target amount of grants made to certain key employees whereby
vesting is contingent on meeting certain performance conditions summarized as follows:

Targeted
number of Average Range of shares
awards as of grant date that may be issued (1)
March 31, 2022 fair value
Year of grant (in shares) (per share) Minimum Maximum Assessment date
Fiscal 2022 409,524 $ 18.24 — 819,048 Mar 2024

(1) Vesting ranges from zero to 200% based on performance of Flex's average earnings per share growth.

The total intrinsic value of RSU awards vested under all the Company's plans was $108.1 million, $68.6 million and $41.7
million during fiscal years 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively, based on the closing price of the Company's ordinary shares on
the date vested.

In April 2022, Nextracker granted 11.2 million equity-based compensation awards to its employees under the 2022
Nextracker LLC Equity Incentive Plan (the “2022 Nextracker Plan”). Vesting for the awards granted under the 2022 Nextracker
Plan is contingent upon continued employee service and certain performance conditions, including a liquidity event such as the
occurrence of an initial public offering or the sale of Nextracker.

6. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the applicable periods.

Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution from stock options and RSU awards. The potential dilution from
stock options exercisable into ordinary share equivalents and restricted share unit awards was computed using the treasury stock
method based on the average fair market value of the Company's ordinary shares for the period.

The following table reflects the basic weighted-average ordinary shares outstanding and diluted weighted-average
ordinary share equivalents used to calculate basic and diluted income per share:
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Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2022 2021 2020
(In millions, except per share amounts)

Basic earnings per share attributable to the shareholders of Flex Ltd.

Net income $ 940 $ 613 § 88
Net income attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interest 4 — —
Net income attributable to Flex Ltd. $ 936 § 613 § 88
Shares used in computation:
Weighted-average ordinary shares outstanding 476 499 509
Basic earnings per share $ 197 § 123§ 0.17

Diluted earnings per share attributable to the shareholders of Flex Ltd.

Net income $ 940 $ 613 § 88
Net income attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interest 4 — —
Net income attributable to Flex Ltd. $ 936 $ 613 3 88
Shares used in computation:
Weighted-average ordinary shares outstanding 476 499 509
Weighted-average ordinary share equivalents from stock options and
RSU awards (1) 7 7 3
Weighted-average ordinary shares and ordinary share equivalents
outstanding 483 506 512
Diluted earnings per share $ 194 §$ 1.21 $ 0.17

(1) An immaterial amount of options to purchase ordinary shares and RSU awards during fiscal years 2022, 2021, and 2020,
respectively were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share due to their anti-dilutive impact on the weighted
average ordinary shares equivalents.

7. REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTEREST

On February 1, 2022, the Company sold redeemable preferred units (“Series A Preferred Units”), representing a 16.67%
interest in its subsidiary Nextracker LLC ("Nextracker"), to TPG Rise Flash, L.P. ("TPG Rise") and received proceeds of
$487.5 million, net of $12.5 million in transaction costs. Because the Series A Preferred Units are redeemable upon the
occurrence of conditions not solely within the control of the Company, the Company classified the redeemable noncontrolling
interest as temporary equity on its consolidated balance sheets.

The Series A Preferred Units have a dividend rate of 5% per annum, payable semi-annually, up to 100% of which may be
paid by the issuance of additional Series A Preferred Units ("payable-in-kind") during the first two years following the closing
of the sale to TPG Rise, and 50% of which may be payable-in-kind thereafter. The Series A Preferred Units will vote together
with the common units of Nextracker as a single class in all matters that are subject to a vote by common unitholders. The
Series A Preferred Units provide TPG Rise the right to designate two members of the Board of Nextracker; if, however, TPG
Rise owns Series A Preferred Units or common units with a fully diluted ownership percentage of less than 10% but more than
5%, the number of Board members that TPG Rise will be entitled to designate will be reduced to one. So long as at least 51% of
the Series A Preferred Units remain outstanding, the consent of the holders of the Series A Preferred Units must be obtained
prior to taking certain actions regarding Nextracker.

The Series A Preferred Units will be automatically converted into common units of Nextracker upon a qualified initial
public offering (a “Qualified Public Offering”) and TPG Rise may elect to convert the Series A Preferred Units into common
units at any time after March 31, 2023. Subject to certain exceptions, for any mandatory or optional conversion, the conversion
ratio for each Series A Preferred Unit will be based on a deemed value of Nextracker equal to the lesser of $3.00 billion and the
implied equity valuation of Nextracker determined by the underwriters engaged in connection with a Qualified Public Offering.
If a Qualified Public Offering occurs by March 31, 2023 with an implied equity valuation greater than $3.75 billion, then the
conversion ratio will be adjusted upwards based on a deemed value of Nextracker equal to $3.20 billion. If a Qualified Public
Offering occurs after March 31, 2023 with an implied equity valuation between $2.70 billion and $3.00 billion, then the
conversion ratio will be based on a deemed value of Nextracker equal to $3.00 billion. If a Qualified Public Offering occurs
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after March 31, 2023 with an implied equity valuation of less than $2.70 billion, then the conversion ratio will be based on a
deemed value equal to the implied equity valuation of Nextracker in the Qualified Public Offering divided by 90%. If TPG Rise
elects to convert the Series A Preferred Units prior to an initial public offering, the conversion ratio shall be based on a deemed
value of Nextracker equal to $3.00 billion.

At TPG Rise’s election, the Company is required to repurchase all of the outstanding Series A Preferred Units at their
liquidation preference, which shall include all contributed but unreturned capital plus accrued but unpaid dividends, at the
earlier of certain change in control events and February 2, 2028. Additionally, if Nextracker has not completed a Qualified
Public Offering prior to February 2, 2027, then TPG Rise may cause the Company to repurchase all of the outstanding Series A
Preferred Units at their fair market value.

In connection with any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of Nextracker, each outstanding
Series A Preferred Unit will be entitled to receive cash equal to the liquidation preference prior to distributions made to any
other units.

The Company has determined that a Qualified Public Offering is likely and that the change in control is not probable as of
March 31, 2022 and as such, it is not probable that the noncontrolling interest will become redeemable as of March 31, 2022.

8. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURES

The following table represents supplemental cash flow disclosures and non-cash investing and financing activities:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2022 2021 2020

(In millions)

Net cash paid for:
Interest $ 169 § 147 § 172
Income taxes 122 105 99
Non-cash investing and financing activity:
Unpaid purchases of property and equipment $ 126 $ 102 $ 104
Finance lease for Bright Machines assets — 4 23
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9. BANK BORROWINGS AND LONG-TERM DEBT

Bank borrowings and long-term debt are as follows:

As of March 31,

2022 2021
(In millions)

5.000% Notes due February 2023 $ 500 $ 500
Term Loan due April 2024 - three-month TIBOR plus 0.43% 273 305
4.750% Notes due June 2025 598 598
3.750% Notes due February 2026 690 694
4.875% Notes due June 2029 659 661
4.875% Notes due May 2030 690 694
Euro Term Loans 389 168
3.600% HUF Bonds due December 2031 301 —
India Facilities 84 133
Other 31 51
Debt issuance costs (18) 21)

4,197 3,783
Current portion, net of debt issuance costs (949) (268)
Non-current portion $ 3248 $ 3,515

The weighted-average interest rates for the Company's long-term debt were 4.0% and 4.3% as of March 31, 2022 and
2021, respectively.

Scheduled repayments of the Company's bank borrowings and long-term debt are as follows:

Fiscal Year Ending March 31, Amount
(In millions)

2023 $ 950
2024 53
2025 273
2026 1,288
2027 —
Thereafter 1,651

Total $ 4,215

HUF Bonds due December 2031

In December 2021, the Company issued HUF 100 billion (approximately $301.4 million as of March 31, 2022) in
aggregate principal amount of bonds under the National Bank of Hungary’s Bond Funding for Growth Scheme. The bonds
mature in December 2031 and amortize in an amount equal to 10% of the original principal amount thereof on each of the
seventh, eighth, and ninth anniversaries of the bonds, with the remaining 70% due upon maturity. The outstanding principal
amount of the bonds bear interest at 3.60% per annum. Interest is due and payable annually in arrears. The proceeds of the
bonds were used for general corporate purposes.

The bonds are unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Company and rank equally with all of the Company’s
other existing and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations. The bonds contain a customary negative pledge covenant
restricting the ability of the Company to incur liens to secure indebtedness without ratably and equally securing the bonds. This
covenant is subject to a number of exceptions and limitations. The bonds also provide for customary events of default,
including, but not limited to, cross defaults to certain specified other debt of the Company. Except in limited circumstances
resulting from adverse changes in applicable tax laws, the bonds are not voluntarily redeemable. The bonds are listed for
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trading on the XBond multilateral trading facility operated by the Budapest Stock Exchange. As of March 31, 2022, the
Company was in compliance with the covenants under the HUF bond agreement.

The 2026 Credit Facility

In January 2021, the Company entered into a new $2.0 billion credit agreement which matures in January 2026 (the "2026
Credit Facility") and consists of a $2.0 billion revolving credit facility with a sub-limit of $360 million available for swing line
loans, and a sub-limit of $175 million available for the issuance of letters of credit. The 2026 Credit Facility replaced the
previous $1.75 billion revolving credit facility, which was due to mature in June 2022 (the "2022 Credit Facility"). The
Company determined that effectively increasing the borrowing capacity of the former revolving arrangement qualified as a debt
modification and consequently all unamortized debt issuance costs related to the 2022 Credit Facility remain capitalized and are
being amortized over the term of the 2026 Credit Facility.

Borrowings under the 2026 Credit Facility bear interest, at the Company’s option, either at (i) the Base Rate, which is
defined as the greatest of (a) the Administrative Agent’s prime rate, (b) the federal funds effective rate, plus 0.50% and (c) the
LIBOR (the London Interbank Offered Rate) rate plus 1.0%; plus, in the case of each of clauses (a) through (c), an applicable
margin ranging from 0.250% to 0.875% per annum, based on the Company’s credit ratings (as determined by Standard &
Poor’s Financial Services LLC, Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and Fitch Ratings Inc.) or (ii) LIBOR plus the applicable
margin for LIBOR loans ranging between 1.250% and 1.875% per annum, based on the Company’s credit ratings. Interest on
the outstanding borrowings is payable, (i) in the case of borrowings at the Base Rate, on the last business day of March, June,
September and December of each calendar year and (ii) in the case of borrowings at the LIBOR rate, on the last day of the
applicable interest period selected by the Company, which date shall be no later than the last day of every third month. The
Company is required to pay a quarterly commitment fee on the unutilized portion of the revolving credit commitments under
the 2026 Credit Facility ranging from 0.15% to 0.30% per annum, based on the Company’s credit ratings. The Company is also
required to pay letter of credit usage fees ranging from 1.250% to 1.875% per annum (based on the Company’s credit ratings)
on the amount of the daily average outstanding letters of credit and a fronting fee of 0.125% per annum on the undrawn and
unexpired amount of each letter of credit.

Under the 2026 Credit Facility, the interest rate margins, commitment fee and letter of credit usage fee are subject to
upward or downward adjustments if the Company achieves, or fails to achieve, certain specified sustainability targets with
respect to workplace safety and greenhouse gas emissions. Such upward or downward sustainability adjustments may be up to
0.05% per annum in the case of the interest rate margins and letter of credit usage fee and up to 0.01% per annum in the case of
the commitment fee.

The 2026 Credit Facility is unsecured, and contains customary restrictions on the ability of the Company and its
subsidiaries to (i) incur certain debt, (i1) make certain acquisitions of other entities, (iii) incur liens, (iv) dispose of assets and (v)
engage in transactions with affiliates. These covenants are subject to a number of significant exceptions and limitations. The
2026 Credit Facility also requires that the Company maintains a maximum ratio of total indebtedness to EBITDA (earnings
before interest expense, taxes, depreciation and amortization) and a minimum interest coverage ratio. As of March 31, 2022, the
Company was in compliance with the covenants under the 2026 Credit Facility agreement.

Notes
Notes due February 2023

In February 2013, the Company issued $500 million of 5.000% notes due February 15, 2023 in a private offering pursuant
to Rule 144A and Regulation S under the Securities Act. In July 2013, the Company exchanged these notes for new notes (the
“2023 Notes”) with substantially similar terms and completed the registration of the 2023 Notes with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Notes due June 2025

In June 2015, the Company issued $600 million of 4.750% notes due June 15, 2025 in a private offering pursuant to Rule
144A and Regulation S under the Securities Act, at 99.213% of face value, and an effective yield of approximately 4.850%.
The Company received net proceeds of approximately $595.3 million from the issuance which was used for general corporate
purposes. During January 2016, the Company exchanged these notes for new notes (the “2025 Notes”) with substantially
similar terms and completed the registration of the 2025 Notes with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Notes due February 2026 and May 2030

In May 2020, the Company issued $425 million aggregate principal amount of 3.750% Notes due February 2026 (the
"Existing 2026 Notes"), at 99.617% of face value and $325 million aggregate principal amount of 4.875% Notes due May 2030
(the "Existing 2030 Notes" and, together with the Existing 2026 Notes, the "Existing Notes"), at 99.562% of face value. In
August 2020, as a further issuance of the Existing Notes, the Company issued under the same terms (other than the initial
interest accrual date and first interest payment date for the additional 2026 Notes, and the initial offering price and the issue
date for the additional 2026 and 2030 Notes), an additional $250 million of 3.750% Notes due February 2026 (together with the
Existing 2026 Notes, the "2026 Notes"), at 109.294% of face value, and $325 million of 4.875% Notes due May 2030 (together
with the Existing 2030 Notes, the "2030 Notes"), at 114.863% of face value. Immediately after the issuance of the additional
notes issued in August 2020, the Company has $675 million aggregate principal amount of 3.750% 2026 Notes outstanding and
$650 million aggregate principal amount of 4.875% 2030 Notes outstanding. The Company received in aggregate, proceeds of
approximately $1.4 billion, net of discounts and after premiums, from the issuances, which were used for working capital and
other general corporate purposes.

Notes due June 2029

In June 2019, the Company issued $450 million of 4.875% Notes due June 15, 2029 (the “Existing 2029 Notes”), at
99.607% of face value. In November 2019, as a further issuance of the Existing 2029 Notes, the Company issued under the
same terms, an additional $200 million of 4.875% Notes due June 15, 2029 (together with the "Existing 2029 Notes", the "2029
Notes"), at 107.289% of face value. Immediately after the issuance of the notes issued in November 2019, the Company has
$650 million aggregate principal amount of 4.875% 2029 Notes outstanding. The Company received in aggregate, proceeds of
approximately $662.8 million, net of discount and premium, from the issuances which were used, together with available cash,
to refinance certain other outstanding debt.

Interest on the 2023 Notes, 2025 Notes, 2026 Notes, 2029 Notes, 2030 Notes (collectively the “Notes”) is payable semi-
annually. The Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and rank equally with all of the Company’s other existing
and future senior and unsecured debt obligations.

At any time up to three months prior to the maturity date of the respective Notes, the Company may redeem some or all of
the Notes at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes redeemed, plus an applicable premium
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the applicable redemption date. Upon the occurrence of a change of control repurchase
event (as defined in the indentures of the respective Notes), the Company must offer to repurchase the respective Notes at a
repurchase price equal to 101% of the principal amount of these Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the
applicable repurchase date.

The indentures governing the Notes contain covenants that, among other things, restrict the ability of the Company and
certain of the Company's subsidiaries to create liens; enter into sale-leaseback transactions; and consolidate or merge with, or
convey, transfer or lease all or substantially all of the Company's assets to, another person, or permit any other person to
consolidate, merge, combine or amalgamate with or into the Company. These covenants are subject to a number of significant
limitations and exceptions set forth in the indentures. The indentures also provide for customary events of default, including,
but not limited to, cross defaults to certain specified other debt of the Company and its subsidiaries. In the case of an event of
default arising from specified events of bankruptcy or insolvency, all outstanding Notes will become due and payable
immediately without further action or notice. If any other events of default under the indentures occur or are continuing, the
trustee or holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may declare all of the Notes to be
due and payable immediately, but upon certain conditions such declaration and its consequences may be rescinded and annulled
by the holders of a majority in principal amount of the Notes. As of March 31, 2022, the Company was in compliance with the
covenants in the indentures governing the Notes.

Term Loan due April 2024

In April 2019, the Company entered into a JPY 33.525 billion term loan agreement due April 2024, at three-month
TIBOR plus 0.43%, which was then swapped to U.S. dollars. The term loan, which is due at maturity and subject to quarterly
interest payments, was used to fund general operations and refinance certain other outstanding debts.

This term loan is unsecured, and contains customary restrictions on the ability of the Company and its subsidiaries to (i)
incur certain debt, (ii) make certain investments, (iii) make certain acquisitions of other entities, (iv) incur liens, (v) dispose of
assets, (vi) make non-cash distributions to sharcholders, and (vii) engage in transactions with affiliates. These covenants are
subject to a number of exceptions and limitations. This term loan agreement also requires that the Company maintains a
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maximum ratio of total indebtedness to EBITDA, and a minimum interest coverage ratio, as defined therein, during its term. As
of March 31, 2022, the Company was in compliance with the covenants under this term loan agreement.

Other Borrowings

In December 2021, the Company borrowed €350 million (approximately $388.6 million as of March 31, 2022), under a
1-year term-loan agreement. Of this amount, €250 million is due December 9, 2022 and €100 million is due December 30,
2022. The proceeds of the term loan was used to refinance certain other outstanding debt and for other general corporate
purposes. Borrowings under this term loan bear interest at (0.18)% per annum, which is payable in full at maturity. The term
loan is repayable upon maturity, and the borrowings have been included as bank borrowings and current portion of long-term
debt under the consolidated balance sheet.

In July 2018, a subsidiary of the Company entered into a $200 million term loan facility (the "India Facility"), under
which there was $84.1 million in borrowings outstanding as of March 31, 2022. The India Facility was used to fund capital
expenditures to support the Company's expansion plans for India. The availability period during which drawdowns can be made
was from the date of the agreement to and including January 2020. The maximum maturity of each drawdown will be 5 years
from the funded Capex shipment date. As a result, the longest maturity date of any drawdown under the India Facility is June
2023. Borrowings under this term loan bear interest at LIBOR plus a margin of 0.90% to 1.15% depending on loan duration.

In January 2017, the Company borrowed €100 million, under a 5-year, term-loan agreement due January 2, 2022.
Borrowings under this term loan bear interest at EURIBOR minus 0.1% plus the applicable margin ranging between 0.40% and
1.35%, based on the Company's credit ratings. During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2021, the Company repaid the loan and
immediately borrowed the same amount at a fixed interest rate of (0.16)%, while maintaining the January 2, 2022 maturity date.
As of March 31, 2022, the borrowings under this term-loan have been paid in full.

These term loans are unsecured. As of March 31, 2022, the Company was in compliance with the covenants under these
term loan agreements.

As of March 31, 2022, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries had various uncommitted revolving credit facilities,
lines of credit and other credit facilities in the amount of $325 million in the aggregate. There were no borrowings outstanding
under these facilities as of March 31, 2022 and 2021. These unsecured credit facilities, and lines of credit and other credit
facilities bear annual interest at the respective country's inter-bank offering rate, plus an applicable margin.

10. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Foreign Currency Contracts

The Company transacts business in various foreign countries and is therefore exposed to foreign currency exchange rate
risk inherent in forecasted sales, cost of sales, and monetary assets and liabilities denominated in non-functional currencies. The
Company has established risk management programs to protect against volatility in the value of non-functional currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities, and of future cash flows caused by changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
The Company tries to maintain a partial or fully hedged position for certain transaction exposures, which are primarily, but not
limited to, revenues, customer and vendor payments and inter-company balances in currencies other than the functional
currency of the operating entity. The Company enters into short-term and long-term foreign currency derivative contracts,
including forward, swap, and option contracts to hedge only those currency exposures associated with certain assets and
liabilities, primarily accounts receivable, accounts payable, debt, and cash flows denominated in non-functional currencies.
Gains and losses on the Company's derivative contracts are designed to offset losses and gains on the assets, liabilities and
transactions hedged, and accordingly, generally do not subject the Company to risk of significant accounting losses. The
Company hedges committed exposures and does not engage in speculative transactions. The credit risk of these derivative
contracts is minimized since the contracts are with large financial institutions and accordingly, fair value adjustments related to
the credit risk of the counterparty financial institution were not material.
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As of March 31, 2022, the aggregate notional amount of the Company's outstanding foreign currency derivative contracts
was $11.6 billion as summarized below:

Foreign Currency Notional Contract
Amount Value in USD

Currency Buy Sell Buy Sell

(In millions)

Cash Flow Hedges

CNY 3,177 — 499 § —
HUF 140,860 — 435 —
JPY 33,525 — 300 —
MXN 7,075 — 354
MYR 483 86 114 20
Other N/A N/A 261 114
1,963 134
Other Foreign Currency Contracts
BRL 17 900 3 190
CAD 113 66 90 53
CNY 6,283 2,224 982 348
EUR 2,477 2,320 2,758 2,575
GBP 136 148 178 194
HUF 66,804 56,541 201 170
ILS 386 23 121 7
INR 12,744 534 167 7
MXN 8,187 6,128 409 307
MYR 1,002 351 238 83
PLN 243 199 58 47
SEK 515 579 53 62
SGD 97 50 71 37
Other N/A N/A 69 49
5,398 4,129
Total Notional Contract Value in USD $ 7,361 $ 4,263

As of March 31, 2022 and 2021, the fair value of the Company's short-term foreign currency contracts was included in
other current assets or other current liabilities, as applicable, in the consolidated balance sheets. Certain of these contracts are
designed to economically hedge the Company's exposure to monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a non-functional
currency and are not accounted for as hedges under the accounting standards. Accordingly, changes in the fair value of these
instruments are recognized in earnings during the period of change as a component of other charges (income), net in the
consolidated statements of operations. The Company also has included net deferred gains and losses in accumulated other
comprehensive loss, a component of shareholders' equity in the consolidated balance sheets, relating to changes in fair value of
its foreign currency contracts that are accounted for as cash flow hedges. Deferred losses were $40.9 million as of March 31,
2022, and are expected to be recognized primarily as a component of cost of sales in the consolidated statement of operations
primarily over the next twelve-month period, except for the USD JPY cross currency swap, and the USD HUF cross currency
swaps, which are further discussed below.

The Company entered into a USD JPY cross currency swap to hedge the foreign currency risk on the JPY term loan due
April 2024, and the fair value of the cross currency swap was included in other liabilities and other assets as of March 31, 2022,
and March 31, 2021, respectively. Additionally, the Company entered into USD HUF cross currency swaps to hedge the foreign
currency risk on the HUF bonds due December 2031, and the fair value of the cross currency swaps was included in other
liabilities as of March 31, 2022. The changes in fair value of the USD JPY cross currency swap and the USD HUF cross
currency swaps are reported in accumulated other comprehensive loss. In addition, corresponding amounts are reclassified out
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of accumulated other comprehensive loss to other charges (income), net to offset the remeasurements of the underlying JPY
loan principal and HUF bond principal, which also impact the same line.

The following table presents the fair value of the Company's derivative instruments utilized for foreign currency risk
management purposes at March 31, 2022 and 2021:

Fair Values of Derivative Instruments

Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives
Fair Value Fair Value
Balance Sheet March 31, March 31, Balance Sheet March 31, March 31,
Location 2022 2021 Location 2022 2021

(In millions)

Derivatives designated as
hedging instruments

Other current Other current
Foreign currency contracts assets $ 22 8 23 liabilities $ 35 8§ 16
Foreign currency contracts Other assets — S Other liabilities 61 —
Derivatives not designated
as hedging instruments

Other current Other current
Foreign currency contracts assets $ 21 $ 31 liabilities $ 26 $ 32

The Company has financial instruments subject to master netting arrangements, which provide for the net settlement of
all contracts with a single counterparty. The Company does not offset fair value amounts for assets and liabilities recognized for
derivative instruments under these arrangements, and as such, the asset and liability balances presented in the table above
reflect the gross amounts of derivatives in the consolidated balance sheets. The impact of netting derivative assets and liabilities
is not material to the Company's financial position for any of the periods presented.

11. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

The changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss by component, net of tax, during fiscal years ended March 31,
2022, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Unrealized loss on

derivative Foreign currency
instruments and translation
other adjustments Total
(In millions)

Beginning balance on March 31, 2019 $ 42) $ (109) $ (151)
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications (43) (22) (65)
Net (gains) losses reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive loss 3 2) 1

Net current-period other comprehensive loss (40) (24) (64)

Ending balance on March 31, 2020 $ 82) § (133) $ (215)
Other comprehensive gain before reclassifications 48 56 104
Net gains reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive
loss ®) — (®)

Net current-period other comprehensive gain 40 56 96

Ending balance on March 31, 2021 $ 42) $ a7 $ (119)
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications (49) (44) (93)
Net losses reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive
loss 25 5 30

Net current-period other comprehensive loss (24) (39) (63)

Ending balance on March 31, 2022 $ (66) $ (116) $ (182)
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Net (gains) losses reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss was $30 million loss during fiscal year 2022,
and were immaterial during fiscal years 2021 and 2020.

The tax impact to other comprehensive loss was immaterial for all periods presented.
12. TRADE RECEIVABLES SECURITIZATION

The Company sells trade receivables under two asset-backed securitization programs and an accounts receivable factoring
program.

Asset-Backed Securitization Programs

The Company has historically sold designated pools of trade receivables under its Global Asset-Backed Securitization
Agreement (the "Global Program") and its North American Asset-Backed Securitization Agreement (the "North American
Program," and together with the Global Program, the "ABS Programs") to affiliated special purpose entities, each of which in
turn sells a fraction of the receivables to unaffiliated financial institutions, based on the Company's requirements. Under these
programs, the entire purchase price of sold receivables are paid in cash. The ABS Programs contain guarantees of payment by
the special purpose entities, in amounts equal to approximately the net cash proceeds under the programs, and are collateralized
by certain receivables held by the special purpose entities. The fair value of the guarantee obligation was zero as of March 31,
2022 and March 31, 2021, respectively. The accounts receivable balances sold under the ABS Programs were removed from the
consolidated balance sheets and the cash proceeds received by the Company were included as cash provided by operating
activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows.

Following the transfer of the receivables to the special purpose entities, the transferred receivables are legally isolated
from the Company and its affiliates, and upon the sale of the receivables from the special purpose entities to the unaffiliated
financial institutions, effective control of the transferred receivables is passed to the unaffiliated financial institutions, which
have the right to pledge or sell the receivables. Although the special purpose entities are consolidated by the Company, they are
separate corporate entities and their assets are available first to satisfy the claims of their creditors. The investment limits set by
the financial institutions are uncommitted and amount to $500 million for the Global Program and $250 million for the North
American Program.

The Company services, administers and collects the receivables on behalf of the special purpose entities and receives a
servicing fee of 0.1% to 0.5% of serviced receivables per annum. Servicing fees recognized were zero during fiscal year ended
March 31, 2022 and were not material during fiscal years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 and are included in interest, net
within the consolidated statements of operations. As the Company estimates the fee it receives in return for its obligation to
service these receivables is at fair value, no servicing assets or liabilities are recognized.

As of March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021, no accounts receivable had been sold under the ABS programs.

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021, cash flows from sales of receivables to the special purpose entities under the
ABS Programs consisted of approximately $8.7 billion, for transfers of receivables. Further, cash flows from sales of
receivables from the special purpose entities to unaffiliated financial institutions, during fiscal year 2021, consisted of
approximately $0.6 billion for transfers of receivables. For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020, cash flows from sales of
receivables under the ABS Programs consisted of approximately $7.6 billion, for transfers of receivables, and approximately
$2.6 billion for collections on deferred purchase price receivables (effective November 2019, upon amending the previous ABS
programs, the Company no longer holds a deferred purchase price receivables balance). The Company's cash flows from
transfers of receivables consist primarily of proceeds from collections reinvested in revolving-period transfers. Cash flows from
new transfers were not significant for all periods presented.

Trade Accounts Receivable Sale Programs

The Company also sold accounts receivables to certain third-party banking institutions. The outstanding balance of
receivables sold and not yet collected on accounts where the Company has continuing involvement was approximately $0.6
billion and $0.2 billion as of March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020,
total accounts receivable sold to certain third party banking institutions was approximately $1.6 billion, $0.8 billion and $1.6
billion, respectively. The receivables that were sold were removed from the consolidated balance sheets and the cash received
was included as cash provided by operating activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows.
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13. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. When determining the fair value measurements for assets and
liabilities required or permitted to be recorded at fair value, the Company considers the principal or most advantageous market
in which it would transact, and it considers assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability.
The accounting guidance for fair value establishes a fair value hierarchy based on the level of independent, objective evidence
surrounding the inputs used to measure fair value. A financial instrument's categorization within the fair value hierarchy is
based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The fair value hierarchy is as follows:

Level I - Applies to assets or liabilities for which there are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
There were no balances classified as level 1 in the fair value hierarchy as of March 31, 2022.

Level 2 - Applies to assets or liabilities for which there are inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for
identical assets or liabilities in markets with insufficient volume or infrequent transactions (less active markets) such as cash
and cash equivalents and money market funds; or model-derived valuations in which significant inputs are observable or can be
derived principally from, or corroborated by, observable market data.

The Company values foreign exchange forward contracts using level 2 observable inputs which primarily consist of an
income approach based on the present value of the forward rate less the contract rate multiplied by the notional amount.

The Company's cash equivalents are comprised of bank time deposits and money market funds, which are valued using
level 2 inputs, such as interest rates and maturity periods. Due to their short-term nature, their carrying amount approximates
fair value.

The Company has deferred compensation plans for its officers and certain other employees. Amounts deferred under the
plans are invested in hypothetical investments selected by the participant or the participant's investment manager. The
Company's deferred compensation plan assets are included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets and include
money market funds, mutual funds, corporate and government bonds and certain convertible securities that are valued using
prices obtained from various pricing sources. These sources price these investments using certain market indices and the
performance of these investments in relation to these indices. As a result, the Company has classified these investments as
level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. There were no investments classified as level 1 in the fair value hierarchy as of March 31,
2022.

Level 3 - Applies to assets or liabilities for which there are unobservable inputs to the valuation methodology that are
significant to the measurement of the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

The Company has accrued for contingent consideration in connection with its business acquisitions as applicable, which is
measured at fair value based on certain internal models and unobservable inputs. There were no contingent consideration
liabilities outstanding as of March 31, 2022 and 2021.

There were no transfers between levels in the fair value hierarchy during fiscal years 2022 and 2021.
Financial Instruments Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following table presents the Company's assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of
March 31, 2022 and 2021:
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Fair Value Measurements as of March 31, 2022

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(In millions)
Assets:
Money market funds and time deposits (Note 2) $ — 2285 $ — 2,285
Foreign currency contracts (Note 10) — 43 43
Deferred compensation plan assets:
Mutual funds, money market accounts and equity
securities — 39 — 39
Liabilities:
Foreign currency contracts (Note 10) $ — § (122) § (122)
Fair Value Measurements as of March 31, 2021
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(In millions)
Assets:
Money market funds and time deposits (Note 2) $ — 1,507 $ — 1,507
Foreign currency contracts (Note 10) — 59 — 59
Deferred compensation plan assets:
Mutual funds, money market accounts and equity
securities — 48 — 48
Liabilities:
Foreign currency contracts (Note 10) $ — 5 48) $ — (48)
Other financial instruments
The following table presents the Company's major debts not carried at fair value as of March 31, 2022 and 2021:
As of March 31, 2022 As of March 31, 2021
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair Value
Amount Value Amount Hierarchy
(In millions) (In millions)
5.000% Notes due February 2023 $ 500 $ 511 500 $ 537 Level 1
Term Loan due April 2024 - three-month
TIBOR plus 0.43% 273 273 305 305 Level 2
4.750% Notes due June 2025 598 615 598 670 Level 1
3.750% Notes due February 2026 690 690 694 756 Level 1
4.875% Notes due June 2029 659 687 661 756 Level 1
4.875% Notes due May 2030 690 713 694 800 Level 1
Euro Term Loans 389 389 168 168 Level 2
3.600% HUF Bonds due December 2031 301 301 — — Level 2
India Facilities 84 84 133 133 Level 2

The Notes due February 2023, June 2025, February 2026, June 2029 and May 2030 are valued based on broker trading

prices in active markets.

The Company values its Term Loan due April 2024, India Facilities, Euro Term Loans and HUF Bonds, based on the
current market rate, and as of March 31, 2022, the carrying amounts approximate fair values.
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14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Commitments

As of March 31, 2022 and 2021, the gross carrying amount and associated accumulated depreciation of the Company's
property and equipment financed under finance leases, and the related obligations was not material. The Company also leases
certain of its facilities and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases. These operating leases expire in various years
through 2038. Refer to note 3 for additional details on the minimum lease payments.

Litigation and other legal matters

In connection with the matters described below, the Company has accrued for loss contingencies where it believes that
losses are probable and estimable. Although it is reasonably possible that actual losses could be in excess of the Company’s
accrual, the Company is unable to estimate a reasonably possible loss or range of loss in excess of its accrual, due to various
reasons, including, among others, that: (i) the proceedings are in early stages or no claims have been asserted, (ii) specific
damages have not been sought in all of these matters, (iii) damages, if asserted, are considered unsupported and/or exaggerated,
(iv) there is uncertainty as to the outcome of pending appeals, motions, or settlements, (v) there are significant factual issues to
be resolved, and/or (vi) there are novel legal issues or unsettled legal theories presented. Any such excess loss could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations or cash flows for a particular period or on the Company’s
financial condition.

In addition, the Company provides design and engineering services to its customers and also designs and makes its own
products. As a consequence of these activities, its customers are requiring the Company to take responsibility for intellectual
property to a greater extent than in its manufacturing and assembly businesses. Although the Company believes that its
intellectual property assets and licenses are sufficient for the operation of its business as it currently conducts it, from time to
time third parties do assert patent infringement claims against the Company or its customers. If and when third parties make
assertions regarding the ownership or right to use intellectual property, the Company could be required to either enter into
licensing arrangements or to resolve the issue through litigation. Such license rights might not be available to the Company on
commercially acceptable terms, if at all, and any such litigation might not be resolved in the Company's favor. Additionally,
litigation could be lengthy and costly and could materially harm the Company's financial condition regardless of the outcome.
The Company also could be required to incur substantial costs to redesign a product or re-perform design services.

From time to time, the Company enters into intellectual property licenses (e.g., patent licenses and software licenses) with
third parties which obligate the Company to report covered behavior to the licensor and pay license fees to the licensor for
certain activities or products, or that enable the Company's use of third-party technologies. The Company may also decline to
enter into licenses for intellectual property that it does not think is useful for or used in its operations, or for which its customers
or suppliers have licenses or have assumed responsibility. Given the diverse and varied nature of its business and the location of
its business around the world, certain activities the Company performs, such as providing assembly services in China and India,
may fall outside the scope of those licenses or may not be subject to the applicable intellectual property rights. The Company's
licensors may disagree and claim royalties are owed for such activities. In addition, the basis (e.g., base price) for any royalty
amounts owed are audited by licensors and may be challenged. Some of these disagreements may lead to claims and litigation
that might not be resolved in the Company's favor. Additionally, litigation could be lengthy and costly and could materially
harm the Company's financial condition regardless of the outcome.

On May 8, 2018, a putative class action was filed in the Northern District of California against the Company and certain
officers alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and Rule 10b-5, promulgated
thereunder, alleging misstatements and/or omissions in certain of the Company’s financial results, press releases and SEC
filings made during the putative class period of January 26, 2017 through April 26, 2018. On October 1, 2018, the Court
appointed lead plaintiff and lead plaintiff’s counsel in the case. On November 28, 2018, lead plaintiff filed an amended
complaint alleging misstatements and/or omissions in certain of the Company’s SEC filings, press releases, earnings calls, and
analyst and investor conferences and expanding the putative class period through October 25, 2018. On April 3, 2019, the Court
vacated its prior order appointing lead plaintiff and lead plaintiff’s counsel and reopened the lead plaintiff appointment process.
On September 26, 2019, the Court appointed a new lead plaintiff, National Elevator Industry Pension Fund, and lead plaintiff’s
counsel in the case. On November 8, 2019, lead plaintiff filed a further amended complaint. On December 4, 2019, defendants
filed a motion to dismiss the amended complaint. On May 29, 2020, the Court granted defendants’ motion to dismiss without
prejudice and gave lead plaintiff 30 days to amend. On June 29, 2020, lead plaintiff filed a further amended complaint. On July
27,2020, defendants filed a motion to dismiss the amended complaint. On December 10, 2020, the Court granted defendants’
motion to dismiss with prejudice and entered judgment in favor of defendants. On January 7, 2021, lead plaintiff filed a notice
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of appeal to the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals. On December 21, 2021, the Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal with
prejudice of the case. The Court of Appeals’ decision took effect on January 12, 2022. The time for plaintiffs to seek review by

the U.S. Supreme Court lapsed on March 21, 2022. This matter is now fully resolved.

On April 21, 2016, SunEdison, Inc. (together with certain of its subsidiaries, "SunEdison") filed for protection under
Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2016, the Company recognized a bad debt
reserve charge of $61.0 million associated with its outstanding SunEdison receivables and accepted return of previously
shipped inventory of approximately $90.0 million. SunEdison stated in schedules filed with the Bankruptcy Court that, within
the 90 days preceding SunEdison's bankruptcy filing, the Company received approximately $98.6 million of inventory and cash
transfers of $69.2 million, which in aggregate represents the Company's estimate of the maximum reasonably possible
contingent loss. On April 15, 2018, a subsidiary of the Company together with its subsidiaries and affiliates, entered into a
tolling agreement with the trustee of the SunEdison Litigation Trust to toll any applicable statute of limitations or other time-
related defense that might exist in regards to any potential claims that either party might be able to assert against the other for a
period that will end at the earlier to occur of: (a) 60 days after a party provides written notice of termination; (b) six years from
the effective date of April 15, 2018; or (c) such other date as the parties may agree in writing. The parties reached a cash
settlement, that is fully provided for as of March 31, 2022, whereby the SunEdison Litigation Trust released all potential claims
against the Company.

One of the Company's Brazilian subsidiaries has received assessments for certain sales and import taxes. There were
originally six tax assessments totaling the updated amount of 373.7 million Brazilian reals (approximately USD $78.7 million
based on the exchange rate as of March 31, 2022). Five of the assessments are in various stages of the review process at the
administrative level; the Company successfully defeated one of the six assessments in September 2019 (totaling approximately
the updated amount of 60.6 million Brazilian reals or USD $12.8 million); that assessment remains subject to appeal and no tax
proceeding has been finalized yet. The Company was unsuccessful at the administrative level for one of the assessments and
filed an annulment action in federal court in Brasilia, Brazil on March 23, 2020; the updated value of that assessment is 33.9
million Brazilian reals (approximately USD $7.1 million). The Company believes there is no legal basis for any of these
assessments and that it has meritorious defenses. The Company will continue to vigorously oppose all of these assessments, as
well as any future assessments. The Company does not expect final judicial determination on any of these claims in the next
four years.

On February 14, 2019, the Company submitted an initial notification of voluntary disclosure to the U.S. Department of the
Treasury, Office of Foreign Assets Control ("OFAC") regarding possible noncompliance with U.S. economic sanctions
requirements among certain non-U.S. Flex-affiliated operations. On September 28, 2020, the Company made a submission to
OFAC that completed the Company’s voluntary disclosure based on the results of an internal investigation regarding the matter.
On June 11, 2021, the Company notified OFAC that it had identified possible additional relevant transactions at one non-U.S.
Flex-affiliated operation. The Company submitted an update to OFAC on November 16, 2021 reporting on the results of its
review of those transactions. The Company intends to continue to cooperate fully with OFAC in this matter going forward.
Nonetheless, it is reasonably possible that the Company could be subject to penalties that could have a material adverse effect
on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

A foreign Tax Authority (“Tax Authority”) has assessed a cumulative total of approximately $163.9 million in taxes owed
for multiple Flex legal entities within its jurisdiction for various fiscal years ranging from fiscal year 2010 through fiscal year
2018. The assessed amounts related to the denial of certain deductible intercompany payments. The Company disagrees with
the Tax Authority’s assessments and is actively contesting the assessments through the administrative and judicial processes.

As the final resolution of the above outstanding tax item remains uncertain, the Company continues to provide for the
uncertain tax positions based on the more likely than not standard. While the resolution of the issues may result in tax liabilities,
interest and penalties, which may be significantly higher than the amounts accrued for these matters, management currently
believes that the resolution will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or
cash flows.

In November 2019, the Company received a favorable ruling from the Brazilian Supreme Court in a case against the
Brazilian tax authorities regarding the right to exclude the value of a state tax referred to as ICMS from the calculation of a
federal operational tax basis referred to as PIS/COFINS. The ruling allowed the Company the right to recover amounts unduly
paid from February 2003 to December 2019. As a result, the Company recorded an immaterial gain in fiscal year 2020 for the
recovery of taxes. The Receita Federal, a tax authority in Brazil, filed a Motion of Clarification on a leading case with the
Brazilian Supreme Court previously in 2017 and in May 2021, the Brazilian Supreme Court ruled in favor of the taxpayers and
specifically clarified that the ICMS taxes to be excluded from the PIS/COFINS tax basis are to be based on the amount stated
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on the sales invoice irrespective of any further discounts received from the state. As a result of this ruling, which further
reinforced the favorable ruling received in November 2019, the Company initiated the request for "Credit Habilitation" with the
tax authorities in June 2021 to request additional PIS/COFINS credit in the amount of 776.7 million Brazilian reals
(approximately USD $154.8 million based on the exchange rate as of July 2, 2021). However, the nature of the Company's
credits requested for Habilitation were not specifically addressed by the May 2021 ruling, and accordingly there remained
uncertainty regarding the Company’s ability to recognize these credits. The Company considered the recognition of these
credits to be a contingent gain in accordance with ASC 450, Contingencies, and did not record a gain for such credits in the
three-month period ended July 2, 2021 as it had not resolved all contingencies to conclude a realized or realizable amount. In
September 2021, the Credit Habilitation request was approved by the tax authorities and the Company recognized a gain of
809.6 million Brazilian reals (approximately USD $149.3 million based on the exchange rate as of October 1, 2021) included in
other charges (income), net in the consolidated statements of operations for the twelve-month period ended March 31, 2022.
The total gain recorded included credits from February 2003 to September 2021, net of additional taxes, as the Credit
Habilitation received covering the period from February 2003 to December 2019 resolved any uncertainty regarding the
Company's ability to claim such credits. This gain is non-cash and can only be used to offset certain current and future tax
obligations. As of March 31, 2022, credits totaling 378.7 million Brazilian reals (approximately USD $79.8 million based on
the exchange rate as of March 31, 2022) are included in other current assets.

In addition to the matters discussed above, from time to time, the Company is subject to legal proceedings, claims, and
litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. The Company defends itself vigorously against any such claims. Although
the outcome of these matters is currently not determinable, management expects that any losses that are probable or reasonably
possible of being incurred as a result of these matters, which are in excess of amounts already accrued in the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets, would not be material to the financial statements as a whole.

15. INCOME TAXES
The domestic (Singapore) and foreign components of income before income taxes were comprised of the following:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2022 2021 2020
(In millions)
Domestic $ 352§ 242§ )
Foreign 693 472 161
Total $ 1,045 $ 714§ 159

The provision for income taxes consisted of the following:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2022 2021 2020

(In millions)

Current:
Domestic $ 38 1 8 2
Foreign 146 105 62
149 106 64
Deferred:
Domestic — 1 —
Foreign (44) (6) 7
(44) (5) 7
Provision for income taxes $ 105 $ 101§ 71
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The domestic statutory income tax rate was approximately 17.0% in fiscal years 2022, 2021 and 2020. The reconciliation
of the income tax expense expected based on domestic statutory income tax rates to the expense for income taxes included in
the consolidated statements of operations is as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2022 2021 2020
(In millions)

Income taxes based on domestic statutory rates $ 178 $ 121§ 27
Effect of jurisdictional tax rate differential (114) (82) (81)
Change in unrecognized tax benefit 12 11 (1)
Change in valuation allowance 12 35 93
Foreign exchange movement on prior year taxes recoverable ) 5 13
Tax impacts related to sale of Nextracker Series A Preferred Units 13 — —
APB23 tax liability 1 1 9
Other 12 10 11
Provision for income taxes $ 105 S 101§ 71

A number of countries in which the Company is located allow for tax holidays or provide other tax incentives to attract
and retain business. In general, these holidays were secured based on the nature, size and location of the Company’s operations.
The aggregate dollar effect on the Company’s income resulting from tax holidays and tax incentives to attract and retain
business for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 was $22.5 million, $21.2 million and $15.6 million,
respectively. For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022, the effect on basic and diluted earnings per share was $0.05 and $0.05,
respectively, and the effects on basic and diluted earnings per share during fiscal years 2021 and 2020 were $0.04 and $0.04,
and $0.03 and $0.03, respectively. Unless extended or otherwise renegotiated, the Company's existing holidays will expire in
various years through the end of fiscal year 2028.

The Company provides a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets that in the Company's estimation are not more
likely than not to be realized. During fiscal year 2022, 2021 and 2020, the Company released valuation allowances totaling
$26.3 million, $24.5 million and $1.1 million, respectively. For fiscal year 2022, $7.7 million valuation allowance release was
mainly related to certain operations in Canada and Hungary, as these amounts were deemed to be more likely than not to be
realized due to the sustained profitability during the past three fiscal years as well as continued forecasted profitability of those
operations. The remaining $18.6 million valuation allowance release relates to deferred tax assets in the United States deemed
realizable due to purchase accounting related to the Anord Mardix acquisition. Various other valuation allowance positions
were also reduced due to varying factors such as recognition of uncertain tax positions impacting deferred tax assets, one-time
income recognition in loss entities, and foreign exchange impacts on deferred tax balances. Lastly, these valuation allowance
reductions and eliminations were offset by current period valuation allowance additions due to increased deferred tax assets as a
result of current period losses in legal entities with existing full valuation allowance positions. For fiscal years ended March 31,
2022, 2021 and 2020, the offsetting amounts totaled $38.7 million, $60.0 million and $90.2 million, respectively.

Under its territorial tax system, Singapore generally does not tax foreign sourced income until repatriated to Singapore.
The Company has included the effects of Singapore's territorial tax system in the rate differential line above. The tax effect of
foreign income not repatriated to Singapore for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 were $104.5 million,
$57.3 million and $27.9 million, respectively.
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The components of deferred income taxes are as follows:

As of March 31,
2022 2021

(In millions)

Deferred tax liabilities:

Fixed assets $ 49) § (69)
Intangible assets (89) (45)
Others (14) (13)
Total deferred tax liabilities (152) (127)
Deferred tax assets:
Fixed assets 72 66
Intangible assets 6 8
Deferred compensation 22 20
Inventory valuation 26 28
Provision for doubtful accounts 5 5
Net operating loss and other carryforwards 1,542 1,641
Others 201 190
Total deferred tax assets 1,874 1,958
Valuation allowances (1,631) (1,726)
Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowances 243 232
Net deferred tax asset $ 91 $ 105
The net deferred tax asset is classified as follows:
Long-term asset $ 177§ 165
Long-term liability (86) (60)
Total $ 91 $ 105

Utilization of the Company's deferred tax assets is limited by the future earnings of the Company in the tax jurisdictions
in which such deferred assets arose. As a result, management is uncertain as to when or whether these operations will generate
sufficient profit to realize any benefit from the deferred tax assets. The valuation allowance provides a reserve against deferred
tax assets that are not more likely than not to be realized by the Company. However, management has determined that it is more
likely than not that the Company will realize certain of these benefits and, accordingly, has recognized a deferred tax asset from
these benefits. The change in valuation allowance is net of certain increases and decreases to prior year losses and other
carryforwards that have no current impact on the tax provision.

The Company has recorded deferred tax assets of approximately $1.7 billion related to tax losses and other carryforwards
against which the Company has recorded a valuation allowance for all but $84.2 million of the deferred tax assets. These tax
losses and other carryforwards will expire at various dates as follows:

Expiration dates of deferred tax assets related to operating losses and other carryforwards

Fiscal year (In millions)
2023 - 2028 $ 555
2029 - 2034 274
2035 and post 120
Indefinite 706
$ 1,655

The amount of deferred tax assets considered realizable, however, could be reduced or increased in the near-term if facts,
including the amount of taxable income or the mix of taxable income between subsidiaries, differ from management’s
estimates.
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The Company does not provide for income taxes on approximately $1.6 billion of undistributed earnings of its
subsidiaries which are considered to be indefinitely reinvested outside of Singapore as management has plans for the use of
such earnings to fund certain activities outside of Singapore. The estimated amount of the unrecognized deferred tax liability on
these undistributed earnings is approximately $147.5 million. As a result, as of March 31, 2022, the Company has provided for
earnings in foreign subsidiaries that are not considered to be indefinitely reinvested and therefore subject to withholding taxes
on $10.0 million of undistributed foreign earnings, recording a deferred tax liability of approximately $0.5 million thereon.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended
March 31,
2022 2021
(In millions)

Balance, beginning of fiscal year $ 266 $ 246
Additions based on tax position related to the current year 27 16
Additions for tax positions of prior years 15 14
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (7 ®)
Reductions related to lapse of applicable statute of limitations (16) (16)
Impact from foreign exchange rates fluctuation 3) 14

Balance, end of fiscal year $ 282 $ 266

The Company’s unrecognized tax benefits are subject to change over the next twelve months primarily as a result of the
expiration of certain statutes of limitations and as audits are settled. The Company believes it is reasonably possible that the
total amount of unrecognized tax benefits could decrease by an additional approximate $93.2 million within the next twelve
months primarily due to potential settlements of various audits and the expiration of certain statutes of limitations.

The Company and its subsidiaries file federal, state, and local income tax returns in multiple jurisdictions around the
world. With few exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before
2008.

Of the $282.2 million of unrecognized tax benefits at March 31, 2022, $189.8 million will affect the annual effective tax
rate (ETR) if the benefits are eventually recognized. The amount that doesn’t impact the ETR relates to positions that would be
settled with a tax loss carryforward previously subject to a valuation allowance.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits within the Company’s tax
expense. During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized interest and penalties of
approximately $2.1 million, $2.1 million and ($0.9) million, respectively. The Company had approximately $16.4 million,
$14.4 million and $12.3 million accrued for the payment of interest and penalties as of the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022,
2021 and 2020, respectively.

16. RESTRUCTURING CHARGES
Fiscal Year 2022

The Company continues to identify certain structural changes to restructure the business throughout fiscal year 2022.
During fiscal year 2022, the Company recognized approximately $15 million of restructuring charges, most of which related to
employee severance. Restructuring charges are not included in segment income, as disclosed further in note 21.

Fiscal Year 2021

In order to support the Company’s strategy and build a sustainable organization, and after considering that the economic
recovery from the pandemic would be slower than anticipated, the Company identified certain structural changes to restructure
the business. These restructuring actions eliminated non-core activities primarily within the Company’s corporate function,
aligned the Company’s cost structure with its reorganizing and optimizing of its operations model along its reporting segments,
and further sharpened its focus to winning business in end markets where it has competitive advantages and deep domain
expertise. During fiscal year 2021, the Company recognized approximately $101.3 million of restructuring charges, most of
which related to employee severance.
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Fiscal Year 2020

During the first half of fiscal year 2020 in connection with the geopolitical developments and uncertainties at the time,
primarily impacting one customer in China, the Company experienced a reduction in demand for products assembled for that
customer. As a result, the Company accelerated its strategic decision to reduce its exposure to certain high-volatility products in
both China and India. The Company also initiated targeted activities to restructure its business to further reduce and streamline
its cost structure. During fiscal year 2020, the Company recognized $216.4 million of restructuring charges. The Company
incurred cash charges of approximately $159.3 million, that were predominantly for employee severance, in addition to non-
cash charges of $57.1 million, respectively, primarily related to asset impairments.

Long-Lived
Asset Other
Severance Impairment Exit Costs Total

(In millions)

Balance as of March 31, 2019 $ 23§ — 3 9 9 32
Provision for charges incurred in fiscal year 2020 123 46 47 216
Cash payments for charges incurred in fiscal year 2019 and prior (15) — 3) (18)
Cash payments for charges incurred in fiscal year 2020 (112) — (35) (147)
Non-cash charges incurred in fiscal year 2020 — (46) (14) (60)

Balance as of March 31, 2020 19 — 4 23
Provision for charges incurred in fiscal year 2021 89 8 4 101
Cash payments for charges incurred in fiscal year 2020 and prior (14) — — (14)
Cash payments for charges incurred in fiscal year 2021 (49) — (1) (50)
Non-cash charges incurred in fiscal year 2021 — () 1 (7

Balance as of March 31, 2021 45 — 8 53
Provision for charges incurred in fiscal year 2022 11 1 3 15
Cash payments for charges incurred in fiscal year 2021 and prior (15) — — (15)
Cash payments for charges incurred in fiscal year 2022 (6) — — (6)
Non-cash charges incurred in fiscal year 2022 — (1) 3) 4)

Balance as of March 31, 2022 35 — 8 43

Less: Current portion (classified as other current liabilities) 34 — 8 42

Accrued restructuring costs, net of current portion (classified as other
liabilities) $ 1 3 — — § 1

17. OTHER CHARGES (INCOME), NET

Other charges (income), net for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 are primarily comprised of the
following:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31
2022 2021 2020

(In millions)

Gain on foreign exchange transactions $ 32) § 21) $ (10)
Equity in earnings (1) (61) (83) %)
Impairments and (gain) loss on sale of investments (2) 2 37 98
Brazil tax credit (3) (150) — —

(1) Represents gains on strategic investments in privately held companies accounted under equity method. During fiscal years 2022 and
2021, the Company recognized $61 million and $83 million of equity in earnings, respectively, driven by the value increase in
certain investment funds primarily resulting from discrete market events such as initial public offerings of certain companies
included in the funds. Out of the total gain on investments recorded in fiscal years 2022 and 2021, the Company realized
approximately $17 million and $48 million of cash proceeds as it sold certain shares received as a distribution from one of its funds'
investments.
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(2) During fiscal years 2022, 2021 and 2020, and in connection with the Company’s ongoing assessment of recoverability of its
investment portfolio, the Company concluded that the carrying amounts of certain non-core investments were other than
temporarily impaired and recognized $3.0 million, $36.5 million and $97.7 million of total impairment charges, respectively (See
note 2 for additional information).

(3) The Company recognized a $150.0 million gain related to a certain tax credit upon approval of a "Credit Habilitation" request by the
relevant Brazil tax authorities for fiscal year 2022. Refer to note 14 for further information.

18. INTEREST, NET
Interest, net for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 are primarily comprised of the following:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31

2022 2021 2020
(In millions)
Interest expenses on debt obligations (1) $ 153§ 150 $ 146
Interest income (14) (14) (19)
ABS and AR sales programs related expenses 5 11 43

(1) Interest expense on debt obligations for fiscal year 2020 includes debt extinguishment costs of $7.2 million, related to the full
repayments of the Notes due February 2020 and the Term Loan due November 2021. Debt extinguishment costs incurred during
fiscal years 2022 and 2021 were immaterial.

19. BUSINESS AND ASSET ACQUISITIONS & DIVESTITURES
Fiscal 2022 Business acquisition

On December 1, 2021, the Company completed the business acquisition of Anord Mardix, a global leader in critical
power solutions for an initial purchase consideration of $522.5 million, net of $25.1 million cash acquired, with an additional
$16.5 million deferred purchase price paid out in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2022, for a total purchase consideration of
$539 million. The acquisition adds to the Company's portfolio of Power products and expands its offering in the data center
market. For reporting purposes, Anord Mardix is included in the Industrial reporting unit within the FRS segment. The
allocation of the purchase price to the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed was based on
their estimated fair values as of the date of acquisition. The excess of the purchase price over the tangible and identifiable
intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed has been allocated to goodwill. The results of operations of the acquisition
were included in the Company’s consolidated financial results beginning on the date of acquisition, and the total amount of net
income and revenue were not material to the Company's consolidated financial results for fiscal year 2022.

The following represents the Company's allocation of the total purchase price to the acquired assets and liabilities of
Anord Mardix (in millions):

Current assets $ 142
Property and equipment 13
Operating lease right-of-use assets 36
Intangible assets 273
Goodwill 272

Total assets $ 736
Current liabilities $ 104
Operating lease liabilities and other liabilities, non-current 37
Deferred tax liabilities, non-current 56

Total aggregate purchase price, net of cash acquired $ 539

The intangible assets of $273.0 million are comprised of customer related intangible assets of $147.0 million and licenses
and other intangible assets such as trade names and developed technology of $126.0 million. Customer related assets are
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amortized over a weighted-average estimated useful life of 8.7 years while licensed and other intangibles are amortized over a
weighted-average estimated useful life of 8.9 years.

Pro-forma results of operations have not been presented because the effects were not material to the Company’s
consolidated financial results for all periods presented.

The Company is in the process of evaluating the fair value of the assets and liabilities related to this acquisition.
Additional information, which existed as of the acquisition date, may become known to the Company during the remainder of
the measurement period, a period not to exceed 12 months from the date of acquisition. Changes to amounts recorded as assets
and liabilities may result in a corresponding adjustment to goodwill during the respective measurement period.

Fiscal 2020 Business acquisition and divestitures

During fiscal year 2020, the Company completed an acquisition that was not significant to the consolidated financial
position, result of operations and cash flows of the Company.

Further, during fiscal year 2020, the Company disposed of two immaterial non-strategic businesses. The net gain on
dispositions was not material to the Company’s consolidated financial results, and was included in other charges, net in the
consolidated statements of operations for fiscal year 2020.

Pro-forma results of operations for the acquisition and divestitures have not been presented because the effects were not
individually, nor in the aggregate, material to the Company's consolidated financial results for all periods presented.

20. SHARE REPURCHASE PLAN

During fiscal year 2022, the Company repurchased approximately 38.2 million shares for an aggregate purchase price of
approximately $685.6 million and retired all of these shares.

Under the Company’s current share repurchase program, the Board of Directors authorized repurchases of its outstanding
ordinary shares for up to $1.0 billion in accordance with the share repurchase mandate approved by the Company’s
shareholders at the date of the most recent Annual General Meeting held on August 4, 2021. As of March 31, 2022, shares in
the aggregate amount of $495.6 million were available to be repurchased under the current plan.

21. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Company's Chief Executive Officer is our CODM who evaluates how we allocate resources, assesses performance
and make strategic and operational decisions. Based on such evaluation, the Company determined as of and for the period
ended March 31, 2022, that Flex has three operating and reportable segments. See note 1 and note 7 for further details on the
segment change that took place in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2022.

The FAS segment is optimized for speed to market based on a highly flexible supply and manufacturing system. FAS is
comprised of the following end markets that represent reporting units:

*  Communications, Enterprise and Cloud, including data infrastructure, edge infrastructure and communications
infrastructure;
*  Lifestyle, including appliances, consumer packaging, floorcare, micro mobility and audio; and
*  Consumer Devices, including mobile and high velocity consumer devices.
The FRS segment is optimized for longer product lifecycles requiring complex ramps with specialized production models

and critical environments. FRS is comprised of the following end markets that represent reporting units:

*  Automotive, including next generation mobility, autonomous, connectivity, electrification, and smart technologies;

*  Health Solutions, including medical devices, medical equipment, and drug delivery; and

e Industrial, including capital equipment, industrial devices, and renewables and grid edge.

The Nextracker segment provides solar tracker technologies that optimize and increase energy production while reducing
costs for significant plant return on investment.
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*  Nextracker, the leading provider of intelligent, integrated solar tracker and software solutions used in utility-scale and
ground-mounted distributed generation solar projects around the world. Nextracker's products enable solar panels to
follow the sun’s movement across the sky and optimize plant performance.

The determination of the separate operating and reporting segments is based on several factors, including the nature of
products and services, the nature of production processes, customer base, delivery channels and similar economic
characteristics.

An operating segment's performance is evaluated based on its pre-tax operating contribution, or segment income.
Segment income is defined as net sales less cost of sales, and segment selling, general and administrative expenses, and does
not include amortization of intangibles, stock-based compensation, customer related asset impairments (recoveries),
restructuring charges, legal and other. A portion of depreciation is allocated to the respective segments, together with other
general corporate research and development and administrative expenses.

Selected financial information by segment is in the table below. Fiscal year 2021 and 2020 historical information has
been recast to reflect the new operating and reportable segments, in the table below and in Item 7, "Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2022 2021 2020

(In millions)

Net sales:

Flex Agility Solutions $ 14,027 $ 13,493 $ 14,053
Flex Reliability Solutions 10,603 9,495 9,053
Nextracker 1,458 1,195 1,171
Intersegment eliminations (47) (59) (67)
$ 26,041 $ 24,124  $ 24,210
Segment income and reconciliation of operating income:
Flex Agility Solutions $ 605 $ 449 § 369
Flex Reliability Solutions 546 484 474
Nextracker 90 178 168
Corporate and Other (72) (80) (113)
Total segment income 1,169 1,031 898
Reconciling items:
Intangible amortization 68 62 64
Stock-based compensation 91 79 71
Customer related asset impairments (recoveries) (1) — @) 106
Restructuring charges (Note 16) 15 101 216
Legal and other (2) 23 1 26
Operating income $ 972 $ 795 $ 415

(1) Customer related asset impairments (recoveries) for fiscal years 2022 and 2021 were not material.

Customer related asset impairments for fiscal year 2020 primarily relate to non-cash impairments of certain property and equipment
for customers from whom we have disengaged or were in the process of disengaging, additional provision for doubtful accounts
receivable, charges for other asset impairments, and reserves for excess and obsolete inventory for certain customers experiencing
financial difficulties and/or related to inventory that will not be recovered due to significant reductions in future customer demand.

(2) Legal and other consists of costs not directly related to core business results and may include matters relating to commercial
disputes, government regulatory and compliance, intellectual property, antitrust, tax, employment or shareholder issues, product
liability claims and other issues on a global basis as well as acquisition related costs and customer related asset recoveries. During
the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2022, the Company accrued for certain loss contingencies where losses are considered probable and
estimable offset by a gain upon successful settlement of certain supplier claims.
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Legal and other during fiscal year 2021 primarily consists of costs accrued for certain loss contingencies where losses are
considered probable and estimable, offset by a gain on the sale of real estate in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2021 exited as a
result of the disengagement of a certain customer in fiscal year 2020.

Legal and other during fiscal year 2020 primarily consists of direct and incremental costs associated with certain wind-down
activities related to the disengagement of a certain customer primarily in China and India, offset by certain gains resulting from the
recognition of prior year expenses paid to a government now considered probable of recovery and reasonably estimable due to a
favorable tax ruling.

Corporate and other primarily includes corporate services costs that are not included in the CODM's assessment of the
performance of each of the identified reporting segments.

The Company provides an overall platform of assets and services, which the segments utilize for the benefit of their
various customers. The shared assets and services are contained within the Company's global manufacturing and design
operations and include manufacturing and design facilities. Most of the underlying manufacturing and design assets are co-
mingled in the operating campuses and are compatible to operate across segments and highly interchangeable throughout the
platform. Given the highly interchangeable nature of the assets, they are not separately identified by segment nor reported by
segment to the Company's CODM.

Property and equipment on a segment basis is not disclosed as it is not separately identified and is not internally reported
by segment to the Company's CODM as described above. During fiscal years 2022, 2021 and 2020, depreciation expense
included in the segments' measure of operating performance above is as follows.

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2022 2021 2020

(In millions)

Depreciation expense:

Flex Agility Solutions $ 184 § 185 § 218
Flex Reliability Solutions 204 210 170
Nextracker 3 2 3
Corporate and Other 18 25 31

Total depreciation expense $ 409 $ 422 $ 422

Geographic information of net sales is as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2022 2021 2020
(In millions)

Net sales by region:
Americas $ 10,839 42 % $ 9,672 40 % $ 10,066 42 %
Asia 9,601 37 % 9,326 39 % 9,362 39 %
Europe 5,601 21 % 5,126 21 % 4,782 19 %

$ 26,041 $ 24,124 $ 24,210

Revenues are attributable to the country in which the product is manufactured, or service is provided.

During fiscal years 2022, 2021 and 2020, net sales generated from Singapore, the country of domicile, were
approximately $518.9 million, $507.0 million and $574.6 million, respectively.

The following table summarizes the countries that accounted for more than 10% of net sales in fiscal years 2022, 2021,
and 2020:
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Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2022 2021 2020
(In millions)

Net sales by country:
China $ 6,146 24 % $ 6,147 25% $ 5,665 23 %
Mexico 5,059 19 % 4413 18 % 4,449 18 %
U.S. 3,690 14 % 3,648 15 % 3,719 15 %

No other country accounted for more than 10% of net sales for the fiscal periods presented in the table above.

Geographic information of property and equipment, net is as follows:

As of March 31,
2022 2021

(In millions)

Property and equipment, net:

Americas $ 1,075 51 % $ 1,015 48 %

Asia 561 26 % 627 30 %

Europe 489 23 % 455 22 %
$ 2,125 $ 2,097

As of March 31, 2022 and 2021, property and equipment, net held in Singapore were approximately $5.0 million and
$5.9 million, respectively.

The following table summarizes the countries that accounted for more than 10% of property and equipment, net in fiscal
year 2022 and 2021:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2022 2021

(In millions)

Property and equipment, net:

Mexico $ 626 29% § 553 26 %
U.S. 354 17 % 361 17 %
China 299 14 % 331 16 %

No other country accounted for more than 10% of property and equipment, net for the fiscal periods presented in the table
above.

22. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

The fourth fiscal quarter and year end on March 31 of each year, which is comprised of 90 days for fiscal years 2022 and
2021, respectively. The following table contains the unaudited fourth quarter financial data for fiscal years 2022 and 2021.
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Three Months Ended

March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
(In millions, except per share amounts)

Net sales $ 6,851 $ 6,266
Gross profit 505 509
Operating income 228 282
Net income 172 240
Net income attributable to Flex Ltd. 168 240
Earnings per share attributable to the shareholders of Flex Ltd.

Basic $ 036 $ 0.48

Diluted $ 036 $ 0.47
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company's management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has
evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) as of March 31, 2022. Based on that evaluation, the
Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of March 31, 2022, the Company's
disclosure controls and procedures were effective in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by the Company in
reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act, is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms and (ii) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief
Executive officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Management’s evaluation excluded an assessment of those disclosure controls and procedures of Anord Mardix that are
subsumed by internal control over financial reporting, described under paragraph (b) below.

(b) Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such
term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Internal control over financial reporting consists of policies and
procedures that: (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2) are designed and operated to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of the Company's financial reporting and the Company's process for the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the
Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. Because of its inherent limitations, a system of internal
control over financial reporting can provide only reasonable assurance and may not prevent or detect misstatements or prevent
or detect instances of fraud. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and
that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls may be circumvented by the individual
acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the control. The projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

On December 1, 2021, the Company acquired Anord Mardix. Management's annual assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2022 excluded the internal control over financial reporting at Anord
Mardix, which constitutes, in the aggregate, less than 1% of the total assets and net sales of the related consolidated financial
statement amounts as of, and for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022.

As of March 31, 2022, under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the Company's Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, an evaluation was conducted of the effectiveness of the Company's internal
control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("COSQO"). Based on that evaluation, management
concluded that the Company's internal control over financial reporting was effective as of March 31, 2022.

(c) Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm

The effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2022 has been audited by
Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears in this Item
under the heading "Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm."

(d) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fourth quarter
ended March 31, 2022 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

We have not experienced any material impact to our internal control over financial reporting despite the fact that most of
our employees are working remotely for their health and safety during the COVID-19 pandemic. We are continually monitoring
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and assessing the potential impact of COVID-19 on our internal controls to minimize the impact on their design and operating
effectiveness.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and the Shareholders of Flex Ltd., Singapore

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Flex Ltd. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of March 31,
2022, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects,

effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2022, based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

As indicated in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, management’s
assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal
controls at Anord Mardix (as defined in Note 19), which is included in the 2022 consolidated financial statements of the
Company and constituted less than 1% of total assets as of March 31, 2022 and less than 1% of net sales for the year then
ended. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company also did not include an evaluation of the internal
control over financial reporting at Anord Mardix.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended March 31, 2022 of the Company and our report
dated May 20, 2022, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s
Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting, may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
San Jose, California
May 20, 2022
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.
ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS
Not applicable.
PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information with respect to this item may be found in the Company's definitive proxy statement to be delivered to
shareholders in connection with the Company's 2022 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. Such information is
incorporated by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information with respect to this item may be found in the Company's definitive proxy statement to be delivered to
shareholders in connection with the Company's 2022 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. Such information is
incorporated by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

Information with respect to this item may be found in the Company's definitive proxy statement to be delivered to
shareholders in connection with the Company's 2022 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. Such information is
incorporated by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information with respect to this item may be found in the Company's definitive proxy statement to be delivered to
shareholders in connection with the Company's 2022 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. Such information is
incorporated by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES (Deloitte & Touche LLP, PCAOB ID: 34)

Information with respect to this item may be found in the Company's definitive proxy statement to be delivered to
shareholders in connection with the Company's 2022 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. Such information is
incorporated by reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) Documents filed as part of this annual report on Form 10-K:
l. Financial Statements. ~ See Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

2. Financial Statement Schedules. "Schedule [I—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts" is included in the financial
statements, see Concentration of Credit Risk in Note 2, "Summary of Accounting Policies" of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

3. Exhibits. Reference is made to Item 15(b) below.

(b) Exhibits. The Exhibit Index, which immediately precedes the signature page to this annual report on Form 10-K, is
incorporated by reference into this annual report on Form 10-K.

(c) Financial Statement Schedules. Reference is made to Item 15(a)(2) above.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None
EXHIBIT INDEX
Incorporated by Reference
Filed
Exhibit No. Exhibit Form File No. Filing Date Exhibit No. Herewith
3.01 Constitution of the Registrant (incorporating all 10-Q  000-23354 10/30/2019 3.01
amendments as at August 20, 2019)
4.01 Indenture, dated as of February 20, 2013, by 8-K  000-23354  2/22/2013 4.1

and between the Registrant, the Guarantors
party thereto and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee, related to the
Registrant's 5.000% Notes due 2023

4.02 Form of 5.000% Note due 2023 (included in 8-K  000-23354  2/22/2013 4.1
Exhibit 4.01)
4.03 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of 10-K  000-23354  5/28/2013 4.11

March 28, 2013, among the Registrant, the
Guarantor party thereto and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee, to the Indenture, dated
as of February 20, 2013, by and between the
Registrant, the Guarantors party thereto and
U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee,
related to the Registrant's 5.000% Notes due
2023

4.04 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of 10-Q  000-23354 10/30/2014 4.01
August 25, 2014, among the Registrant, the
Guarantor party thereto and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee, to the Indenture, dated
as of February 20, 2013, by and between the
Registrant, the Guarantors party thereto and
U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee,
related to the Registrant's 5.000% Notes due
2023

4.05 Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of S-4  333-207067  9/22/2015 4.11
September 11, 2015, among the Registrant, the
Guarantor party thereto and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee, related to the
Registrant’s 5.000% Notes due 2023

4.06 Indenture, dated as of June 8, 2015, by and 8-K  000-23354 6/8/2015 4.1
between the Registrant, the Guarantors party
thereto and U.S. Bank National Association, as
Trustee
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Exhibit

Form

Incorporated by Reference

File No.

Filing Date

Exhibit No.

Filed
Herewith

4.07

4.08

4.09

4.10

4.11

4.12

4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

4.17

4.18

4.19

4.20
10.01

10.02

10.03

10.04

10.05

10.06

Form of 4.750% Note due 2025 (included in
Exhibit 4.06)

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
September 11, 2015, among the Registrant, the
Guarantor party thereto and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee, related to the
Registrant’s 4.750% Notes due 2025

Indenture, dated as of June 6, 2019, by and
between the Company and U.S. Bank National
Association, as trustee

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
June 6, 2019, by and between the Company and
U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee

Form of 4.875% Global Note due 2029
(included in Exhibit 4.10)

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
November 7, 2019, by and between the
Company and U.S. Bank National Association,
as trustee

Form of 4.875% Global Note due 2029
(included in Exhibit 4.12)

Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of May
12, 2020, by and between the Company and
U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee

Form of 3.750% Global Note due 2026
(included in Exhibit 4.14)

Form of 4.875% Global Note due 2030
(included in Exhibit 4.14)

Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
August 17, 2020, by and between the Company
and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee

Form of 3.750% Global Note due 2026
(included in Exhibit 4.17)

Form of 4.875% Global Note due 2030
(included in Exhibit 4.17)

Description of Registrant's Securities

Credit Agreement, dated as of January 7, 2021,
among Flex Ltd. and certain of its subsidiaries,
from time to time party thereto, as borrowers,
Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative
Agent, an L/C Issuer and a Swing Line Lender,
and the other L/C Issuers, Swing Line Lenders
and Lenders party thereto

First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as
of April 12, 2022 among Flex Ltd., the Lenders
party thereto, the L/C Issuers party thereto, the
Swing Line Lenders party thereto, and Bank of
America, N.A., as the Administrative Agent

Form of Indemnification Agreement between
the Registrant and its Directors and certain
officersT

Form of Indemnification Agreement between
Flextronics Corporation and Directors and
certain officers of the Registrant}

Flex Ltd. Amended and Restated 2017 Equity
Incentive Plant

Form of Restricted Share Unit Award
Agreement under the 2017 Equity Incentive
Plan for time-based vesting awards+

8-K

S-4

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K
8-K

8-K

8-K
8-K

10-K
8-K

10-K

10-K

DEF
14A

10-Q

105

000-23354

333-207067

000-23354

000-23354

000-23354

000-23354

000-23354

000-23354

000-23354

000-23354

000-23354

000-23354

000-23354

000-23354
000-23354

000-23354

000-23354

000-23354

000-23354

6/8/2015

9/22/2015

6/6/2019

6/6/2019

6/6/2019

11/7/2019

11/7/2019

5/12/2020

5/12/2020

5/12/2020

8/17/2020

8/17/2020

8/17/2020

5/28/2020
1/13/2021

5/20/2009

5/20/2009

6/26/2020

10/30/2017

4.1

4.04

4.1

4.2

43

43

4.4

4.2

43

44

43

4.4

4.5

4.14
10.01

10.01

10.02

Annex A

10.05
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Incorporated by Reference

Filed

Exhibit No. Exhibit Form File No. Filing Date Exhibit No. Herewith

10.07 Flextronics International USA, Inc. Third 10-Q  000-23354 2/6/2009 10.02
Amended and Restated 2005 Senior
Management Deferred Compensation Plant

10.08 Flextronics International USA, Inc. Third 10-Q  000-23354 2/6/2009 10.01
Amended and Restated Senior Executive
Deferred Compensation Plan{

10.09 Summary of Directors' Compensationt 10-Q  000.23354 10/30/2017 10.02

10.10 Executive Incentive Compensation Recoupment 10-Q  000-23354 8/5/2010 10.06
Policyt

10.11 2010 Flextronics International USA, Inc. 10-Q  000-23354  11/3/2010 10.04
Deferred Compensation Plant

10.12  Form of Award Agreement under 2010 10-Q  000-23354  7/30/2012 10.01
Deferred Compensation Plant

10.13 Form of 2010 Deferred Compensation Plan 10-Q  000-23354 8/2/2013 10.02
Award Agreement (performance targets, cliff
vesting)t

10.14 Form of 2010 Deferred Compensation Plan 10-Q  000-23354 8/2/2013 10.03
Award Agreement (non-performance, periodic
vesting, continuing Participant)t

10.15 Award Agreement under the 2010 Deferred 10-Q  000-23354  7/28/2014 10.01
Compensation Plant

10.16 Form of Restricted Share Unit Award 10-Q  000-23354  7/26/2019 10.02
Agreement under the 2017 Equity Incentive
Plan for performance-based vesting awards (20-
day trading average)f

10.17 Nextracker Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Planf S-8 333-207325  10/7/2015 99.01

10.18 Flex Ltd. Executive Severance Plant 10-K  000-23354  5/21/2019 10.27

10.19 Scott Offer Amended Offer Letter, dated as of 10-K  000-23354  5/28/2020 10.29
January 27, 20197

10.20 Revathi Advaithi Offer Letter, dated February 10-K  000-23354  5/21/2019 10.29
7,20197

10.21 Form of Restricted Share Unit Award 10-Q  000-23354 8/5/2020 10.02
Agreement under the 2017 Equity Incentive
Plan for time-based vesting awards (FY21)¥

10.22 Form of Restricted Share Unit Award 10-Q  000-23354 8/5/2020 10.03
Agreement under the 2017 Equity Incentive
Plan for performance-based vesting awards (20-
day trading average) (FY21)t

10.23 Paul R. Lundstrom Offer Letter, dated 10-Q  000-23354  11/2/2020 10.02
August 5, 2020

10.24 Form of Addendum Award Agreement under 10-Q  000-23354  1/29/2021 10.02
the 2010 Deferred Compensation Plan (FY21)t

10.25 Description of Annual Incentive Bonus Plan for 10-Q  000-23354  7/30/2021 10.01
Fiscal Year 2022}

10.26 Form of Restricted Share Unit Award 10-Q  000-23354  7/30/2021 10.02
Agreement under the Amended and Restated
2017 Equity Incentive Plan for performance-
based vesting awards (FY22)¥

10.27 Summary of Compensation Arrangements of 10-Q  000-23354  7/30/2021 10.03
Certain Executive Officers of Flex Ltd.}

10.28 First Amendment to Flex 2010 Deferred 10-Q  000-23354 10/29/2021 10.01
Compensation Plan, dated December 17, 2018+

10.29 Second Amendment to Flex 2010 Deferred 10-Q  000-23354 10/29/2021 10.02
Compensation Plan, dated August 16, 20197

10.30 Third Amendment to Flex 2010 Deferred 10-Q  000-23354 10/29/2021 10.03

Compensation Plan, dated June 3, 2020+

106



() <@ Contents mp

Incorporated by Reference

Filed
Exhibit No. Exhibit Form File No. Filing Date Exhibit No. Herewith
10.31 Executive Transition Agreement dated X
March 25, 2022 between Flex Ltd. and
Francois Barbierf
21.01 Subsidiaries of Registrant X
23.01 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP X
24.01 Power of Attorney (included on the signature X
page to this Form 10-K)
31.01 Certification of Chief Executive Officer X
pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Exchange Act
31.02 Certification of Chief Financial Officer X
pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Exchange Act
32.01 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and X
Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule
13a-14(b) of the Exchange Act and 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350%*
101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document X
101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Scheme X
Document
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation X
Linkbase Document
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition X
Linkbase Document
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label X
Linkbase Document
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation X
Linkbase Document
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as X

inline XBRL with applicable taxonomy
extension information contained in Exhibits
101)

This exhibit is furnished with this Annual Report on Form 10-K, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, and is not incorporated by reference into any filing of Flex Ltd. under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date hereof and
irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

Management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirement of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused
this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Flex Ltd.

Date: May 20, 2022 By: /s REVATHI ADVAITHI

Revathi Advaithi
Chief Executive Officer

108



() <@ Contents mp

POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints
jointly and severally, Revathi Advaithi and Paul R. Lundstrom and each one of them, her or his attorneys-in-fact, each with the power
of substitution, for her or him in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Report, and to file the same, with

exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and
confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or her or his substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons
on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ REVATHI ADVAITHI and Director May 20, 2022
Revathi Advaithi
/s/ PAUL R. LUNDSTROM Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) May 20, 2022

Paul R. Lundstrom

Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer
/s/ DANIEL J. WENDLER (Principal Accounting Officer) May 20, 2022

Daniel J. Wendler

/s/ MICHAEL D. CAPELLAS Chairman of the Board May 20, 2022
Michael D. Capellas

/s/ JOHN D. HARRIS II Director May 20, 2022
John D. Harris 11

/s/ MICHAEL E. HURLSTON Director May 20, 2022
Michael E. Hurlston

/s/ JENNIFER LI Director May 20, 2022
Jennifer Li

/s/ ERIN L. MCSWEENEY Director May 20, 2022
Erin L. McSweeney

/s/ MARC A. ONETTO Director May 20, 2022
Marc A. Onetto

/s/ WILLY C. SHIH, PH.D. Director May 20, 2022
Willy C. Shih, Ph.D.

/s/ CHARLES K. STEVENS, III Director May 20, 2022
Charles K. Stevens, III

/s LAY KOON TAN Director May 20, 2022
Lay Koon Tan
/s/ PATRICK J. WARD Director May 20, 2022

Patrick J. Ward

/s/ WILLIAM D. WATKINS Director May 20, 2022
William D. Watkins
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